Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

Monday, 11 July 2022
AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
will meet on
Tuesday, 19 July 2022
beginning at
6:15 pm
in the
Rooms 11/12/13 Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

TO:

Councillor Steve Holes (Chair)
Councillor Alex Bourne (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Steve Beer
Councillor Anne Buckley
Councillor Leigh Hadaway
Councillor Wayne Irish

Staff Contacts:

Councillor Adam Manning
Councillor Tanya Park
Councillor Bruce Tennent
Councillor Gin Tidridge

Catherine Collins, Democratic Services Officer,
catherine.collins@eastleigh.gov.uk
Sarah King, Corporate Director, Support Services (CFO), tel 023
8068 8011 Email: sarah.king@eastleigh.gov.uk

JOANNE CASSAR
Executive Head of Governance

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website
as well as in other formats.
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting,
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed. To register please
contact the Democratic Services Officer above.
Please be aware that the filming, audio recording, photography and use of social media is
permitted at meetings open to the public. We ask that you notify the Chair or Support
Officers in advance so that all attendees can be notified, and reasonable facilities can be
provided. More information can be found here.
Please note that Councillors will be using tablet devices to access meeting papers.

1

AGENDA
1.
2.

Apologies
Public Participation
You can submit questions in advance of the meeting to the following email
address: democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is
12pm on Monday 18 July 2022.
Please let us know if you wish to attend the meeting in person so that we can
manage numbers. We are still encouraging all those in attendance to take a
lateral flow test before attending the meeting. PLEASE DO NOT ATTEND IF
YOU HAVE ANY COVID-19 SYMPTOMS.

3.

Declarations of Interest
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the
agenda. Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

4.

Minutes (Pages 5 - 6)
To consider the Minutes of the meetings held on 23 May 2022.

5.

Audit Planning Report 2021 - 2022 (EY) (Pages 7 - 56)

6.

Internal Audit Annual Report & Quarterly Monitoring Statement (Pages 57 - 70)

7.

Annual Governance Statement (Pages 71 - 104)

8.

Body Worn Video Policy (Pages 105 - 164)

9.

Health and Safety (Pages 165 - 178)

10.

Property Portfolio Revenue Update (Pages 179 - 190)

11.

Appointments to Strategic Risk Management Group (SRMG) / Procurement
Executive Group (PEG) / Housing Group
The Committee is invited to consider its appointments to:

2



SRMG;



PEG; and



Housing Board.

12.

Verbal Updates from Members Representing Strategic Risk Management Group
(SRMG) / Procurement Executive Group (PEG) / Housing Group

13.

Action List (Pages 191 - 192)

14.

Cabinet Forward Plan (Pages 193 - 200)

15.

A&R Work Programme (Pages 201 - 202)

16.

Exempt Business
To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government
Act 1972 in respect of the following item of business on the grounds that it is/they
are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph
3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.
The Schedule 12A categories have been amended and are now subject to the
public interest test, in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 2000. This
came into effect on 1 March 2006.
It is considered that the following items are exempt from disclosure and that the
public interest in not disclosing the information outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information.
EXEMPT ITEM(S)

17.

Counter Fraud Report (Pages 203 - 216)

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Tuesday, 6 September 2022 at 6:15 pm
In the
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s
happening in the Borough. Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus
lots more.

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
1
AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
Monday, 23 May 2022 (6:15 pm – 7:50 pm)
PRESENT:
Councillor Holes (Chair); Councillors Bourne, Irish, Manning, Park and
Tidridge
Also in attendance: Councillors Asman, Attrill, Bicknell, Broomfield,
Duguid, Garton, Gomer, Hadaway, Kyrle, Marsh, and Pretty
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Beer
________________________________________
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)
148.

MINUTES
RESOLVED –
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 8 March 2022 be confirmed
and signed by the Chair as a correct record.

149.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on
the agenda.

150.

APPOINTMENTS TO STRATEGIC RISK MANAGEMENT GROUP
(SRMG)
Appointments to Strategic risk Management Group were deferred to the
Audit & Resources meeting which will take place on 19 July 2022.

151.

APPOINTMENTS TO PROCUREMENT EXECUTIVE GROUP (PEG)
Appointments to Procurement Executive Group were deferred to the Audit
& Resources meeting which will take place on 19 July 2022.

152.

APPOINTMENTS TO HOUSING GROUP
Appointments to Housing Working Group were deferred to the Audit &
Resources meeting which will take place on 19 July 2022.

153.

GREEN ENERGY DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS
The Executive Head of Finance & Strategic Housing and the Horton Heath
Project Director presented the report.

5

2

It was agreed that the Executive Head of Finance & Strategic Housing
would circulate the presentation to councillors after the meeting.
RESOLVED:That the Committee noted the report.

6

Eastleigh Borough
Council
Audit planning report
Year ended 31 March 2022
July 2022

Agenda Item 5

7

8
6 July 2022
Audit and Resources Committee
Eastleigh Borough Council
Eastleigh House, Upper Market
Street
Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

Dear Committee Members
Audit planning report
We are pleased to attach our audit planning report for the forthcoming meeting of the Audit and Resources Committee. The purpose of this
report is provide the Committee with a basis to review our proposed audit approach and scope for the 2021/22 audit, in accordance with the
requirements of the auditing standards and other professional requirements, but also to ensure that our audit is aligned with the Committees’
service expectations.
This report summarises our assessment of the key issues which drive the development of an effective audit for Eastleigh Borough Council. We
have aligned our audit approach and scope with these. This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Audit and Resources
Committee and management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.
We welcome the opportunity to discuss this report with you on 19 July 2022 as well as understand whether there are other matters which you
consider may influence our audit.
Yours faithfully

Janet Dawson, Associate Partner
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young

2

Contents
01

Overview of our
2021/22 audit
strategy

for
02 Audit risks 03 Value
Money Risks

04 Audit
materiality

of our
05 Scope
audit

V
F
M

Independence
Appendices
08
06 Audit team 07 Audit
09
timeline

9

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued the “Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies”. It is available from the PSAA website (https://www.psaa.co.uk/auditquality/statement-of-responsibilities/)).The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different
responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas.
The “Terms of Appointment and further guidance (updated April 2018)” issued by the PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National
Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and in legislation, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.
This report is made solely to the Audit and Resources Committee and management of Eastleigh Borough Council in accordance with the statement of responsibilities. Our work has been undertaken so that
we might state to the Audit and Resources Committee, and management of Eastleigh Borough Council those matters we are required to state to them in this report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Audit and Resources Committee and management of Eastleigh Borough Council for this report or for the
opinions we have formed. It should not be provided to any third-party without our prior written consent.
3

10

Overview of our 2021-22
01 audit strategy

01
4

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy
The following ‘dashboard’ summarises the significant accounting and auditing matters outlined in this report. It seeks to provide the Audit and Resources
Committee with an overview of our initial risk identification for the upcoming audit and any changes in risks identified in the current year.
Audit risks and areas of focus
Risk / area of focus

Risk identified

Change from PY

Group Accounts

Significant Risk

No Change

Horton Heath

Significant Risk

No Change

Details
Eastleigh Borough Council has a complex group structure which includes new
group entities this year. Because of this, management are reassessing whether
group accounts are required in 2021/22 and the Council will need to provide us
an updated group boundary assessment. Should group accounts be required we
will need to provide an update to the Audit and Resources Committee as there
are accounting and auditing implications which we will need to consider in our
audit approach.
In 2017/18, the Council acquired land related to this project which it intended to
develop into serviced plots and then sell to developers. The project is significant,
with costs initially estimated to be in the region of £161 million. For 2021/22 we
will continue to consider:
• the appropriateness of additions to the cost of inventory (including borrowing
costs); and
• whether the Council’s approach to estimating the net realisable value of this
inventory is materially correct.
In February 2021 the Council agreed a budget for the construction of the first
residential development, consisting of 393 residential units and associated
infrastructure, referred to as the First Residential Parcel (FRP). The intention is
that the Council will self-deliver the scheme as opposed to dispose of serviced
land to private sector housebuilders. The construction phase will be financed
partly through sales of the developed residential units, and partly through
additional external borrowing. Repayment of the borrowing is intended to be
financed from rental income from residential units the Council intends to retain
rather than sell. Although actual construction work has yet to commence the
Council will still need to assess whether service land plots relating to the first
construction phase for those assets the Council intends to retain on completion
should be transferred from inventory to assets under construction on the
Council’s balance sheet and whether the valuation basis for the land remains
appropriate.

11
5

12

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy

The following ‘dashboard’ summarises the significant accounting and auditing matters outlined in this report. It seeks to provide the Audit and Resources
Committee with an overview of our initial risk identification for the upcoming audit and any changes in risks identified in the current year.
Audit risks and areas of focus
Risk / area of focus

Risk identified

Change from PY

Valuation of operational land and
buildings and investment property

Significant Risk

No Change

Misstatements due to Fraud and
Error

Significant and
Fraud Risk

No Change

Details
Operational Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) Land and Buildings (L&B), and
Investment Properties (IP) represent significant balances in the Council’s
accounts and are subject to valuation changes, impairment reviews and
depreciation charges.
Material judgemental inputs and estimation techniques are required to calculate
the year-end L&B and IP balances held in the balance sheet.
As the Council’s asset base is significant, and the outputs from the valuers are
subject to estimation, there is a higher risk that L&B and IP may be
under/overstated or the associated accounting entries incorrectly posted.
We are required to undertake procedures on the use of experts and assumptions
underlying fair value estimates.
The risk is heightened for traditional retail assets due to market difficulties, which
have been exacerbated by the adverse economic impacts of Covid-19 (C-19),
such as reduced consumer confidence and competition from internet based
retailers with lower cost bases. This has led to a large number of retailers,
including well known names, closing stores, going into administration or
otherwise seeking to reduce their rental costs by renegotiating existing leases,
sometimes by way of a Creditors Voluntary Arrangements. These difficulties have
had a direct impact on the value of the retail units (high street shops, out of town
retail parks and shopping centres) leased to retailers or owned by them.
As identified in ISA 240, management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud
because of its ability to manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly and
prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that would
otherwise appear to be operating effectively. In addition to our overall response,
we consider where these risks may manifest themselves and identify separate
fraud risks as necessary below. We concluded that procedures included under
‘Minimum Revenue Provision’ and ‘Financing revenue transactions from capital
resources’ are required to address separate fraud risks.

6

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy
The following ‘dashboard’ summarises the significant accounting and auditing matters outlined in this report. It seeks to provide the Audit and Resources
Committee with an overview of our initial risk identification for the upcoming audit and any changes in risks identified in the current year.
Audit risks and areas of focus
Risk / area of focus

Risk identified

Change
from PY

Minimum Revenue Provision

Significant and
Fraud Risk

No Change

Financing revenue transactions from
capital resources

Significant and
Fraud Risk

No Change

Valuation of Finance Lease Asset
(Ageas Bowl)

Significant Risk

No Change

Details
Linked to the risk of ‘misstatements due to fraud and error’, we consider specific areas
where management makes significant judgements that impact charges to the General
Fund balance.
Local authorities are required to charge Minimum Revenue Provision to the General Fund
in each financial year. The calculation of this charge is based on the Capital Financing
Requirement. Local authorities have flexibility in how they calculate MRP, but need to
ensure the calculation is ‘prudent’. In calculating a prudent provision, local authorities
are required to have regard to statutory guidance. This statutory guidance was revised
with effect from 1st April 2018 and was recently further clarified.
Linked to the risk of ‘misstatements due to fraud and error’, inappropriate revenue or
expenditure recognition would most likely be affected through the override of controls.
This risk manifests itself in areas where management makes judgements that impact the
General Fund balance through determining whether items of expenditure are financed
from capital or revenue resources.

13

As such we associate this risk with capital additions and Revenue Expenditure Funded
from Capital Under Statute (REFCUS).
The Council owns the Ageas Bowl land and stadium and the Ageas Hilton Hotel and Spa
which it leases to Hampshire Sport & Leisure Holdings Limited under a finance lease. The
value of the lease is accounted for as a long-term finance lease asset on the Council’s
balance sheet. C-19 and associated physical restrictions on movement continued during
2021/22 to have an adverse impact on the level of revenue generated by both the
stadium and hotel, and has therefore impacted the ability of Hampshire Sport & Leisure
Holdings Limited to meet its future financial obligations to the Council under the terms of
the finance lease. In 2019/20 the Council increased the value of its adjustment for
expected credit losses to reduce the carrying value of the finance lease asset by
approximately £3.3 million reflecting the impact of C-19, with this level of impairment
being unchanged in 2020/21. The Council will need to continue to identify, account for
and disclose any further impairment of the carrying value of the finance lease asset
brought about by C-19, considering the impact of the rent deferral arrangement agreed
with Hampshire Sport & Leisure Holdings Limited and the actual performance of the
operator in making rent payments in line with the terms of the agreement.
7

14

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy

The following ‘dashboard’ summarises the significant accounting and auditing matters outlined in this report. It seeks to provide the Audit and Resources
Committee with an overview of our initial risk identification for the upcoming audit and any changes in risks identified in the current year.
Audit risks and areas of focus
Risk
Risk / area of focus
identified

Going Concern

Significant
Risk

Change from
PY

No Change

Details
In 2019/20 we included a material uncertainty paragraph in our audit report highlighting the disclosure
made by the Council in its financial statements on the basis of preparation of the accounts and the impact of
C-19 on Council finance and its ability to continue as a going concern. This was not a modification to the
audit report but reflected that a material uncertainty existed that may cast significant doubt on the Council’s
ability to continue providing the current level of services without an increase in planned income. We issued a
similar, but narrower scope, material uncertainty in 2020/21.
The financial landscape for the Council remains challenging and it will again need to undertake a going
concern assessment covering a period up to 12 months from the expected date of final approval of the
financial statements. It will also need to make an appropriate disclosure in the financial statements. In
addition, the revised auditing standard on going concern requires additional challenge from auditors on the
assertions being made by management.
In September 2020 the Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) announced the intention
to set up a ‘Nitrate trading’ platform. The idea is that housing developers would be able to buy ‘nitrate
credits’ to offset the footprint of new homes in areas particularly vulnerable to nitrate pollution. Developers
will need to make an ‘Appropriate Assessment’ of proposed developments if there is a likelihood to increase
nitrogen loading into protected sites. A nitrogen budget must be calculated and if the site is not nitrate
neutral then nitrate mitigation will be required. If this does not result in neutrality, then planning will be
refused. The Government announced a pilot scheme on the 11th September 2020 to enable development on
the Solent in Hampshire where development was prevented because of nitrate pollution to the Solent strait.

Accounting for Nitrate
Credits

Significant
Risk

New
Significant
Risk

The Council has purchased land with the intention leaving it fallow for a defined period of time, expected to
be between 80 and 125 years, to be able to claim nitrates credits. The nitrate credits can then be traded in
an active open market and can be purchased by developers to offset the adverse nitrate impacts of
development activity. Both the land and credits will therefore need to be valued and disclosed on the
Council’s balance sheet. The land will need to be valued on an appropriate basis as part of Property, Plant
and Equipment, reflecting that it will need to be left fallow for at least 80 years. Given the scheme is new
there is not yet an accepted accounting approach for valuation and disclosure of the credits (assuming the
credits meet the criteria to be recognised as an asset), nor how income should be recognised by the Council
as the credits are sold. We will therefore understand and agree the approach to accounting and disclosure of
this in the 2021/22 financial statements, involving EY financial reporting specialists as necessary to support
our work in this area.
8

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy
The following ‘dashboard’ summarises the significant accounting and auditing matters outlined in this report. It seeks to provide the Audit and Resources
Committee with an overview of our initial risk identification for the upcoming audit and any changes in risks identified in the current year.
Audit risks and areas of focus
Risk / area of focus

Valuation of Financial Assets –
Amortised Cost

Valuation of Financial Assets – Fair
Value through Profit and Loss

Accounting for Covid-19 related
government grants

Valuation of defined benefit pension
scheme

Risk identified

Change from PY

Inherent Risk

No Change

Inherent Risk

Inherent risk

Inherent Risk

No Change

No Change

No Change

Details
Aside from the Ageas finance lease, the Council has one further significant
financial asset which is held at Amortised Cost. This is the loan which was made in
2018/19 to Pembers LLP. As this asset is held at amortised cost, management
are required to assess the future expected credit loss of the asset. The
assessment is underpinned by the risk of default and the underlying value of the
collateral. If either of these moved significantly, management would be required
to impair the financial asset.
The Council has three significant financial assets which are held at Fair Value
through Profit and Loss. These are Stoneham Lane, Woodside Avenue and Hatch
Farm. In each case, the fair value is underpinned by the value of the housing
projects. Material judgemental inputs and estimation techniques are required to
calculate the year-end debtor values which are held in the balance sheet.
The Council has received a significant level of government funding in relation to
Covid-19 and paid Covid-19 grants totalling £8.6 million in 2021/22. There is a
need for the Council to ensure that it has recognised and accounted for these
grants appropriately, taking into account any associated restrictions and
conditions.

15

The Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and IAS19 require the Council
to make extensive disclosures within its financial statements regarding its
membership of the Local Government Pension Scheme administered by
Hampshire County Council.
The Council’s pension liability is a material estimate and is required to be
disclosed on the Council’s balance sheet. At 31 March 2021 this totalled £68.8
million.
The information disclosed is based on the IAS 19 report issued by the Pension
Fund actuary to the Council. Accounting for these schemes involves significant
estimation and judgement and therefore management engages an actuary to
undertake the calculations on its behalf.
We are required to undertake procedures on the use of the use of the actuary as
management’s expert and the assumptions underlying fair value estimates.
9

16

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy

The following ‘dashboard’ summarises the significant accounting and auditing matters outlined in this report. It seeks to provide the Audit and Resources
Committee with an overview of our initial risk identification for the upcoming audit and any changes in risks identified in the current year.
Audit risks and areas of focus
Risk
Risk / area of focus
identified

Change from
PY

Infrastructure Asset
Valuation

New Area of
Focus

Area of Focus

Details
In March 2022, an issue was raised with the National Audit Office’s Local Government technical network
in relation to the accounting for infrastructure assets. Under the CIPFA Code of Local Authority
Accounting, these assets are held at depreciated historic cost. Following more detailed consideration by
auditors this year, it has been identified that although local authorities add expenditure incurred on
replacing or enhancing such assets, most do not appear to be reviewing the Code requirement to
establish whether this spend is a replacement of an asset, or a recognised component, and therefore,
are not derecognising the old asset or component. As a consequence the gross cost and gross
accumulated depreciation is therefore continually increasing, and the balance sheet may be misstated
where the expenditure is a replacement for an asset/component that is not fully depreciated.
CIPFA has established a task and finish group to address this. The group will consider the issues arising
and how it might assist in their resolution. Such assistance may take the form of producing additional
guidance and/or making amendments to the Code of Local Authority Accounting on the matter.
We will engage with management to assess the impact of the issue on the Council’s accounts.

Auditing accounting estimates
International Standard on Auditing (UK) (ISA (UK)) 540, which has recently been revised, deals with the auditor’s responsibilities relating to accounting estimates and
related disclosures in an audit of financial statements. Specifically, it includes detailed requirements and guidance that refer to other relevant ISAs (UK) applied in
relation to accounting estimates and related disclosures. It also includes requirements and guidance on the evaluation of misstatements of accounting estimates and
related disclosures, and indicators of possible management bias. We are required to comply with the requirements of the revised ISA (UK), undertake detailed work to
understand the material estimates used by the Council to prepare its financial statements, and challenge and test the data and assumptions that underpin them. Due
to the specialised nature of some of the estimates made by the Council, for example those relating to PPE and IP valuation and assessment of the IAS 19 pensions
liability, the input of appropriately qualified and experienced specialists is required to support our work. We consider the following as higher risk estimates needed to
prepare the financial statements, and as a consequence will need to undertake detailed procedures as part of our work to gain assurance over the material accuracy of
the estimate made:
Operational PPE L&B valuation and
depreciation

IP valuation

Stoneham, Woodside and Hatch Farm long term debtor
valuation

IAS19 pension liability assessment

Calculation of MRP

Assessment of expected credit loss for Ageas Bowl long term
asset and Pembers loan

Inventory valuation

10

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy
Materiality

Planning
materiality

Materiality has been set at £1,861k which represents 2% of the prior year’s gross expenditure on the provision of services.

£1,861k

Performance
materiality

Performance materiality has been set at £930k, which represents 50% of materiality.

£930k
Audit
differences

£93k

We will report all uncorrected misstatements relating to the primary statements (comprehensive income
and expenditure statement, balance sheet, movement in reserves statement, cash flow statement and
collection fund) greater than £93k. Other misstatements identified will be communicated to the extent
that they merit the attention of the Audit and Resources Committee.

17

Specific materiality
We have, also set specific materiality of £1,000 for officer remuneration, related party transactions,
members’ allowances and exit packages disclosures appearing in the financial statements. This reflects
our understanding that an amount less than our materiality would influence the economic decisions of
users of the financial statements in relation to these areas. This specific materiality is based on 1% of
our audit differences threshold.

11

18

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy
Audit scope

This Audit Plan covers the work that we plan to perform to provide you with:
• Our audit opinion on whether the financial statements of Eastleigh Borough Council give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 31 March 2022 and of
the income and expenditure for the year then ended; and
• Our conclusion on the Council’s arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
We will also review and report to the National Audit Office (NAO), to the extent and in the form required by them, on the Council’s Whole of Government Accounts
return. Our audit will also include the mandatory procedures that we are required to perform in accordance with applicable laws and auditing standards.
When planning the audit we take into account several key inputs:
•
•
•
•
•

Strategic, operational and financial risks relevant to the financial statements;
Developments in financial reporting and auditing standards;
The quality of systems and processes;
Changes in the business and regulatory environment; and,
Management’s views on all of the above.

By considering these inputs, our audit is focused on the areas that matter and our feedback is more likely to be relevant to the Council.
We will provide an update to Audit and Resources Committee Members on the results of our work in these areas in our report to those charged with governance which
we currently expect to issue in December 2022.
Taking the above into account, and as articulated in this audit plan, our professional responsibilities require us to independently assess the risks associated with
providing an audit opinion and undertake appropriate procedures in response to that. Our Terms of Appointment with PSAA allow them to vary the fee dependent on
“the auditors assessment of risk and the work needed to meet their professional responsibilities”. PSAA are aware that the setting of scale fees has not kept pace
with the changing requirements of external audit with increased focus on, for example, the valuations of land and buildings, the auditing of complex investment
assets, the valuation of pension obligations, the introduction of new accounting standards such as IFRS 9 and 15 in recent years. Therefore to the extent any of these
are relevant in the context of the Eastleigh Borough Council audit, we will discuss these with management as to the impact on the scale fee.

12

02 Audit risks

01

19
13

20

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks
We have set out the significant risks (including fraud risks denoted by*) identified for the current year audit along with the rationale and expected audit approach.
The risks identified below may change to reflect any significant findings or subsequent issues we identify during the audit.
Group accounts

What is the risk?
Eastleigh Borough Council has a complex group structure with new group
entities being created and acquired during the year. Because of this,
management is reassessing whether group accounts are required in
2021/22 at the time of writing this Plan.
Should group accounts be required we will need to update the Audit and
Resources Committee with any required changes to our approach.

Financial statement impact
If group activity is qualitatively or
quantitively material in 2021/22,
the Council would need to produce
group accounts which would
include a group balance sheet,
comprehensive income and
expenditure statement and cash
flow statement showing the
consolidated group position.

Management’s updated group boundary assessment will need to include:
• an assessment of the appropriate accounting treatment for each of their
collaborative arrangements, including consideration of type (joint
operation, joint venture, associate or subsidiary);
• consideration of whether or not their interest (either individually or
cumulatively) is qualitatively or quantitatively material; and
• a conclusion as to whether or not consolidation of these arrangements
into their single entity financial statements or group accounts is required.

What will we do?
We will review the Council’s updated assessment of
its group arrangements. Specifically we will:
• review the appropriateness of the Council’s
assessment of their group arrangements against
the requirements of Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting and underlying
accounting standards. We will review any critical
judgements or assumptions made when
determining if single entity or group financial
statements are required. The range of
accounting standards that could apply to
collaborative arrangements is wide and can be
complex; and
• provide the Audit and Resources Committee
with an update to the procedures we will
perform on this risk if group accounts are
required.

14

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued)
We have set out the significant risks (including fraud risks denoted by*) identified for the current year audit along with the rationale and expected audit approach.
The risks identified below may change to reflect any significant findings or subsequent issues we identify during the audit.
Horton Heath

Financial statement impact
If the Horton Heath inventory
balance were overstated it
would result in an
understatement of
expenditure. Relevant
accounts had the following
balances in the 2020/21
financial statements:
Inventory: £126.5m

What is the risk?
The purpose of this project is to ensure delivery of approximately
1800 homes that the commercial sector has not to date delivered.
This is a significant project with costs initially estimated to be in the
region of £161 million. In 2017/18, the Council acquired the land
which it intended to develop into serviced plots and then sell to
developers. The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting
requires Inventory to be held at the lower of cost and net realisable
value (NRV).
In February 2021 the Council agreed a budget for the construction of
the first residential development, consisting of 393 residential units
and associated infrastructure, referred to as the First Residential
Parcel (FRP). The intention is that the Council will self-deliver the
scheme as opposed to dispose of serviced land to private sector
housebuilders. The construction phase will be financed partly through
sales of the developed residential units, and partly through additional
external borrowing. Repayment of the borrowing is intended to be
financed from rental income from residential units the Council
intends to retain rather than sell. Although actual construction work
has yet to commence the Council will still need to assess whether
service land plots relating to the first construction phase for those
assets the Council intends to retain on completion should be
transferred from inventory to assets under construction on the
Council’s balance sheet and whether the valuation basis for the land
remains appropriate.

What will we do?
We will:
• Test a sample of costs (including borrowing costs)
added to inventory to ensure they meet the
definition of inventory in the Code and underlying
accounting standard IAS 2.
• Test the appropriateness of the methodology,
inputs and assumptions made by the Council in
estimating the net realisable value of inventory as
at 31st March 2022. The extent of work we will
need to perform will be determined by the
headroom between cost and NRV coupled with the
sensitivity of the NRV to changes in inputs and
assumptions. The calculation of NRV will be a
complex estimate.
• For serviced plots and buildings which the Council
intends to retain assess whether the classification
and valuation of the assts on the Balance Sheet is
appropriate and in accordance with the Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting. This will be
dependent on whether or not the Council has
entered into a binding commitment to retain the
assets being developed.

21
15

22

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued)
We have set out the significant risks (including fraud risks denoted by*) identified for the current year audit along with the rationale and expected audit approach.
The risks identified below may change to reflect any significant findings or subsequent issues we identify during the audit.
Valuation of operational land
and buildings and investment
property

Financial statement impact
If operational land and buildings or
investment property are
incorrectly valued this would have
the impact of understating
expenditure. Relevant accounts
had the following balances in the
2020/21 financial statements:
Land and buildings: £190.6m
Investment Property: £107.4m

What is the risk?

What will we do?

Operational PPE Land and Buildings (L&B) and
Investment Property (IP) are significant
balances on the Council's Balance Sheet. The
valuation of L&B and IP is complex and subject
to a number of assumptions and judgements.
A small movement in these assumptions can
have a material impact on the financial
statements.

We will:

The risk is heightened for traditional retail
assets due to market difficulties, partly arising
from the advent of C-19, such as reduced
consumer confidence and competition from
internet based retailers with lower cost bases.
This has led to a large number of retailers,
including well known names, closing stores,
going into administration or otherwise seeking
to reduce their rental costs by renegotiating
existing leases, perhaps by way of a Creditors
Voluntary Arrangements. These difficulties
have had a direct impact on the value of the
retail units (high street shops, out of town
retail parks and shopping centres) leased to
retailers or owned by them.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

consider the competence, capability and objectivity of the Council’s
valuers;
consider the scope of valuers’ work;
ensure L&B assets have been revalued within a 5 year rolling programme
as required by the Code;
ensure IP has been annually revalued as required by the Code;
consider if there are any specific changes to assets that should have
been communicated to the valuer(s);
sample test key inputs used by the valuer(s) when producing valuations;
consider the results of the valuers’ work;
challenge the assumptions used by the Council’s valuers by reference to
external evidence and our EY valuation specialists (where necessary);
test journals for the valuation adjustments to confirm that they have
been accurately processed in the financial statements;
test a sample of assets revalued in year to confirm that the valuation
basis is appropriate and the accounting entries are correct;
Review any assets that are not subject to valuation in 2021/22 to
confirm the remaining asset base is not materially misstated (at the time
of writing we expect all relevant assets to be valued in the year); and
ensure the appropriate disclosure has been made in the accounts in
relation to any valuation uncertainty.

16

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued)
We have set out the significant risks (including fraud risks denoted by*) identified for the current year audit along with the rationale and expected audit approach.
The risks identified below may change to reflect any significant findings or subsequent issues we identify during the audit.

Misstatements due to fraud or
error*

What is the risk?
As identified in ISA 240, management is in a
unique position to perpetrate fraud because of
its ability to manipulate accounting records
directly or indirectly and prepare fraudulent
financial statements by overriding controls that
would otherwise appear to be operating
effectively.
We identify and respond to this risk on every
audit engagement.

Financial statement impact
Misstatements that occur in
relation to the risk of fraud due to
management override could affect
a number of areas of the financial
statements.

What will we do?
•

Inquire of management about risks of fraud and the controls put in
place to address those risks.
• Understand the oversight given by those charged with governance of
management’s processes over fraud.
• Consider of the effectiveness of management’s controls designed to
address the risk of fraud.
Perform mandatory procedures regardless of specifically identified fraud
risks, including:
• Testing the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general
ledger and other adjustments made in the preparation of the financial
statements
• Assessing accounting estimates for evidence of management bias, and
• Evaluating the business rationale for significant unusual transactions.
We will utilise our data analytics capabilities to assist with our work.
Having evaluated this risk we have considered whether we need to perform
other specific audit procedures not referred to above. We concluded that
only those procedures included under ‘Minimum Revenue Provision’ and
‘Financing revenue transactions from capital resources’ are required.

23
17

24

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued)
We have set out the significant risks (including fraud risks denoted by*) identified for the current year audit along with the rationale and expected audit
approach. The risks identified below may change to reflect any significant findings or subsequent issues we identify during the audit.

Minimum Revenue Provision*

What is the risk?
As identified in ISA 240, management is in a
unique position to perpetrate fraud because of
its ability to manipulate accounting records
directly or indirectly and prepare fraudulent
financial statements by overriding controls that
would otherwise appear to be operating
effectively.

What will we do?
We will:
• ensure that the calculation of the Capital Financing Requirement is
appropriate and consistent with other notes in the financial
statements; and
• check that MRP has been appropriately calculated using the methods
outlined in the revised statutory guidance.

We identify and respond to this risk on every
audit engagement.
Financial statement impact
If Minimum Revenue Provision
(MRP) were understated it would
have the impact of overstating the
General Fund balance and
understating the capital adjustment
account. Relevant accounts had
the following balances in the
2020/21 financial statements:
MRP: £5.1m
CFR: £523.4m

This risk manifests itself in areas where
management makes significant judgements that
impact charges to the general fund balance.
Local authorities are required to charge MRP to
the General Fund in each financial year. The
calculation of this charge is based on the Capital
Financing Requirement. Local authorities have
flexibility in how they calculate MRP, providing
the calculation is ‘prudent’. In calculating a
prudent provision, local authorities are required
to have regard to statutory guidance which has
recently been clarified.
As such we associate this risk with Minimum
Revenue Provision.

18

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued)
We have set out the significant risks (including fraud risks denoted by*) identified for the current year audit along with the rationale and expected audit approach.
The risks identified below may change to reflect any significant findings or subsequent issues we identify during the audit.

Financing revenue transactions
from capital resources*

Financial statement impact
If revenue transactions were
financed from capital resources,
this would have the impact of
understating revenue expenditure
(causing the general fund to be
overstated) and overstating capital
additions and/or Revenue
Expenditure Funded from Capital
Under Statute (REFCUS) in the
financial statements. Relevant
accounts had the following
balances in the 2020/21 financial
statements:

What is the risk?
Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that
revenue may be misstated due to improper
revenue recognition. In the public sector, this
requirement is modified by Practice Note 10,
issued by the Financial Reporting Council, which
states that auditors should also consider the risk
that material misstatements may occur by the
manipulation of expenditure recognition.
Linked to the risk of ‘misstatements due to fraud
and error’, inappropriate revenue or expenditure
recognition would most likely be affected
through the override of controls.

What will we do?
We will:
• test a sample of capital additions. We will examine invoices, capital
expenditure authorisations and other evidence that supports the
appropriateness of these additions. We will ensure that the items are
capital in nature, and do not include revenue items; and
• test a sample of expenditure classified as REFCUS to ensure that it
meets the definition in the Local Government Act 2003 and related
regulations and directions.
We will utilise our data analytics capabilities to assist with our work
through identifying high risk transactions, such as items originally
recorded as revenue expenditure and subsequently capitalised.

This risk manifests itself in areas where
management makes judgements that impact the
general fund balance through determining
whether items of expenditure are financed from
capital or revenue resources.
As such we associate this risk with capital
additions and Revenue Expenditure Funded from
Capital Under Statute (REFCUS).

PPE additions: £19.8m
REFCUS: £1.8m

25
19

26

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued)
Ageas Bowl – finance
lease asset valuation

Financial statement
impact
At the end of the 2020/21
financial year the Council
carried a finance lease asset
of approximately £42.9
million on its balance sheet.
If not valued correctly this
could have a material
impact on the carrying value
of assets accounted for in
the Council’s financial
statements.

What is the risk?
The Council owns the Ageas Bowl land and stadium and
the Ageas Hilton Hotel and Spa which it leases to
Hampshire Sport & Leisure Holdings Limited under a
finance lease. The value of the lease is accounted for
as a long-term finance lease asset on the Council’s
balance sheet.
C-19 and associated physical restrictions on movement
have continued to have an adverse impact on the level
of revenue generated by both the stadium and hotel,
and has therefore impacted the ability of Hampshire
Sport & Leisure Holdings Limited to meet its future
financial obligations to the Council under the terms of
the finance lease.

What will we do?
We will:
• Review the expected credit loss (ECL) impairment calculations
performed by the Council to determine the level of further impairment
required, if any, to the carrying value of the finance lease asset.
• Challenge the assumptions made by the Council in undertaking the
ECL impairment calculation, including ensuring that a range of
reasonable scenarios and probabilities of occurrence are properly
considered. This will include ensuring that the impact of the rent
deferral arrangement agreed with Hampshire Sport & Leisure
Holdings Limited, and the actual performance of the operator in
making rent payments in line with the terms of the agreement, are
properly considered.

In 2019/20 the Council increased the value of its
adjustment for expected credit losses to reduce the
carrying value of the finance lease asset by
approximately £3.3 million reflecting the impact of C19, with this level of impairment being unchanged in
2020/21. The Council will need to continue to
correctly identify, account for and disclose any further
impairment of the carrying value of the finance lease
asset brought about by C-19, considering the impact of
the rent deferral arrangement agreed with Hampshire
Sport & Leisure Holdings Limited and the actual
performance of the operator in making rent payments
in line with the terms of the agreement.

20

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued)
Assessment and
disclosures on Going
Concern

Financial statement
impact
We consider the risk applies
to the work done by the
Council to gain comfort it
remains appropriate to
prepare the financial
statements on a going
concern basis.
It is also important that this
assessment is fully reflected
in the financial statements
including the disclosure of
any remaining areas of
material uncertainty and
relevant events that have
occurred after the balance
sheet date.

What is the risk?

What will we do?

Covid-19 has created a number of financial pressures
throughout local government, creating financial stress in
either, or a combination of, increasing service demand leading
to increased expenditure in specific services, and reductions in
income sources. This is particularly relevant to the Council due
to its relatively large level of reliance on commercial income. In
2019/20 we included a material uncertainty paragraph in our
audit report highlighting the disclosure made by the Council in
its financial statements on the basis of preparation of the
accounts and the impact of C-19 on Council finance and its
ability to continue as a going concern. This was not a
modification to the audit report but reflected that a material
uncertainty existed that may cast significant doubt on the
Authority’s ability to continue providing the current level of
services without an increase in planned income. We issued a
similar, but narrower scope, material uncertainty in 2020/21.

We will meet the requirements of the revised auditing standard on
going concern (ISA 570) and consider the adequacy of the Council’s
going concern assessment and its disclosure in the accounts by:

There remains a presumption that the Council will continue as a
going concern for the foreseeable future. However, the Council
is required to carry our a going concern assessment that is
proportionate to the significant risks it faces. In light of the
continued impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s day to day
finances, its annual budget, its cashflow and its medium term
financial strategy, there is a need for the Council to ensure its
going concern assessment is thorough and appropriately
comprehensive. The auditor’s report in respect of going
concern covers a 12-month period from the date of the audit
report, therefore the Council’s assessment will also need to
cover this period. The Council is then required to ensure that its
going concern disclosure within the statement of accounts
adequately reflects its going concern assessment and in
particular highlights any uncertainties it has identified.

• Undertaking a ‘stand back’ review to consider all of the evidence
obtained, whether corroborative or contradictory, when we draw
our conclusions on going concern.

• Challenging management’s identification of events or conditions
impacting going concern.
• Testing management’s resulting assessment of going concern by
evaluating supporting evidence (including consideration of the
risk of management bias). This will need to consider major
developments in the year, for example the movement of the
Horton Heath development into the construction phase, and their
impact on the Council’s medium term financial plans and
finances.
• Reviewing the Council’s cashflow forecast covering the
foreseeable future, to ensure that it has sufficient liquidity to
continue to operate as a going concern.

• Challenging the disclosure made in the accounts in respect of
going concern and any material uncertainties.

27
21

28

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued)
Accounting for Nitrate
Credits

Financial statement
impact
Given this is a new area the
approach to accounting and
disclosure in the financial
statements for nitrate
credits held by the Council is
not yet clear.
The Council will therefore
need to produce an
accounting assessment to
support the treatment
adopted in its financial
statements which we will
consider as part of our
work.

What is the risk?
In September 2020 the Department for Environment Food & Rural
Affairs (DEFRA) announced the intention to set up a ‘Nitrate trading’
platform. The idea is that housing developers would be able to buy
‘nitrate credits’ to offset the footprint of new homes in areas
particularly vulnerable to nitrate pollution. Credits could involve
funding the creation of habitat like wetlands, meadows and
woodland. Developers will need an ‘Appropriate Assessment’ of the
development proposal if there is a likelihood to increase nitrogen
loading into protected sites. A nitrogen budget must be calculated
and if the site is not nitrate neutral then nitrate mitigation will be
required. If this does not result in neutrality, then planning will be
refused. The Government announced a pilot scheme in September
2020 to enable development on the Solent in Hampshire where
development was prevented because of nitrate pollution to the
Solent strait.
The Council has purchased land with the intention of leaving it fallow
for a defined period of time, expected to be between 80 and 125
years, to be able to claim nitrates credits. The nitrate credits can
then be traded in an active open market and can be purchased by
developers to offset the adverse nitrate impacts of development
activity. Both the land and credits will therefore need to be
accounted for on the Council’s balance sheet. The land will need to
be valued on an appropriate basis as part of Property, Plant and
Equipment, reflecting that it will need to be left fallow for at least 80
years. Given the scheme is new there is not yet an accepted
accounting approach for valuation and disclosure of the credits if the
credits meet the criteria to be recognised as an asset, and then how
income should be recognised by the Council as the credits are sold.
We will therefore need to understand and agree the approach to
accounting and disclosure of this in the 2021/22 financial
statements, involving EY financial reporting specialists as necessary
to support our work in this area.

What will we do?
We will:
• Ensure that the land now associated with the scheme is
valued correctly and on an appropriate basis in the
financial statements considering that the land will now
need to be kept fallow by the Council for a period of at
least 80 years.
• Review and challenge the Council’s accounting and
disclosure assessment as part of our work. This will need
to consider both whether the nitrate credits held by the
Council should be carried as an asset on its balance sheet
and how revenue is recognised in the financial statements
as the credits are sold.
Given this is a new area where arrangements for accounting
and disclosure are not yet clear we are likely to need to
involve an EY financial reporting specialist to support our
work.

22

Audit risks

Other areas of audit focus
We have identified other areas of the audit, that have not been classified as significant risks, but are still important when considering the risks of material
misstatement to the financial statements and disclosures and therefore may be matters that we report on.
What is the risk/area of focus?

What will we do?

Valuation of Financial Assets – Amortised Cost

We will:
• Review the underlying performance of the company holding the assets;
• Assess the risk of default both in likelihood and impact and review any changes
since the prior year; and
• Review the value of the underlying asset on vacant possession to assess whether
there is any significant movement since the prior year in the value of the collateral.

Aside from the Ageas finance lease, the Council has one further significant
financial asset which is held at Amortised Cost. This is the loan which was
made in 2018/19 to Pembers LLP. As this asset is held at amortised cost,
management are required to assess the future expected credit loss of the
asset. The assessment is underpinned by the risk of default and the
underlying value of the collateral. If either of these moved significantly,
management would be required to impair the financial asset.
Valuation of Financial Assets – Fair Value through Profit and Loss
The Council has four significant financial assets which are held at Fair Value
through Profit and Loss. These are Stoneham Lane, Woodside Avenue, and
Hatch Farm. In each case, the fair value is underpinned by the value of the
housing projects. Material judgemental inputs and estimation techniques are
required to calculate the year-end debtor values which are held in the
balance sheet.

We will:
• Test a sample of the assets included within the debtor valuation and review these
in comparison to local market data.

Accounting for Covid-19 related grant funding

We will consider the Council’s judgement on material grants received in relation to
whether it is acting as:

The Council has continued to receive a significant level of government
funding in relation to Covid-19 and paid Covid-19 grants totalling £8.6
million in 2021/22. Whilst there is no change in the CIPFA Code or
accounting standard (IFRS 15) in respect of accounting for grant funding,
the emergency nature of some of the grants received and in some cases the
lack of clarity on any associated restrictions and conditions, means that the
Council will need to continue to apply a greater degree of assessment and
judgement to determine the appropriate accounting treatment in the
2021/22 statements.

• An Agent, where it has determined that it is acting as an intermediary; or
• A Principal, where the Council has determined that it is acting on its own behalf.
We will ask the finance team to provide its assessment of grant accounting well before
it prepares the statements so that we can provide an early view on its proposed
accounting treatment.

29
23

30

Audit risks

Other areas of audit focus (continued)
We have identified other areas of the audit, that have not been classified as significant risks, but are still important when considering the risks of material
misstatement to the financial statements and disclosures and therefore may be matters that we report on.
What is the risk/area of focus?

What will we do?

Valuation of defined benefit pension scheme
The Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and IAS19 require
the Council to make extensive disclosures within its financial
statements regarding its membership of the Local Government
Pension Scheme administered by Hampshire County Council.
The Council’s pension liability is a material estimated balance and is
required to be disclosed on the Council’s balance sheet. At 31 March
2021 this totalled £68.8 million.
The information disclosed is based on the IAS 19 report issued by
the Pension Fund actuary to the Council. Accounting for these
schemes involves significant estimation and judgement and
therefore management engages an actuary to undertake the
calculations on its behalf.
We are required to undertake procedures on the use of the use of
the actuary as management’s expert and the assumptions underlying
fair value estimates.

We will:
• liaise with the auditors of Hampshire Pension Fund, to obtain assurances over the
information supplied to the actuary in relation to the Council’s scheme members;
• assess the work of the LGPS Pension Fund actuary (Aon Hewitt) including the assumptions
they have used by relying on the work of PWC - Consulting Actuaries commissioned by the
National Audit Office for all Local Government sector auditors, and considering any
relevant reviews by the EY actuarial team;
• review Hampshire Pension Fund’s financial statements and compare the year end asset
value with the estimate used by the actuary when producing the Council’s IAS 19 report;
and
• review and test the accounting entries and disclosures made within the Council’s financial
statements in relation to IAS19.

Infrastructure asset valuation
In March 2022, an issue was raised with the National Audit Office’s
Local Government technical network in relation to the accounting for
infrastructure assets. Under the CIPFA Code of Local Authority
Accounting, these assets are held at depreciated historic cost.
Following more detailed consideration by auditors this year, it has
been identified that while local authorities add expenditure incurred
on replacing or enhancing such assets, most do not appear to be
reviewing the Code requirement to establish whether this spend is on
a replacement of an asset, or a recognised component, and
therefore, are not derecognising the old asset or component. As a
consequence the gross cost and gross accumulated depreciation is
continually increasing, and the balance sheet may therefore be
misstated where the expenditure is a replacement for an
asset/component that is not fully depreciated.

CIPFA has established a task and finish group to further consider this issue. The group will
consider the issues arising and how it might assist in their resolution. Such assistance may
take the form of producing additional guidance and/or making amendments to the Code of
Local Authority Accounting on the matter.
We will engage with management to assess the impact of the issue on the Council’s accounts,
also considering any additional guidance or changes to the Code of Local Authority
Accounting following completion of the review by the CIPFA task and finish group.

24

03 Value for Money Risks

01
V
F
M

31
25

32
V
F
M

Value for money

The Council’s responsibilities for value for money
The Council is required to maintain an effective system of internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives while
safeguarding and securing value for money from the public funds and other resources at its disposal.
As part of the material published with its financial statements, the Council is required to bring together commentary on its governance framework and
how this has operated during the period in a governance statement. In preparing its governance statement, the Council tailors the content to reflect its
own individual circumstances, consistent with the requirements of the relevant accounting and reporting framework and having regard to any guidance
issued in support of that framework. This includes a requirement to provide commentary on its arrangements for securing value for money from their use
of resources.

Auditor responsibilities under the new Code
Under the 2020 Code we are still required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper
arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use of resources. However,
there are no longer overall evaluation criteria on which we need to conclude. Instead the 2020 Code
requires the auditor to design their work to provide them with sufficient assurance to enable them to
report to the Council a commentary against specified reporting criteria (see below) on the
arrangements the Council has in place to secure value for money through economic, efficient and
effective use of its resources for the relevant period.

Financial
Sustainability

The specified reporting criteria are:

Arrangements for
Securing value for
money

• Financial sustainability
How the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to deliver its services;
• Governance
How the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks; and

Governance

Improving
Economy,
Efficiency &
effectiveness

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness:
How the Council uses information about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages
and delivers its services.

26

Value for money

V
F
M

Planning and identifying VFM risks
The NAO’s guidance notes require us to carry out a risk assessment which gathers sufficient evidence to enable us to document our evaluation of the
Council’s arrangements, in order to enable us to draft a commentary under the three reporting criteria. This includes identifying and reporting on any
significant weaknesses in those arrangements and making appropriate recommendations. This is a change to 2015 Code guidance notes where the NAO
required auditors as part of planning, to consider the risk of reaching an incorrect conclusion in relation to the overall criterion.
In considering the Council’s arrangements, we are required to consider:
• The Council’s governance statement
• Evidence that the Council’s arrangements were in place during the reporting period;
• Evidence obtained from our work on the accounts;
• The work of inspectorates and other bodies and
• Any other evidence source that we regard as necessary to facilitate the performance of our statutory duties.
We then consider whether there is evidence to suggest that there are significant weaknesses in arrangements. The NAO’s guidance is clear that the
assessment of what constitutes a significant weakness and the amount of additional audit work required to adequately respond to the risk of a significant
weakness in arrangements is a matter of professional judgement. However, the NAO states that a weakness may be said to be significant if it:
• Exposes – or could reasonably be expected to expose – the Council to significant financial loss or risk;
• Leads to – or could reasonably be expected to lead to – significant impact on the quality or effectiveness of service or on the Council’s reputation;
• Leads to – or could reasonably be expected to lead to – unlawful actions; or
• Identifies a failure to take action to address a previously identified significant weakness, such as failure to implement or achieve planned progress on
action/improvement plans.
We should also be informed by a consideration of:
• The magnitude of the issue in relation to the size of the Council;
• Financial consequences in comparison to, for example, levels of income or expenditure, levels of reserves, or impact on budgets or cashflow forecasts;
• The impact of the weakness on the Council’s reported performance;
• Whether the issue has been identified by the Council’s own internal arrangements and what corrective action has been taken or planned;
• Whether any legal judgements have been made including judicial review;
• Whether there has been any intervention by a regulator or Secretary of State;
• Whether the weakness could be considered significant when assessed against the nature, visibility or sensitivity of the issue;
• The impact on delivery of services to local taxpayers; and
• The length of time the Council has had to respond to the issue.

33
27

34
V
F
M

Value for money

Responding to identified risks
Where our planning work has identified a risk of significant weakness, the NAO’s guidance requires us to consider what additional evidence is needed to
determine whether there is a significant weakness in arrangements and undertake additional procedures as necessary, including where appropriate,
challenge of management’s assumptions. We are required to report our planned procedures to the audit committee.
Reporting on VFM
In addition to the commentary on arrangements, where we are not satisfied that the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources the 2020 Code has the same requirement as the 2015 Code in that we should refer to this by
exception in the audit report on the financial statements.
However, a new requirement under the 2020 Code is for us to include the commentary on arrangements in a new Auditor’s Annual Report. The 2020
Code states that the commentary should be clear, readily understandable and highlight any issues we wish to draw to the Council’s attention or the wider
public. This should include details of any recommendations arising from the audit and follow-up of recommendations issued previously, along with our
view as to whether they have been implemented satisfactorily.
Status of our 2021/22 VFM planning
We have yet to fully complete our detailed VFM planning. However, based our planning work undertaken to date we consider the following issues relevant to our work in
2021/22:
• The Council intends to enter into further borrowing to fund the delivery phase the One Horton Heath development. We will consider both the extent to which this was
actually entered into during 2021/22 and then how forecast further borrowing has been factored into the Council’s medium term financial planning arrangements
going forward.
• Interest rates are currently increasing and are forecast to increase further in 2022/23 and 2023/24. The cost of existing short-term borrowing held by the Council
that will need to be re-financed is therefore likely to further increase. This should again be factored into the Council’s medium term financial plans, including any
planned use of the interest equalization reserve that has been created by the Council to offset the impact of interest rate rises.
• Given the likely continued increases in interest rates the Council will need to consider whether and when it is likely to become financially advantageous to convert its
short-term borrowing to long term. We will consider the arrangements developed by the Council to assess if and when it is best to do this.
Given the very high level of borrowing already held by the Council we consider it likely this suggests a risk of significant weaknesses in arrangements relevant to the
‘financial sustainability’ VFM criteria, and the ‘How the body ensures that it identifies all the significant financial pressures that are relevant to its short and medium-term
plans and builds these into them’ sub-criteria. We will confirm our final assessment of risk to the Audit and Resources Committee in due course. As part of our work in
this area we will also follow-up on progress made against the recommendations for improvement raised as part of our VFM narrative commentary reported as part of our
2020/21 Auditor’s Annual Report, which were fully accepted by management. We are aware that the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC)
has announced new measures to address risk in local government from borrowing and investment practices, and has been in touch with Eastleigh and ourselves to
understand and consider the risk associated with the financial position at the Council. We will consider any view expressed by the DLUHC team as part of our work.
28

04 Audit materiality

01

35
29

36

Audit materiality

Materiality
Key definitions

Materiality
For planning purposes, materiality for 2021/22 has been set at £1,861k. This
represents 2% of the Council’s prior year gross expenditure on provision of services. It
will be reassessed throughout the audit process.

Planning materiality – the amount over which we anticipate misstatements
would influence the economic decisions of a user of the financial
statements.
Performance materiality – the amount we use to determine the extent of
our audit procedures. We have set performance materiality at £930k which
represents 50% of planning materiality.
Audit difference threshold – we propose that misstatements identified
below this threshold are deemed clearly trivial. We will report to you all
uncorrected misstatements over this amount relating to the comprehensive
income and expenditure statement, balance sheet and collection fund that
have an effect on income or that relate to other comprehensive income.

Gross expenditure
on provision of services

Performance
materiality

£93,033k

£930k
Planning
materiality

Audit
differences

£1,861k

£93k

Other uncorrected misstatements, such as reclassifications and
misstatements in the cashflow statement and movement in reserves
statement or disclosures, and corrected misstatements will be
communicated to the extent that they merit the attention of the audit and
resources committee, or are important from a qualitative perspective.
Specific materiality – We have, also set specific materiality of £1,000 for
officer remuneration, related party transactions, members’ allowances and
exit packages disclosures appearing in the financial statements. This
reflects our understanding that an amount less than our materiality would
influence the economic decisions of users of the financial statements in
relation to these areas. This specific materiality is based on 1% of our audit
differences threshold.

We request that the Audit and Resources Committee confirm its understanding of, and
agreement to, these materiality and reporting levels.

30

05 Scope of our audit

01

37
31

38

Scope of our audit

Our Audit Process and Strategy
Objective and Scope of our Audit scoping
Under the Code of Audit Practice our principal objectives are to review and report on the Council’s financial statements and arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources to the extent required by the relevant legislation and the requirements of the Code.
We issue an audit report that covers:
1. Financial statement audit
Our objective is to form an opinion on the financial statements under International Standards on Auditing (UK).
We also perform other procedures as required by auditing, ethical and independence standards, the Code and other regulations. We outline below the procedures we
will undertake during the course of our audit.
Procedures required by standards
• Addressing the risk of fraud and error;
• Significant disclosures included in the financial statements;
• Entity-wide controls;
• Reading other information contained in the financial statements and reporting whether it is inconsistent with our understanding and the financial statements; and
• Auditor independence.
Procedures required by the Code
• Reviewing, and reporting on as appropriate, other information published with the financial statements, including the Annual Governance Statement; and
• Reviewing and reporting on the Whole of Government Accounts return, in line with the instructions issued by the NAO
2. Arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness (value for money)
We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use of resources.

32

Scope of our audit

Our Audit Process and Strategy (continued)
Audit Process Overview
Our audit involves:
• Identifying and understanding the key processes and internal controls; and
• Substantive tests of detail of transactions and amounts.
For 2021/22 we plan to follow a substantive approach to the audit as we have concluded this is the most efficient way to obtain the level of audit assurance required
to conclude that the financial statements are not materially misstated.
Analytics:
We will use our computer-based analytics tools to enable us to capture whole populations of your financial data, in particular journal entries. These tools:
• Help identify specific exceptions and anomalies which can then be subject to more traditional substantive audit tests; and
• Give greater likelihood of identifying errors than random sampling techniques.
We will report the findings from our process and analytics work, including any significant weaknesses or inefficiencies identified and recommendations for
improvement, to management and the Audit and Resources Committee.
Internal audit:
We review internal audit plans and the results of internal audit work. We use this to inform our ongoing assessment of risks likely to impact our responsibilities.

39
33

40

06 Audit team

01
34

Audit team

Audit team
Audit team structure:

Janet Dawson
Lead Audit Partner

Simon Mathers
Senior Manager

Albina Nayga
Senior

EY Real Estates

PWC (consulting
actuary) and EY
Actuaries

EY Financial
Reporting Group

41
35

42

Audit team

Use of specialists
•

Our approach to the involvement of specialists, and the use of their work.

When auditing key judgements, we are often required to rely on the input and advice provided by specialists who have qualifications and expertise not possessed by the
core audit team. The areas where either EY or third party specialists provide input for the current year audit are:

Area

Specialists

Valuation of Land and Buildings

EY Real Estates Team

Pensions disclosure

PWC (consulting actuary) and EY Actuaries

Accounting for nitrate credits

EY Financial Reporting Group

In accordance with Auditing Standards, we will evaluate each specialist’s professional competence and objectivity, considering their qualifications, experience and
available resources, together with the independence of the individuals performing the work.
We also consider the work performed by the specialist in light of our knowledge of the Council’s business and processes and our assessment of audit risk in the particular
area. For example, we would typically perform the following procedures:
•

Analyse source data and make inquiries as to the procedures used by the specialist to establish whether the source data is relevant and reliable;

•

Assess the reasonableness of the assumptions and methods used;

•

Consider the appropriateness of the timing of when the specialist carried out the work; and

•

Assess whether the substance of the specialist’s findings are properly reflected in the financial statements.

36

07 Audit timeline

01

43
37

44

Audit timeline

Timetable of communication and deliverables
Timeline
Below is a timetable showing the key stages of the audit and the deliverables we have agreed to provide to you through the audit cycle in 2021/22. The final timetable
will depend on our ability to obtain sufficient, appropriate audit evidence to support our audit opinion.
From time to time matters may arise that require immediate communication with the Audit and Resources Committee and we will discuss them with the Committee
Chairs as appropriate. We will also provide updates on corporate governance and regulatory matters as necessary.
Audit phase
Planning:

Timetable

Committee Meeting timetable

April

Deliverables
Audit Planning Report Drafted

Risk assessment and setting of scopes
Walkthrough of key systems and
processes

Year end audit

July

Audit and Resources Committee

Audit Planning Report to be presented to the 19 July
meeting of the Audit and Resources Committee.

October to December

Audit and Resources Committee

Delivery of the year-end audit and Audit Planning
Update (if required)

December

Audit and Resources Committee

Audit Results Report
Audit opinions and completion certificates

Audit Completion procedures

December

Audit and Resources Committee

Auditor’s Annual Report which will include
commentary on key reporting themes for the Council.

38

08 Independence

01

45
39

46

Introduction

The FRC Ethical Standard and ISA (UK) 260 “Communication of audit matters with those charged with governance”, requires us to communicate with you on a timely basis
on all significant facts and matters that bear upon our integrity, objectivity and independence. The Ethical Standard, as revised in December 2019, requires that we
communicate formally both at the planning stage and at the conclusion of the audit, as well as during the course of the audit if appropriate. The aim of these
communications is to ensure full and fair disclosure by us to those charged with your governance on matters in which you have an interest.
Required communications
Planning stage
►

►

►
►

The principal threats, if any, to objectivity and
independence identified by Ernst & Young (EY)
including consideration of all relationships between
you, your affiliates and directors and us;
The safeguards adopted and the reasons why they
are considered to be effective, including any
Engagement Quality review;
The overall assessment of threats and safeguards;
Information about the general policies and process
within EY to maintain objectivity and independence.

Final stage
►

►
►

►

►

►

►

In order for you to assess the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm and each covered person,
we are required to provide a written disclosure of relationships (including the provision of non-audit
services) that may bear on our integrity, objectivity and independence. This is required to have regard to
relationships with the entity, its directors and senior management, its affiliates, and its connected parties
and the threats to integrity or objectivity, including those that could compromise independence that these
create. We are also required to disclose any safeguards that we have put in place and why they address
such threats, together with any other information necessary to enable our objectivity and independence to
be assessed;
Details of non-audit/additional services provided and the fees charged in relation thereto;
Written confirmation that the firm and each covered person is independent and, if applicable, that any
non-EY firms used in the group audit or external experts used have confirmed their independence to us;
Details of any non-audit/additional services to a UK PIE audit client where there are differences of
professional opinion concerning the engagement between the Ethics Partner and Engagement Partner and
where the final conclusion differs from the professional opinion of the Ethics Partner
Details of any inconsistencies between FRC Ethical Standard and your policy for the supply of non-audit
services by EY and any apparent breach of that policy;
Details of all breaches of the IESBA Code of Ethics, the FRC Ethical Standard and professional standards,
and of any safeguards applied and actions taken by EY to address any threats to independence; and
An opportunity to discuss auditor independence issues.

In addition, during the course of the audit, we are required to communicate with you whenever any significant judgements are made about threats to objectivity and
independence and the appropriateness of safeguards put in place, for example, when accepting an engagement to provide non-audit services.
We ensure that the total amount of fees that EY and our network firms have charged to you and your affiliates for the provision of services during the reporting period,
analysed in appropriate categories, are disclosed.

40

Independence

Relationships, services and related threats and safeguards
We highlight the following significant facts and matters that may be reasonably considered to bear upon our objectivity and independence, including the principal threats,
if any. We have adopted the safeguards noted below to mitigate these threats along with the reasons why they are considered to be effective. However we will only
perform non–audit services if the service has been pre-approved in accordance with your policy.
Overall Assessment
Overall, we consider that the safeguards that have been adopted appropriately mitigate the principal threats identified and we therefore confirm that EY is independent
and the objectivity and independence of Helen Thompson, your audit engagement partner, and the audit engagement team have not been compromised.
Self interest threats
A self interest threat arises when EY has financial or other interests in the Council. Examples include where we receive significant fees in respect of non-audit services;
where we need to recover long outstanding fees; or where we enter into a business relationship with you. At the time of writing, there are no long outstanding fees.
We believe that it is appropriate for us to undertake permissible non-audit services and we will comply with the policies that you have approved.
None of the services are prohibited under the FRC's ES or the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 and the services have been approved in accordance with
your policy on pre-approval. The ratio of non audit fees to audits fees is not permitted to exceed 70%.
At the time of writing, there are no non-audit fees associated with Eastleigh Borough. No additional safeguards are required.
A self interest threat may also arise if members of our audit engagement team have objectives or are rewarded in relation to sales of non-audit services to you. We
confirm that no member of our audit engagement team, including those from other service lines, has objectives or is rewarded in relation to sales to you, in compliance
with Ethical Standard part 4.
There are no other self interest threats at the date of this report.
Self review threats
Self review threats arise when the results of a non-audit service performed by EY or others within the EY network are reflected in the amounts included or disclosed in
the financial statements.
There are no self review threats at the date of this report.
Management threats
Partners and employees of EY are prohibited from taking decisions on behalf of management of the Council. Management threats may also arise during the provision of
a non-audit service in relation to which management is required to make judgements or decision based on that work.
There are no management threats at the date of this report.

47
41

48

Independence

Relationships, services and related threats and safeguards
Other threats
Other threats, such as advocacy, familiarity or intimidation, may arise.
There are no other threats at the date of this report.

Other communications
EY Transparency Report 2021
Ernst & Young (EY) has policies and procedures that instil professional values as part of firm culture and ensure that the highest standards of objectivity, independence
and integrity are maintained.
Details of the key policies and processes in place within EY for maintaining objectivity and independence can be found in our annual Transparency Report which the firm
is required to publish by law. The most recent version of this Report is for the year ended 1 July 2021 and can be found here:
EY UK 2021 Transparency Report | EY UK

42

09 Appendices

01

49
43

50

Appendix A – Audit Fees

Services provided by Ernst & Young
Table below includes a summary of the proposed fees for the year ended 31 March 2022 in line with the disclosures set out in FRC Ethical Standard and in statute. Full
details of the services that we have provided are shown below.
We confirm that we have not undertaken any non-audit work.
Planned Fee 2021/22

Final Fee 2020/21

Final Fee 2019/20

£

£

£

43,977

39,328

39,328

N/A

N/A

72,776

49,000

95,636

N/A

2021/22 scale fee variation not yet quantified (see Note 3)

TBC

N/A

N/A

Total Fees

TBC

134,964

112,104

Scale Fee – Code work
Final 2019/20 scale fee variation as determined by PSAA (See Note 1)
Proposed 2020/21 scale fee variation yet to be determined by PSAA (see Note 2)

Note 1 - Given the number of significant risks and areas of audit focus that we highlighted in our audit plan as areas of additional work required to meet our responsibilities, and in
order to meet regulatory and compliance audit requirements not present in the market at the time of our most recent bid to PSAA, we provided an estimate of the additional recurrent
fee that will be incurred in 2019/20 and in future years of £79,000. We also estimated an additional non-recurrent fee of £31,000 relating to the specific audit risks of the Council in
2019/20. These additional recurrent fees were fully agreed by the Council, but PSAA ultimately determined that an additional 2019/20 fee of £72,776 should be paid by the Council
on a non-recurrent basis.
Note 2 - Our proposed 2020/21 scale fee variation of £120,901 has been determined at £95,636 by PSAA.
Note 3 – We have yet to quantify our proposed scale fee variation for 2021/22. We will report our proposed 2021/22 scale fee variation to management the Audit and Resources
Committee in due course.

44

Appendix B

Required communications with the Audit and Resources Committee
We have detailed the communications that we must provide to the Audit and Resources Committee.

Our Reporting to you

Required communications

When and where

Terms of engagement

Our responsibilities

What is reported?

Confirmation by the Audit and Resources Committee of acceptance of terms of engagement The statement of responsibilities serves as the
as written in the engagement letter signed by both parties.
formal terms of engagement between the
PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies.
Reminder of our responsibilities as set out in the engagement letter
The statement of responsibilities serves as the
formal terms of engagement between the
PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies.

Planning and audit
approach

Communication of the planned scope and timing of the audit, any limitations and the
Audit Planning Report, July 2022 meeting of
significant risks identified.
the Audit and Resources Committee.
When communicating key audit matters this includes the most significant risks of material
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) including those that have the greatest effect on
the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of
the engagement team

Significant findings from
the audit

•
•
•
•
•
•

Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including
accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures
Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit
Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management
Written representations that we are seeking
Expected modifications to the audit report
Other matters if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process

Audit Results Report, December 2022 meeting
of the Audit and Resources Committee.

51
45

52

Appendix B

Required communications with the Audit and Resources Committee
(continued)
Our Reporting to you
Required communications

What is reported?

When and where

Going concern

Events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, including:
• Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty
• Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation and
presentation of the financial statements
• The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements

Audit Results Report, December 2022 meeting
of the Audit and Resources Committee.

Misstatements

•

Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion, unless prohibited by
law or regulation
The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods
A request that any uncorrected misstatement be corrected
Corrected misstatements that are significant
Material misstatements corrected by management

Audit Results Report, December 2022 meeting
of the Audit and Resources Committee.

Enquiries of the Audit and Resources Committee to determine whether they have
knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the entity
Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates that a
fraud may exist
A discussion of any other matters related to fraud

Audit Results Report, December 2022 meeting
of the Audit and Resources Committee.

•
•
•
•
Fraud

•
•
•

Related parties

Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the entity’s related parties
including, when applicable:
• Non-disclosure by management
• Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions
• Disagreement over disclosures
• Non-compliance with laws and regulations
• Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the entity

Audit Results Report, December 2022 meeting
of the Audit and Resources Committee.

46

Appendix B

Required communications with the Audit and Resources Committee
(continued)
Our Reporting to you

Required communications
Independence

What is reported?
•
•
•
•
•
•

External confirmations

•
•

Consideration of laws and
regulations

•

•

Internal controls

•

Representations

•

Communication of all significant facts and matters that bear on EY’s, and all individuals
involved in the audit, objectivity and independence
Communication of key elements of the audit engagement partner’s consideration of
independence and objectivity such as:
The principal threats
Safeguards adopted and their effectiveness
An overall assessment of threats and safeguards
Information about the general policies and process within the firm to maintain objectivity
and independence
Management’s refusal for us to request confirmations
Inability to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures

When and where
Audit Planning Report, July 2022 meeting of
the Audit and Resources Committee.
Audit Results Report, December 2022 meeting
of the Audit and Resources Committee.

Audit Results Report, December 2022 meeting
of the Audit and Resources Committee.

Audit Results Report, December 2022 meeting
Audit findings regarding non-compliance where the non-compliance is material and
believed to be intentional. This communication is subject to compliance with legislation of the Audit and Resources Committee.
on tipping off
Enquiry of the Audit and Resources Committee into possible instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements and
that the Committee may be aware of
Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit
Audit Results Report, December 2022 meeting
of the Audit and Resources Committee.
Written representations we are requesting from management and/or those charged with Audit Results Report, December 2022 meeting
governance
of the Audit and Resources Committee.

53
47

54

Appendix B

Required communications with the Audit and Resources Committee
(continued)
Our Reporting to you

Required communications

What is reported?

When and where

Material inconsistencies
and misstatements

•

Material inconsistencies or misstatements of fact identified in other information which
management has refused to revise

Audit Results Report, December 2022 meeting
of the Audit and Resources Committee.

Auditors report and VFM
commentary

•
•
•

Key audit matters that we will include in our auditor’s report
Any circumstances identified that affect the form and content of our auditor’s report
Our commentary on VFM arrangements in place at the Council

Audit Results Report, December 2022 meeting
of the Audit and Resources Committee.

48

Appendix C

Additional audit information
Other required procedures during the course of the audit
In addition to the key areas of audit focus outlined in section 2, we have to perform other procedures as required by auditing, ethical and independence standards and
other regulations. We outline the procedures below that we will undertake during the course of our audit.
Our responsibilities required
by auditing standards

•

•
•
•
•
•

•

Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control.
Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management.
Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting.
Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Council to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. Reading other information contained in the financial
statements, including the board’s statement that the annual report is fair, balanced and understandable, the Audit and Resources
Committee reporting appropriately addresses matters communicated by us to the Committee and reporting whether it is materially
inconsistent with our understanding and the financial statements; and
Maintaining auditor independence.

55
49

56

Appendix C

Additional audit information (continued)
Purpose and evaluation of materiality
For the purposes of determining whether the accounts are free from material error, we define materiality as the magnitude of an omission or misstatement that,
individually or in the aggregate, in light of the surrounding circumstances, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial
statements. Our evaluation of it requires professional judgement and necessarily takes into account qualitative as well as quantitative considerations implicit in the
definition. We would be happy to discuss with you your expectations regarding our detection of misstatements in the financial statements.
Materiality determines:
• The locations at which we conduct audit procedures to support the opinion given on the financial statements; and
• The level of work performed on individual account balances and financial statement disclosures.
The amount we consider material at the end of the audit may differ from our initial determination. At this stage, however, it is not feasible to anticipate all of the
circumstances that may ultimately influence our judgement about materiality. At the end of the audit we will form our final opinion by reference to all matters that could
be significant to users of the accounts, including the total effect of the audit misstatements we identify, and our evaluation of materiality at that date.

50

Agenda Item 6
AUDIT & RESOURCES COMMITTEE
Tuesday 19 July 2022
ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT 2021/22;
MONITORING REPORT FOR THE PERIOD
1 JANUARY 2022 TO 31 MARCH 2022
Report of the Chief Internal Auditor (Acting)

Recommendation
It is recommended that consideration is given to:
(1) the Chief Internal Auditor (Acting)’s Annual Opinion for 2021/22; and
(2) the performance of the Internal Audit Section against planned outturn for
quarter 4 of 2021/22.

Summary


The Chief Internal Auditor (Acting) is satisfied that sufficient assurance work
has been carried out to allow the formation of a reasonable conclusion on
the adequacy and effectiveness of Eastleigh Borough Council’s internal
control environment.



On the basis of the reviews and testing that the Internal Audit Section has
undertaken during 2021/22, the Chief Internal Auditor (Acting) can confirm
that the Council’s framework of governance, risk management and control is
adequate in most areas. However, during the year audit testing found that
not all controls were operating in practice. This was highlighted within the
appropriate audit report and recommendations made. Of the 17 audit
assignments completed or commenced during the year 2021/22, to date
limited assurance has been given for four of the audit reviews. It should be
noted that eight audit reviews are currently at draft stage and a further three
audit reviews remain in progress. Those reviews currently at draft stage
have been taken into consideration when forming the opinion. A further
update will be provided as part of the Chief Internal Auditor (Acting)’s next
quarterly monitoring report and, if necessary, a revised Annual Opinion
2021/22.



Performance against the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2021/22 and Quarter

57

4 is reported in Appendix 1.


Progress made on the implementation of Internal Audit recommendations is
detailed in Appendix 2.

Statutory Powers
S.151 Local Government Act 1972
Account & Audit Regulations 2015
Coronavirus Act 2020

Strategic Implications
1.

The Internal Audit Team provides independent assurance that the Council’s risk
management, governance and control processes are efficient, compliant, work
effectively and support the ambitions of the Council. Internal Audit helps the Council
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate
and improve the effectiveness of governance, risk management and control
processes.

Introduction

58

2.

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (the Regulations) detail the requirement
for an internal audit function. It states that a relevant body must ‘undertake an
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control
and governance processes in accordance with the proper practices in relation to
internal control’. The standards for ‘proper practices’ for internal audit are laid down in
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards).

3.

The Council is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk
management processes, control systems, accounting records and governance
arrangements. Internal Audit plays a vital role in advising and giving independent
assurance to the Council that arrangements are in place to mitigate risk and these
arrangements are operating effectively.

4.

The Council’s response to internal audit activity should lead to the strengthening of
the control environment and, therefore, contribute to the achievement of the Council’s
objectives. Action taken to appropriately mitigate and address potential risks
highlighted through audit reviews is the responsibility of system owners (operational
and functional managers). Internal Audit can provide support and advice on the
adequacy of mitigating action but to ensure they remain objective and independent
cannot be responsible for the design or delivery of systems and processes.

5.

The Internal Audit Charter defines the internal audit activity’s purpose, authority and
responsibility in line with the Standards. The Charter states that the Chief Internal
Auditor (Acting) shall deliver an Annual Internal Audit Opinion, a report that can be
used by the organisation to inform its Annual Governance Statement.

6.

This report provides the Annual Internal Audit Opinion on the effectiveness of the
Council’s system of internal control, governance and risk management arrangements
for 2021/22.

7.

The Chief Internal Auditor (Acting) also provides regular updates to this Committee
through a quarterly monitoring report on the performance against the Annual Internal
Audit Plan. This report provides an update on the actual performance against the
Plan for quarter 4 of 2021/22.

Internal Audit Approach
8.

Internal Audit provides a combination of assurance and consulting activities.
Assurance work involves assessing how well the systems and processes are
designed and working, with consulting activities available to help to improve those
systems and processes where necessary.

9.

A full range of internal audit services are provided in order to form the annual opinion:









Risk-based auditing – compliance and assurance reviews
IT audit reviews
Fraud and Irregularity reviews
System Development reviews
Contract Management and Final Account Reviews
Consultancy
Value for money reviews
Governance support

10. A three-year Strategic Internal Audit Plan is produced annually which is informed by
Internal Audit’s own assessment of risk and materiality in addition to consultation with
management to ensure it is aligned to key risks facing the organisation and strategic
priorities. From this an Annual Plan is developed which directs the work of the team.
The Annual Internal Audit Plan is approved by this Committee in March each year.
11. The objectives and scope of each assurance review are subject to risk assessment
and agreement with the client. Each of these reviews will result in an Audit Report
and Opinion. The report will provide assurance and/or highlight weaknesses,
enhancements or improvements in control or areas of non-compliance with
prescribed controls and make recommendations for improvements. These
recommendations are then agreed with the client and an action plan is completed by
the client to identify the action to be taken, by whom and when. The Internal Audit
Team will follow up the agreed recommendations to ensure action has been taken.
Where action is not agreed and the risk is still considered key by the Chief Internal
Auditor (Acting), the situation will be reported to the Executive Team and if
necessary, the Chair of the Audit and Resources Committee.
12. The Chief Internal Auditor (Acting) provides this Committee with an update on the
implementation of Internal Audit recommendations quarterly.

Internal Audit Performance 2021/22
13. The Audit and Resources Committee approved the Annual Internal Audit Plan for
2021/22 on 9 March 2021. Performance against the Annual Internal Audit Plan for
the first, second and third quarters of the year was reported to this Committee on 7
September 2021, 23 November 2021 and 8 February 2022.
14. Resources in 2021/22 comprised a Chief Internal Auditor (Acting), a full-time Internal
Auditor and an Internal Audit Apprentice (fixed term contract to September 2024). An

59

additional 60 days were procured through an arrangement with an experienced
Internal Auditor.
15. Resources were also used to carry out and support a number of investigations
through the year. Where necessary, the Committee were updated on these
throughout the year in the regular monitoring statements and Chair’s briefings.
16. The Chief Internal Auditor (Acting) is also a member of the Procurement Executive
Group, the Data Security Board, the Organisational Development Review Group, and
the Strategic Risk Management Group.

Internal Audit Opinion 2021/22
17. The following opinion is based on the audit activity undertaken during 2021/22. The
Chief Internal Auditor (Acting) is satisfied that sufficient assurance work has been
carried out to allow the formation of a reasonable conclusion on the adequacy and
effectiveness of Eastleigh Borough Council’s internal control environment.
18. On the basis of the reviews and testing that the section has undertaken during
2021/22, the Chief Internal Auditor (Acting) can confirm that the Council’s framework
of governance, risk management and control is adequate in most areas. On
occasions, audit testing found that not all controls are operating in practice. This has
been highlighted within the appropriate audit report and recommendations made as
appropriate. Findings from these reviews have been provided to this Committee as
part of the quarterly monitoring reports on 7 September 2021 (quarter 1), 23
November 2021 (quarter 2) and 8 February 2022 (quarter 3). A summary of reviews
completed in quarter 4 is contained within this report in paragraph 28.
19. It is necessary to report that during the year significant risks around the lack of full
and complete reconciliations for the following areas were identified, which have been
highlighted and reported in previous audit reviews as a significant risk that is currently
accepted and are still to be addressed:


Bank Reconciliation - the bank reconciliation still has an immaterial
unreconciled balance. The Executive Head of Finance & Housing
Programme has advised he is comfortable with this balance based on the
level of risk it represents; however, work continues to resolve the processing
issues within the system which are causing the small imbalance.



Accounting for Fixed Assets – currently there is no reconciliation of the CLP
(Computerised Land and Property system) with the Financial Asset Register.
The Executive Head of Finance & Housing Programme is comfortable that
the two systems are not currently directly reconciled as there are numerous
processes within the accounting policies and systems which ensure the
Fixed Asset Registers are complete. The values are also checked by the
Asset Management Team and external audit annually.

20. A total of 140 recommendations across 17 audit assignments completed during
2021/22 were made analysed and compared to 2020/21 and 2019/20 as follows:

60

Number of Recommendations
Priority

19/20 (20 reviews)

20/21 (12 reviews)

21/22 (17 reviews)

Grade 1
(critical risk)

3

0

0

Grade 2
(high risk)

32

15

23

Grade 3
(medium risk)

121

52

87

Grade 4
(low risk)

45

19

30

Total

201

86

140

*3 reviews from 2021/22 to be completed during quarter 1 of 2022/23. An update of this table will
be provided as part of the Quarter 1 monitoring report in September 2022.

21. A summary of the level of assurance and details of the implementation of
recommendations graded 1 (critical risk) or 2 (high risk) in respect of 2021/22 audit
reviews can be found in Appendix 2.
Limited assurance for the system of control was given in respect of 2 of the 17 audit
assignments completed in 2021/22:
Limited assurance *:


Bank Reconciliation



Construction and Maintenance
* a summary of the audit opinion for these two reviews can be found in paragraph 33 A
further three audits currently at draft have been given limited assurance; these will be
finalised and reported as part of the Quarter 1 monitoring report in September.

22. In giving the annual audit opinion, assurance can never be absolute and therefore
only reasonable assurance can be provided that there are no major weaknesses in
the processes reviewed. In assessing the level of assurance to be given, the Chief
Internal Auditor (Acting) has based the opinion on:






Written reports on all internal audit work completed during the course of the
year
Irregularity reviews
Results of any follow-up reviews undertaken in respect of previous years’
work
Key risks identified during the year
Available audit resources during the period.

Quarter 4 2021/22
23. As anticipated when planning for any response to a business continuity incident, the
role of Internal Audit is always expected to be one of oversight and provision of
advice on risk management, control and governance arrangements. The impact of

61

the Covid-19 pandemic proved to be no exception and during quarter 4 the Internal
Audit Team continued to support the response through completing post assurance
payment reviews.
24. The unprecedented situation has justifiably led to delays in completion of the 2021/22
planned audit reviews. Time to continue providing support specific to the Covid-19
situation has been included in the Internal Audit Plan 2022/23, which was approved
by this Committee on 9 March 2022.
25. Appendix 1 shows an analysis of planned days against actual days for quarter 4.
26. The variances detailed in Appendix 1 have been unavoidable and essential and
arose primarily from:


The pausing and postponement of some planned audit reviews.



Additional time spent working remotely and safely.



The Audit Team supporting each other’s well-being during exceptional times
through additional team meetings and contact time.



Supporting the Council with post-payment checking of the Business Support
Grants.

27. The support the Internal Audit team has provided for the response to Covid-19 has
equated to approximately 20 days in quarter 4.
28. The Internal Audit Team completed the following reviews during quarter 4:

29.

62



Information Legislation (Adequate) (Recommendations 5 x priority 3, 1 x
priority 4) Recommendations have been made for the Data Security Board to
document and agree terms of reference, for the review and updating of the
current Record of Processing Activity and Data Breach policy and associated
documents and that a log of Data Sharing Agreements is established and
maintained. The review identified improvements that could be made to
GDPR and Cyber Security training arrangements.



Bank Reconciliation Interim FUR (Final) (Control Assessment: Adequate,
Compliance Assessment: Limited) (Recommendations: 1 x Priority 2, 1 x
Priority 4) The follow up review has taken into consideration the Draft
Auditor’s Annual Report Year ended 31 March 2021, by Ernst & Young,
presented to Audit & Resources Committee on 11th January 2022 which has
provided some control assurance with regards to the Council’s financial
statements. The priority 2 recommendation relates to the bank reconciliation
still having an unreconciled balance. The Executive Head of Finance and
Housing Programme has advised he is comfortable with this balance based
on the minimal level of risk it represents, however work remains ongoing to
resolve the processing issues within the system which are causing in the
small imbalance.

Seven of the audits are at draft and will be subject to comment at a later monitoring
report.








30.

The following consultancy reviews, which provide guidance and advice and suggest
action points were completed during quarter 4.


31.

Cash Collection & Banking
Housing Benefits & Council Tax Support
Local Taxation (Council Tax & NNDR).
Case Management
Developers Contributions/CIL
Planning Fees FUR
Payroll (20/21)

Pensions

The following audits continue into 2022/23: and will be subject to comment in the
next monitoring report:




Accounting System
Housing Developments – One Horton Heath FUR
Accounts Receivable

Audit Recommendations
32.

Appendix 2 provides details of the internal audits completed during 2021/22 along
with the level of assurance given and summary of number of recommendations
made. As agreed, any 1 (critical risk) or 2 (high risk) graded recommendations are
reported to this Committee and regular updates are provided detailing the progress
of the implementation of recommendations.

33.

At the time of writing this report there is one priority 2 recommendation outstanding
from the reviews completed in 2021/22 (Bank Reconciliation FUR as reported at
paragraph 28 above); any priority 1 or 2 recommendations on reports at draft will be
reported to this committee on a future monitoring report. One priority 2 (high risk)
recommendation remains outstanding from 2020/21 and one priority 2 (high risk)
recommendation from 2019/20. The Chief Internal Auditor (Acting) is currently
satisfied that appropriate action is being taken to address the outstanding
recommendations and considers that there are no matters that require escalation or
further input from this Committee.

34.

The following two priority 2 recommendations remain outstanding from 2020/21 &
2019/20:

2020/21 Audit Reviews (1 high risk recommendation):


Building Control Partnership – (1 recommendation) The review concluded
that there was an adequate framework of control in place, but there is limited
compliance with this framework of control. Although a Partnership
Agreement between Eastleigh Borough Council and Southampton City
Council is in place, the signing of a Deed of Variation to this agreement was

63

placed on hold pending a complete review of the Partnership Agreement. As
such, compliance to these ‘control’ documents is weak. Current Building
Control processes and procedures between the councils are not wholly
reflected in the Partnership Agreement. As a result, 9 recommendations
were made, one of these was assessed as priority 2 (high risk) regarding the
need to draft a new Building Control agreement immediately that reflects
current practice, processes and procedures. Discussion between parties
have taken place and the final draft of the Partnership Agreement is in
circulation and is expected to be completed in July.
2019/20 Audit Reviews (1 high risk recommendation):


35.

Accounting for Fixed Assets (Land and Property) (1 recommendation) this
recommendation is to reconcile the Computerised Land and Property System
(CLP) with the Finance Asset Register as part of the development of a new
Asset Management System. This has been delayed due to the new system
not yet having been implemented; however, work is progressing to ensure
data management is optimal for the reconciliation of both systems annually.
The Executive Head of Finance & Housing Programme is comfortable that
the two systems are not currently reconciled as there as processes within the
accounting policies which ensures the Fixed Asset Registers are complete
and the values are also checked by external audit annually.

Progress of the implementation of these recommendations is closely monitored by
the Chief Internal Auditor (Acting). Officers responsible for the implementation of
the recommendations provide explanations of why full implementation is not
currently possible and on occasions request extension to the implementation dates.
Where the explanation appears unreasonable, the matter is escalated to the
Corporate Leadership Board.

Counter Fraud

64

36.

The Chief Internal Auditor (Acting), as a separate agenda item, will present the third
Counter Fraud Report to the Committee which reviews how the Internal Audit Team
promoted an anti-fraud culture during 2021/22 This supports the requirements of the
Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2015 which states that the Council must
have measures in place ‘to enable the prevention and detection of inaccuracies and
fraud’.

37.

In October 2014 the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG)
published the Local Government Transparency Code 2014 (this has since been
superseded by the Local Government Transparency Code 2015). The Code has
been issued to meet the Government’s desire to place more power into citizens’
hands to increase democratic accountability. Under this Code it is a legal
requirement for local authorities to publish specified data. Specific fraud data for
2021/22 was published on the Council’s website in June 2022
(https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/general-public-information/transparencycode/fraud).

Compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 2013
(revised 2017)
38.

During quarter 4 an independent external assessment of compliance with the
Standards was carried out by Business Risk Solutions. The Chief Internal Auditor
(Acting) is pleased to inform this committee that Internal Audit have successfully
attained the following Opinion of the external Assessor:
Opinion: Eastleigh Borough Council internal audit service is delivering to a standard
that generally conforms with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standard.

39.

A full report will be presented to this Committee at the next meeting.

Financial Implications
40.

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. By the nature of
the work of Internal Audit, recommendations made will highlight potential areas for
efficiency which can lead to savings.

Risk Assessment
41.

Under the Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015, at least annually a review of the
effectiveness of the Council’s systems of internal control must be conducted. This
report meets those requirements.

Equality and Diversity Implications
42.

The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report and an Equality Impact
Assessment has not been carried out.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
43.

There are no proposals within this report to assess with regard to climate change
and environmental implications. However, some recommendations for example
those made by Internal Audit arising from the audit review of Climate Change and
Environmental Emergency Strategy, may have direct or indirect result on benefits
and improvements to activity surrounding climate change and environmental
implications.

Conclusions
44.

The Chief Internal Auditor (Acting) can confirm that the Council’s overall internal
control framework is adequate, and the controls tested are working effectively, with
the exception of some controls which have been subject to separate comment
through quarterly monitoring reports. The implementation of audit recommendations
will continue to be closely monitored to ensure appropriate action has been taken to
address weaknesses in governance, risk management or control arrangements.

45.

On the basis of the reviews and testing that the Internal Audit Section has
undertaken during 2021/22, the Chief Internal Auditor (Acting) can confirm that the
Council’s framework of governance, risk management and control is adequate in
most areas.

46.

Three audit reviews from the 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan are still in progress and
the outcome of these reviews will be included in the Chief Internal Auditor (Acting)’s

65

next quarterly monitoring report. If necessary, a revised Annual Opinion for 2021/22
will also be provided.
LISA SMY
CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITOR (ACTING)
DATE:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:
*Report No

07 JULY 2022
Lisa Smy
023 8068 8229
lisa.smy@eastleigh.gov.uk
Two
Internal Audit Annual Report 2021/22 & Qtr 4 Monitoring

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this report or
an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in the
preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works or documents
which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 2013 (revised 2017)
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework 2016

66

APPENDIX 1
Internal Audit Monitoring Statement - Quarter 4 2021/22
2021/22 Total
Plan Days*
Direct time (attributable to a specific audit review)
Major Systems
Corporate Governance
Corporate Support
Corporate Systems
Finance & Housing Programme
Assets & Project Delivery
Governance
Customer Care
Organisational Development
Strategic Development
Environment
Health & Wellbeing
Planning & Economy
Neighbourhood Services
Contract Audit
Members Scrutiny
Consultancy/Improvement (VFM)
Investigations
Prior Year Audit Completion
Help & Advice
Covid-19 - Response and Support
Total direct days
Indirect time (not attributable to a specific audit review)
Annual Leave/Sick leave/Other leave
Training/Management/Development/Admin
Total in-direct days
Grand Total
* as approved by Audit & Resources Committee 9th March 2021

Q4 Planned days

Q4 Actual Days

Variance

130
26
109
10
20
20
35
15
30
10
10
8
15
30
6
10
20
20
20
20
20
584

60.00
6.00
16.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
2.50
8.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
19.50
0.00
0.00
0.00
2.00
3.00
0.00
20.25
0.00
137.25

53.25
6.50
4.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
2.75
8.25
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
29.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
2.50
0.00
5.00
20.00
131.25

-6.75
0.50
-12.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.25
0.25
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
9.50
0.00
0.00
0.00
-2.00
-0.50
0.00
-15.25
20.00
-6.00

243
827

17.00
57.50
74.50
211.75

18.50
63.50
82.00
213.25

1.50
6.00
7.50
1.50

67

This page is intentionally left blank

No. of Grade 1 or 2
recommendations
outstanding/in progress

Total No. of recommendations
(graded 1-4)
No. of Grade 1
recommendations - immediate
action *
No. of Grade 1
recommendations fully
implemented
No. of Grade 2
recommendations - action
within 1 month **
No. of Grade 2
recommendations fully
implemented

Testing Assessment

Adequate Adequate

Date of Response

H
Final Report Issued
In progress In Progress

Evaluation Assessment

Audit status

Date of Final Report

H
H

Audit Risk Index (post-audit
review) High (H), Medium (M),
Low (L)

Audit Title
2021/22 Internal Audit Reviews:
Accounting for Fixed Assets
Accounting System

Audit Risk Index (pre-audit
review) High (H), Medium (M),
Low (L)

APPENDIX 2

11.10.21

18.10.21

9

0

-

0

-

0

Cash Collection & Banking
Fleet Management

H
H

n/a
H

At draft
Final Report Issued

Adequate Adequate
Adequate Adequate 02.12.2021

23.11.21

6
9

0
0

-

0
0

-

0
0

Strategic Planning

H

H

Final Report Issued

Adequate Adequate 12.11.2021

12.10.21

8

0

-

0

-

0

Construction & Maintenance

M

M

Final Report Issued

18.10.21

15

0

-

1

1

0

Housing Benefits & Council Tax Support
Local Taxation (Council Tax and NNDR)
Case Management
Developers Contributions/CIL
Bank Reconciliation Interim FUR

H
H
H
H
H

H
H
H
H
H

At draft
At draft
At draft
At draft
Final Report Issued

Adequate Limited
Limited
Limited
Adequate Adequate
Adequate Adequate
Limited Adequate 21.02.2022 14.02.2022

14
32
6
9
2

0
0
0
0
0

-

4
11
0
0
1

-

4
11
0
0
1

Information Legislation

H

H

Final Report Issued

Adequate Adequate 11.02.2022 03.02.2022

6

0

-

0

-

0

0

0

-

0

-

0

2
118

0
0

0

1
18

1

1
17

5
15
2
22

0
0
0
0

0

1
2
2
5

0
2
0
2

1
0
2
3

7
7
147

0
0
0

0
0

1
1
24

0
0
3

1
1
21

One Horton Heath FUR
H
In progress In Progress
Corporate Governance
H
H
Completed
Accounts Receivable
H
In progress In Progress
Planning Fees FUR
H
H
At draft
Total 2021/22
2020/21 Internal Audit Reviews:
Building Control Partnership
M
M
Final Report Issued
Commercial Rents FUR
H
H
Final Report Issued
Payroll
H
H
At draft
Total 2020/21
2019/20 Internal Audit Reviews with outstanding recommendations
Accounting for Fixed Assets - Land & Property
H
H
Final report issued
Total 2019/20
Total (overall)

Limited

Limited

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Adequate
n/a
Limited

Limited
n/a
Limited

Limited

Limited

23.11.2021

n/a

n/a

18.06.2021 01.06.2021
18.06.2021 18.06.2021

02.06.20

27.07.20

69

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
19 July 2022
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2021-22
Report of the Executive Head of Governance (Monitoring Officer)

Recommendations
It is recommended that:
(1) the Annual Governance Statement 2021/22 be approved, and;
(2) The Code of Corporate Governance 2022/23 be adopted.

Summary
The Council is required to produce an Annual Governance Statement (AGS). This
document has been reviewed and updated and now requires approval by the Audit and
Resources Committee.
Statutory Powers
S151 Local Government Act 1972
Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015

Strategic Implications
1.

The publication of the Annual Governance Statement (AGS), whilst not having
a direct impact in respect of the achievement of Corporate Plan objectives,
ensures the Council is being open and transparent in the way in which it
conducts itself and its affairs and has adopted an effective system of internal
control.

Introduction
2.

Part 2, Regulation 6 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires the
Council to conduct a review at least once a year of the effectiveness of its
system of internal control and to publish an AGS.

3.

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
Delivering Good Governance Framework was first published in 2007 and

71

updated in 2012 and 2016. The framework defines the principles that should
underpin the governance of each local government organisation by providing
a structure to help individual authorities with their approach to governance.
4.

The AGS 2021/22 reflects the example published in the addendum to the
Delivering Good Governance Framework 2016 and can be found in Appendix
1. Under CIPFA guidance, the Council is also required to adopt a Code of
Corporate Governance (2022/23), which looks ahead to the Council’s
governance priorities and effectiveness for the coming year. This document
can be found in Appendix 2.

5.

In addition, the Council is required to prepare an Annual Statement of
Accounts in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Local Authority
Accounting. The Statement of Accounts for 2021/22 is currently being
prepared and will be presented to this Committee at a later meeting. The
Committee is asked to approve the AGS 2021/22 and adopt the Code of
Corporate Governance 2022/23.

Financial Implications
6.

There are no direct financial implications of producing the AGS. The Council’s
external auditors audit and report on the content of the statement.

Risk Assessment
7.

The preparation and publication of an AGS in accordance with the Framework
fulfils the statutory requirement in England for a local authority to conduct a
review at least once in each financial year of the effectiveness of its system of
internal control and to include a statement reporting on the review.

8.

The preparation of the accounts is completed in accordance with the CIPFA
Code of Practice and review by external auditors (EY) to ensure that
standards are adequately met.

Equality and Diversity Implications
9.

The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because


10.

It is a report dealing with internal or procedural matters only.

Therefore, it is considered that for this decision the equality duty does not
need to be addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment has not been
carried out.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
11.

72

The AGS and Statement of Accounts do not have any implications for the
environment or climate change.

Eastleigh Borough Council

Conclusion
12.

To achieve effective governance, each local authority should be able to
demonstrate that its governance structures comply with the core and sub
principles contained within the Delivering Good Governance in Local
Government Framework 2016. It should develop and maintain a local Code of
Governance and should test its governance structure and partnerships
against the framework’s principles.

13.

The AGS explains how Eastleigh Borough Council has also met the
requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.

14.

The AGS 2021/22 and the Code of Corporate Governance 2022/23 are
appended to this report and the Committee is asked to approve the AGS
2021/22 and adopt the Code of Corporate Governance 2022/23.

JOANNE CASSAR
EXECUTIVE HEAD OF GOVERNANCE (MONITORING OFFICER)
Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

28 June 2022
Joanne Cassar
02380 688015
joanne.cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk
2

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
Background Papers: None.

Eastleigh Borough Council

73

This page is intentionally left blank

Annual
Governance
Statement
2021-2022

75

Scope of Responsibility
We are responsible for ensuring that our business is conducted in accordance with
the law and that proper standards and public money are upheld and safeguarded and
accountability properly demonstrated. We have a duty under the Local Government
Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvements in the way in
which our functions are exercised, whilst having regard to a combination of economy,
efficiency, and effectiveness.
We are responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for the governance of
our affairs and facilitating effective exercise of our functions (which includes
arrangements for the management of risk).
Regulation 6 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires the Council to
conduct a review at least once a year of the effectiveness of its system of internal
control and to publish an Annual Governance Statement (AGS). This report therefore
serves as a review of the year from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022. The country was
still facing restrictions at the start of 2021/22 as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. As
the year progressed, restrictions were lifted and services that had been paused
restarted. The Council has continued to respond to the pandemic through supporting
residents, the community and local businesses. This is reflected in this Annual
Governance Statement 2021/22.
We have prepared this AGS to comply with the requirements of the Accounts and
Audit regulations 2015, and in accordance with the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework
‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’ (2016) and its seven principles.
In line with the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework this statement is ‘an open and
honest self-assessment’ of the Council’s performance for 2021/22.
The purpose of the Governance Framework
The Governance Framework comprises the systems, policies, processes, culture and
values by which we direct and control, and the activities through which we are
accountable to, and engage with, the community. It enables the Council to monitor
the achievement of its strategic objectives and consider whether those objectives
have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services.
Our system of internal control is a significant part of the framework and is designed to
manage risk to a reasonable level. However, it cannot eliminate all risk of failure to
achieve policies, aims and objectives, and can therefore only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
The Council has a Code of Corporate Governance that sets out the governance
arrangements at the Council. This is reviewed an updated annually.

76

2

Assurance Opinion
Internal Audit is responsible for objectively assessing the adequacy of governance
and the management of risk and providing an objective and evidenced based opinion
on governance, risk management and internal control. A risk assessment
methodology is used to formulate a three-year internal audit plan which details all the
auditable areas across the Council. Using the risk assessment, the Chief Internal
Auditor (Acting) can determine the frequency of audit review and presents an Annual
Internal Audit Plan to the Audit & Resources Committee for approval in March each
year. The reporting process for Internal Audit requires a report of each audit to be
submitted to the relevant service lead and/or Executive Head, Corporate Director,
Chief Financial Officer, and Chief Executive. The report includes recommendations
for improvements that are included within an action plan and requires agreement by
service leads, Chief Financial Officer and/or Executive Heads, Corporate Directors,
and the Chief Executive. The process includes follow-up reviews of high priority
recommendations to ensure that they are acted upon, usually within six months.
The following opinion is based on the audit activity undertaken during 2021/22. The
Chief Internal Auditor (Acting) is satisfied that sufficient assurance work has been
carried out to allow the formation of a reasonable conclusion on the adequacy and
effectiveness of Eastleigh Borough Council’s internal control environment.
The Chief Internal Auditor (Acting) confirms that the Council’s framework of
governance, risk management and control is adequate in most areas. On occasions,
audit testing found that not all controls are operating in practice and recommendations
to enhance governance, risk management and internal controls were highlighted
within the appropriate audit report. The Chief Internal Auditor (Acting) is of the opinion
that work completed in the past year has shown that revised systems and processes
are in the main operating well with findings moving towards more recommendations
around compliance and enhancements/improvements rather than there being missing
key controls.
Lisa Smy – Chief Internal Auditor (Acting)

3

77

Sign off by CEO and Leader:
Good governance is the foundation of local democracy and public services. Eastleigh
Borough Council has put in place strong governance arrangements, which we are
confident protect its interests and provide necessary assurances to our customers
and stakeholders. We intend over the coming year to further strengthen our
governance arrangements by addressing Internal Audit recommendations and the
matters identified and noted in this Annual Governance Statement. Governance
arrangements will continue to be monitored by the Executive Head of Governance
and the Corporate Governance Group. Updates on progress will be provided within
the next Annual Governance Statement.

78

4

Covid-19 Pandemic
In March 2020, a national public health emergency was declared by the Government
in response to the global coronavirus pandemic. Eastleigh Borough Council was
prepared through its detailed business continuity arrangements, which were quickly
activated to ensure that critical services continued to operate across the Borough.
The Council quickly adapted to changing circumstances and implemented several
innovations. During the year, the Future Ways of Working Group trialed new ways of
working. These arrangements were paused in December 2021 in response to
restrictions, and will be further trialed and monitored as restrictions are lifted.
The pandemic has provided reassurance over our resilience, governance, and
decision-making arrangements as we have been able to maintain and deliver most of
our services in this challenging environment, adapting our methods of working and
decision-making as necessary.
Legislation to allow authorities to conduct the majority of its meetings and take
decisions in ways other than in person expired on 6 May 2021 and Council, Local
Area Committees and Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel meetings returned to
being held face-to-face. Audit and Resources Committee meetings have continued to
be held virtually unless a decision is taken when the Committee meets face-to-face.
The Council recognises the benefits that virtual meetings provided, particularly around
accessibility for stakeholders and members of the public, and is reviewing the
potential for hybrid meetings whilst ensuring that good governance continues.
The impact of the pandemic is likely to continue to affect governance arrangements,
and changes to working practices are continually being assessed to ensure
appropriate controls exist. It is also apparent that the pandemic has had, and will
continue to have, an impact upon the Council’s resources, financial resilience,
potential pausing of certain projects and long-term flexible working. This will remain a
key governance issue as the Council recovers.
Throughout the pandemic, the health and wellbeing of our residents, people who work
in the Borough and our staff, have been the Council’s top priority. We have worked
hard to continue to provide as many services as possible while ensuring residents
safety, in line with the latest advice from the government. We have regularly provided
information and advice about our services in relation to coronavirus and provided
updates for the Borough’s businesses via our Covid-19 page on the website and
weekly updates by email that residents were invited to sign up to.

5

79

Key Elements of the governance framework and an assessment of its effectiveness for
2021/22
The Council has an overarching vision for the Borough: To lead and support Eastleigh
Borough and its communities: developing a strong and sustainable economy that supports
improved standards of living for residents; promoting thriving and healthy communities; and
maintaining an attractive and sustainable environment that residents value.
We will do this by:
• Having a vision and a plan for the future of our Borough
• Engaging with customers to continually improve our services
• Meeting the needs of our residents, businesses, and other key stakeholders
• Strengthening our relationships with partners
• Operating in a business-like, commercially focused way
• Having a skilled, high performing workforce
• Making the best use of technology
• Ensuring our services are well planned and efficient
We also believe that success is achieved not just by ‘what we do,’ but by the ‘way we do it.’
Having staff who demonstrate the right behaviours for our organisation is just as important as
having the right skills, experience, and knowledge for our roles. Defining and demonstrating
those behaviours is essential if we are to deliver on our mission of ‘Supporting Communities,
Improving Lives.’ Our ‘Way We Work’ framework is based on our core values: Fairness,
Ambition and Empowerment.
The following table provides detail of how the Council can demonstrate compliance with the
principles of Good Governance in accordance with the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework ‘Delivering
Good Governance in Local Government’ (2016) and its seven principles:
Principle A – Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and
respecting the rule of the law.
Principle B – Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.
Principle C – Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental
benefits.
Principle D – Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the
intended outcomes.
Principle E – Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the
individuals within it.
Principle F – Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public
financial management.
Principle G – Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver
effective accountability.

80

6

Governance Principle
Assurance on Compliance
Acting in the public interest requires a commitment to effective arrangements for:
Principle A – Behaving with
 The roles and responsibilities of our Councillors and staff and the processes we use to govern Council business are
integrity, demonstrating strong
defined in the Council’s Constitution. Our Constitution sets out how we operate and how we make decisions. The
commitment to ethical values,
Council must make decisions efficiently, transparently, and accountable.
and respecting the rule of the
 We have codes of conduct in place for Councillors and staff to make sure that public business is conducted with
law.
fairness and integrity and that we define high ethical values and the standards of behavior we expect.
 The Council reviewed the Code of Conduct in November 2020 to include the Code of Ethics. Working in an ethical
and principled manner should act as a guide to employees when undertaking their role, and the seven principles
included in the Code are from a central set of standards (The Nolan Standards) which inform public office holders.
 We publish a register of interests to ensure that any conflict of interest remains open and transparent.
 The register of gifts and hospitality for Councillors is maintained by the Monitoring Officer.
 The Constitution has been reviewed and updated and was adopted by Council in November 2021.
 We maintain a staff register of gifts and hospitality which was reviewed in March 2021.
 The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) Regulations 2003 require that every authority publicises, within its area,
the sum paid by it in that year under the scheme to each Councillor and co-opted member in respect of basic
allowance, special responsibility allowance, travelling and subsistence allowance; we comply with this requirement
 Eastleigh Borough Council carried out a Community Governance Review in accordance with the provisions of the
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, and other relevant statutory provisions. The review
concluded that two new Parish Councils would be created in the unparished area of Eastleigh Borough with elections
taking place in May 2022.

81

82
Principle B – Ensuring
openness and
comprehensive stakeholder
engagement











Our Council meetings are open for members of the public to attend.
Our committee agendas, minutes, and decisions, (including Cabinet decisions) are made publicly available on the
Council’s website to ensure transparency and openness. All our public meetings are also held in accessible venues
around the Borough. A limited number of reports are considered in private session only when the subject meets the
prescribed criteria. A summary of these is published and the rationale for non-disclosure made available.
Councillors are appointed to outside bodies which are external organisations, including formal or informal partnerships,
to which the Borough Council is a party, which have requested that the Borough Council appoint an Elected Councillor
or a representative to them or to which the Council expects to make appointments.
The draft budget and statement of accounts are published for public scrutiny and as part of the budget setting
process the Council writes to partners.
We communicate our work, purpose, aims and vision regularly through several different communications channels.
The Borough News is delivered to 55,000 plus homes and we have a range of social media channels through which
we communicate updates.
We publish and regularly update a range of content and open data on our Freedom of Information, Publication Scheme
and Transparency Code pages on our website.
We offer a Primary authority partnership for businesses as a single point of contact for Environmental Health matters.
We publish a contracts register on a quarterly basis and are currently reviewing the procurement strategy.

(In addition to the overarching requirements for acting in the public interest found in principles A & B, achieving good governance also requires a
commitment to, and effective arrangements for:

Principle C – Defining
outcomes in terms of
sustainable
economic, social, and
environmental benefits.








The Corporate Plan 2015-2025 is at the heart of our programme for the future. Through our three Corporate
themes, green borough, healthy community, and prosperous place, there it provides clear direction enabling us to
manage our resources to deliver excellent services for local people in the future. The Plan supports our vision to
lead and support Eastleigh Borough and its communities: developing a strong and sustainable economy that
supports improved standards of living for residents; promoting thriving and healthy communities; and maintaining an
attractive and sustainable environment that residents value.
The Corporate Action Plan (CAP) reflects the ambition of the Council to deliver for residents and businesses in the
Borough, and now incorporates measures to support response and recovery in relation to the Covid19 pandemic.
The Local Plan 2016-2036 was adopted in May 2022.
The Council developed a new process for monitoring performance which commenced at the start of 2021/22. Each
Executive Area produces a quarterly Executive Summary report which looks at performance, risk, spend, income
and resources.
The templates for Council and Committee reports incudes specific paragraphs detailing the implications the decision
being recommended has on finances, equalities and diversity and climate change and environment.

83

84
Principle D – Determining the
interventions necessary to
optimise the achievement of
the intended outcomes.











We produce a Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) annually, considering known issues and applying a number of
assumptions to the Council’s finances. The MTFP provides, on a rolling basis, a projection of the Council’s
finances over a four-year period and in doing so establishes the broad financial principles around which Councillors
can develop portfolio plans and consider, at a high level, the Council’s budget strategy. This is updated and reported
each quarter.
At the start of 2021/22 new arrangements for performance monitoring were developed which now includes Quarterly
Executive Summary Reports for each Executive Area which are shared with the Policy and Performance Scrutiny
Panel and Cabinet. The ESR provides a financial summary and includes an assessment of risk and key performance
indicators which details actual performance against targets/standards.
As the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic began to stabilise, the Council developed its Continuous Improvement
Programme. Under-pinned by a strategy, the programme seeks to improve processes, reduce costs, increase
income, and overall, secure future delivery of intended outcomes. A Continuous Improvement Plan will be drafted
and delivery against actions will be regularly monitored.
We continue to review and update our corporate policies register on our website.
Key Performance indicators are regularly monitored and reported to Cabinet with an annual review undertaken.
We have in place a process for monitoring all statutory government returns to ensure completion.

Principle E – Developing the
entity’s capacity, including the
capability of its leadership and
the individuals within it.












The designated role of Head of Paid Service is accountable to the Council for all aspects of management including
sound governance, providing quality information/support to inform decision making and scrutiny, supporting other
statutory officers and building relationships with all Councillors. The Chief Executive is designated as Head of Paid
Service. In December 2021, the Chief Executive announced his intention to retire in May 2022 and a new Chief
Executive has been successfully appointed.
We continue to review and update the Councillor training, development, and induction programme as necessary and
encourage attendance. Training is delivered either face to face or virtually.
Review of the Constitution was completed and the updated Constitution including a revised Councillor Code of Conduct
was adopted in November 2021.
Regular monitoring and management of the Council’s performance, including financial performance is key to ensuring
delivery against strategic objectives set out in the Council’s corporate plan 2015-2025, and contributes to the
management of corporate risk. Performance Indicators are reviewed monthly Cabinet Members with quarterly and
annual performance reports by way of Executive Summary Reports are scrutinised by Policy & Performance Scrutiny
Panel.
The Executive Leadership Team continues to work collaboratively and provide cohesive leadership which aims to
clarify accountability and responsibility. More empowerment is encouraged and decision making is made at the
right level promoting more clarity of how this happens and creates a senior structure that aligns specialisms more
closely with our Corporate Plan.
A development programme for the Leadership Team was delivered throughout 2021/22.
Coaching Training was delivered to the Leadership Team and Senior Managers to help support the management
and development of staff.

85

86
Principle F – Managing risks
and performance through
robust internal control and
strong public financial
management.














We have a Risk Management approach which includes robust systems of identification, evaluation and control of risks
which threaten the Council’s ability to meet its objectives to deliver services to the public.
The Corporate Risk Register is managed by the Council’s Executive Leadership Team and updated for newly stated
risks and ongoing matters on a quarterly basis. The register is also reviewed by the Strategic Risk Management
Group (SRMG).The Audit and Resources Committee and Cabinet annually appoint a Councillor to this group.
Senior Managers are responsible for maintaining operational risk registers and for escalating matters for inclusion on
the Corporate Risk Register.
Our Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 officer) is responsible for the proper administration of all aspects of the
Council’s financial affairs including ensuring appropriate advice is given to the Council on all financial matters.
There is regular financial monitoring and quarterly reports are produced for presentation to the Policy and
Performance Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet.
We continue to review and update all our obligations under GDPR (General Data Protection Regulations) legislation.
The Audit and Resource Committee act as the Council’s Audit Committee for internal and external audit, overseeing
and reviewing the Council’s internal audit plan, risk management arrangements and ensure effective relationships
between internal and external audit. The Committee also receives and considers the work of external audit and
approves our governance and assurance statements, statement of accounts, and anti- fraud and anti-corruption
arrangements.
We continually review the effectiveness of our complaints and compliments procedure including the outcome from
complaints referred to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman to identify lessons learnt and take
appropriate action.
We ensure effective anti-fraud and corruption arrangements are in place.
The Monitoring Officer is responsible for ensuring the Council acts in accordance with the law and the Constitution.
Legal Services undertook a comprehensive review of the Council’s RIPA Policy, resulting in redrafting the Policy to
incorporate the statutory framework and processes required to permit the council’s lawful use of both Covert
Surveillance and the acquisition of Communications Data. The draft Policy was externally assessed in February 2022
by the Chief Inspector of the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office. This Policy review is in its final stage,
following which the new RIPA & Communications Data Policy will be submitted to the Audit & Resources Committee
for approval. The review also encompassed Legal Services providing bespoke RIPA and Communications Data
training in three phases for all its Designated Officers, officers, and lawyers.

Principle G – Implementing
good practices in
transparency, reporting, and
audit to deliver effective
accountability.








The views of Internal and external audit are reported regularly to the Audit and Resources Committee.
The Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual Internal Audit Report and Opinion forms part of the review of effectiveness
along with the Annual Governance Statement.
We are committed to being open, accountable, and transparent by making information available to our
customers on our website. This includes the Freedom of Information Model Publication Scheme and the
Transparency Code 2015 pages which are regularly reviewed and updated.
Our Freedom of Information (FOI) and Environmental Information Regulation (EIR) processes have been
reviewed and are regularly updated to comply with the Information Commissioners Office (ICO) guidelines.
We continue to embed GDPR requirements and monitor the effectiveness of this legislation which has led to a
reduction in reports of data breaches.
Transparency arrangements are continuously reviewed.

87

Progress on Improvement of Areas requiring focus identified in the
2020/2021 Annual Governance Statement
Governance Issues

Planned completion date

Status

Actions identified from 2020/21 governance review to be addressed in 2021/22

88

Development and approval of
the recovery programme for
the Town Centre (Guiding
Regeneration Principles)

August 2021

Town Centre Guiding
Regeneration Principles
in place since summer
2021. This also includes
an action plan that is
monitored monthly
through the Town Centre
Working Group

Review of Constitution

November 2021

Completed

Development of Procurement
Strategy (incorporating
procurement principles to
address climate change,
environment emergency and
sustainability priorities)

Spring 2022

Work to develop a new
Responsible Procurement
Policy continues with
target date of adoption in
December 2022.

Development of hybrid
working arrangements under
Future Ways of Working
programme

March 2022

Further 6-month trial
(June 2022 – December
2022).

Formation of two new Parish
Councils

May 2022

Complete – Eastleigh
Town Council and Boyatt
Wood Parish Council
operating following
elections in May 2022.

14

New issues identified during 2021/22
In the review and preparation for this Annual Governance Statement, the following key areas
were identified as meriting attention over the next 12 months. Implementation is monitored by
the Corporate Governance Group on a quarterly basis.
2021/22Governance
issues identified (for
action in
2022/23)
Review of People Strategy
with a focus on 4 key
areas; namely job
advertising; salary review;
recruitment and
performance

Deadline

Responsibility

July 2022 – March 2023

Executive Head of
Organisational
Development

One Horton Heath Board –
review of membership
following retirement of 2
members.

September 2022

Corporate Leadership
Board & Leader of the
Council

Hybrid meetings - to review
options for providing hybrid
Council and Local Area
Committee meetings

December 2022

Democratic Services
Manager

Procurement Policy – to
finalise Responsible
Procurement Policy

March 2023

Executive Head of
Governance

Review of decision-making
arrangements and clarity
over processes for staff
and Councillors

November 2023

Executive Head of
Governance, Legal
Services Manager and
Democratic Services
Manager

Continuous Improvement
– Delivery of a clear
Continuous Improvement
Plan in order to achieve
ambitions

March 2023 (Ongoing)

Executive Head of
Organisational
Development and
Resource Manager

Key Performance Indicator
(KPI) Review – to finalise
agreed changes to corporate
KPIs following holistic
review.

July 2022

Partnership Review – to
review governance
arrangements for
partnerships.

March 2023

Resource Manager

15

Executive Head of
Governance and Strategic
Planning Manager

89

This page is intentionally left blank

Code of Corporate Governance 2022/23

91

92
Eastleigh Borough Council - Code of Corporate Governance 2022/23
Review Date: June 2022
INTRODUCTION
Corporate Governance is the term used to describe the system by which Local Authorities direct and control their functions and relate to their communities.
Governance is about how the Council ensures it has the right processes and values by which it operates and how they engage with and held accountable to
their communities and stakeholders.
Local government organisations are accountable not only for how much they spend, but also for how they use their resources. In addition, they have an
overarching responsibility to serve the public interest - adhering to the requirements of legislation and government policies.
It is essential that Councils can demonstrate the appropriateness of their actions and have mechanisms in place to encourage and enforce adherence to
ethical values and to respect the rule of law.
We are committed to demonstrating that we have the necessary corporate governance arrangements in place to perform effectively. We follow guidance
issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives (SOLACE) ‘Delivering Good
Governance in Local Government (2016)’.
The guidance defines the seven core principles, each supported by sub-principles that should underpin the governance framework of a local authority.








Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and respecting the rule of law
Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement
Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits
Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes
Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it
Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management
Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver effective accountability

BENEFITS OF A CODE OF GOVERNANCE
The documents and arrangements set out in the framework within this code demonstrate how we continually seek to ensure we always remain well
governed and seek to achieve our objectives whilst acting in the public interest. We have a Constitution and associated governance documents and
arrangements in place. The purpose of this Local Code of Governance is to set out the main principles of good governance that we are committed to and
highlighting the key policies and processes that are in place to ensure these principles are followed.
ANNUAL REVIEW AND REPORTING
In order to comply with the principles of good governance we must undertake to ensure that our systems and processes are continually monitored and
reviewed and are kept up to date.
Each year the Council will carry out a review to provide assurance that governance arrangements are adequate and operating effectively, or to identify
action that is planned to ensure effective governance in the future.
The outcome of the review will take the form of an Annual Governance Statement prepared on behalf of the Leader and Chief Executive. It will be
submitted to the Audit and Resources for consideration and approval.
The Annual Governance Statement will accompany the Council’s Statutory Statement of Accounts, as required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations.

93

94

Principle A – Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and respecting the rule of law
Supporting Principles
 Behaving with
integrity
 Demonstrating
strong
commitment to
ethical values
 Respecting the rule
of law
 Comply with
legislation and all
relevant
professional
standards

To achieve this, the Council will:
 Maintain formal codes of conduct defining
standards of behaviour expected of both
councillors and Officers Publicise Gifts and
Hospitality Guidelines
 Maintain a framework which addresses the
risks of fraud and corruption including an
Anti-Fraud & Corruption Strategy and
Policy and a Whistleblowing policy.
 Maintain effective systems to protect the
rights of staff, including whistleblowing
policies which are accessible and regularly
communicated
 Maintain a register of interests
 Maintain arrangements to investigate
complaints against councillors and officers
including alleged misconduct
 Maintain effective and accessible
arrangements for dealing with complaints
 The Council operates within the legal
framework for local councils complying
with its statutory duties and making the
most of its powers to meet the needs of
the Borough and its residents.
 The Monitoring officer is responsible to the
authority for ensuring that agreed
procedures are followed and that all
applicable statutes and regulations are
complied with.
 The Council ensures that statutory officers
have the skills, resources and support
necessary to perform effectively in their
roles.

This is evidenced by:
 Codes of conduct
 People Strategy
 Council Meeting minutes
 Anti-Fraud & Corruption
Strategy
 Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy
 Whistleblowing Policy
 Internal Audit reports
 Register of Interests
 Register of Gifts & Hospitality
 Complaints Policy & Procedure
 Constitution

Priorities for 2022/23:
 Monitor and continually
improve our complaints
procedure
 Review of Whistleblowing
Policy
 Preparation for new
Environment Act Legislation
 Preparation of Housing
Revenue Account Business
Plan
 Review of People Strategy

95

96
Principle B – Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement:
Supporting Principles
To achieve this, the Council will:
 Openness
 Seek the views of its stakeholders and
respond appropriately
 Engaging
comprehensively
 Provide a variety of opportunities for the
with Institutional
public to engage effectively with the
stakeholders
Council including rights to information,
participation and how to complain or
 Engaging with
comment
individual citizens
and service users
 Ensure Council meetings are accessible
effectively
 Publish Agendas, minutes, report packs
and a calendar for a full year for Council
meetings on our website and a formal
notice of each meeting will be displayed at
our Council offices
 Ensure publication of agendas and minutes
 Set a balanced budget
 Publish an Annual Statement of Accounts
and Annual Auditors report to inform
stakeholders of the previous year’s
achievements and outcomes.
 Encourage and assist citizens to inspect the
Statement of Accounts in accordance with
regulations
 Consult with stakeholders in the planning
process

This is evidenced by:
 Public attendance at Council
meetings
 Constitution
 Local Plan
 Publication of all council
agendas and minutes
 Internet, Email & Social Media
acceptable usage policy
 Public inspection of accounts
by our customers
 Partnership Agreements
 Public speaking in planning
committee
 Community Consultations
 Communications Strategy

Priorities for 2022/23
 Partnership framework
 Review hybrid meetings
arrangements

Principle C – Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits
Supporting Principles
To achieve this, the Council will:
This is evidenced by:
 Defining
 Make a clear statement of the Council’s
 Our council vision within our
outcomes
purpose and vision and use it as a basis for all
Corporate Plan
corporate & service planning
 Sustainable
 Annual Governance Statement
economic,
 Publish on the Council’s website the various
 Statement of Accounts
social and
reports to communicate the Council’s
 External Auditors letter and
environmental
activities and achievements including its
report
benefits
financial position and performance
 Service Plans
 Identify and manage risks to the achievement
 Corporate Action Plan
of outcomes
 Local Plan
 The Corporate plan expresses the strategic
 Performance Management
objectives for the Council over the financial
framework including regular
year and beyond. Alongside the objectives
reporting of key performance
are the outcomes to be achieved. This
indicators
information enables members and the
 Project register & project
services contributing to the delivery of the
management methodology
plan to be clear about the priorities for the
 Publication of transparency
Council.
data
 Service Managers will prepare annual Service
 Climate and Environment
Plans indicating how they will meet objectives
Emergency Strategy and Action
set out within the Corporate Plan and
Plan
Corporate Action Plan
 Evolving Procurement Policy
 Services will regularly report on key
 Equality Strategy and Action
performance indicators (KPIs) through our
Plan
corporate performance cycle
 Work through effective partnerships
 We identify projects that will cumulatively
deliver the strategic outcomes identified.

Priorities for 2022/23:
 Publication of the Annual
Governance Statement and
update to the Code of
Governance
 Continue to deliver the Climate
and Environment Emergency
Strategy (including monitoring
delivery)
 Development of the
Sustainable Procurement Policy
 Update Climate and
Environmental Emergency
Strategy and Action Plan
 Prepare for new Environment
Act legislation

97

98
Principle D – Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes
Supporting Principles
To achieve this, the Council will:
This is evidenced by:
 Determining
 Make a clear statement of the Council’s
 Risk Management Framework
Interventions
purpose and aims and use this as a basis for
 Medium Term Financial Plan
corporate and service planning
 Planning
 Regular financial and
interventions
 Ensure budgets are prepared in accordance
performance reporting to
with organisational objectives and regularly
Cabinet
 Optimising
reported upon
achievement of
 Business Continuity Plans
intended
 Provide senior managers and councillors
 Disaster recovery
outcomes
with timely financial and performance
arrangements and emergency
information
plan
 Ensure there is a sound risk management
 Council strategies & policies
framework to support the achievement of
 Statutory returns to
the Council’s intended outcomes
government
 Have robust contingency arrangements in
 The Council has LGA, SOLACE
place for business continuity and disaster
and CIPFA membership to
recovery
ensure best practice.
 The Council has a Medium-Term Financial
 Organisational Development
Plan to resource the Council’s aspirations
Review Group
and to assess and plan for any financial risks.
The plan is reviewed annually and more
frequently during the pandemic.
 The Council seeks expertise from outside the
authority when it does not have the
necessary skills in-house, making use of peer
reviews and other mechanisms for ensuring
challenge of Council services.
 Provide a robust programme of work to
continuously improve council processes and
the service we provide

Priorities for 2022/23:
 Continuously review our
Council policies and strategies
 Undertake a series of process
improvements as part of
continuous improvement
 Review of S106 processes
 Develop Strategic
Improvement Plan for
Customer Care

Principle E – Developing the entity’s capacity including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it
Supporting Principles
To achieve this, the Council will:
This is evidenced by:

Priorities for 2022/23:

99

100



Developing the
Council’s capacity
Developing the
capability of the
Council’s
leadership and
other individuals















Set out a clear statement of the respective
roles and responsibilities of the Council’s
Cabinet, Full Council and individual
Councillors through the Constitution
Set out a protocol to address the working
relationship between the Chief Executive
and leader enabling each to fulfil their
respective roles
Maintain an effective workforce plan to
enhance the strategic allocation of
resources and ensure effective succession
planning etc.
Maintain officer and councillor induction
programmes
Assess the skills required by officers
through the appraisal process and address
any training gaps to enable roles to be
carried out effectively
Develop the capabilities of councillors
through training
Regularly review the scheme of delegation
and Constitution and update when required
Ensure arrangements are in place to
maintain the health and wellbeing of staff
We have developed a People Strategy
which includes a corporate mission
statement, values and Way We Work
Framework





















People Strategy
1:1 and Quarterly
Performance Reviews
Exit interviews
Health and Wellbeing Policy
Effective induction
programme for staff and
councillors
Constitution
Councillor/officer protocol
(Codes of Conduct)
Councillor training and
development
Admin Committee
Occupational Health
provider
Schemes of delegation for
councillors and officers
Staff consultation
Professional qualified staff
Health and Safety Policy
Set of Corporate values
Way we work Framework
Staff recognition & reward
programme
Executive Leadership Team
away days with Cabinet

Principle F – Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management



Continually monitor and improve
Councillor training and induction

Supporting Principles
 Managing risk
 Managing
performance
 Robust internal
control
 Managing data
 Strong public
financial
management

To achieve this, the Council will:
 Maintain an effective Audit and Resources
Committee and Policy and Performance
Scrutiny function
 Ensure robust and integrated risk
management arrangements are in place and
responsibilities for managing individual risk
is clearly allocated
 Maintain regular programme of Councillor
training
 Maintain sound financial procedure rules to
ensure consistency and clear financial
protocols
 Maintain a transparent complaints and
feedback procedure
 Maintain a risk-based programme of internal
audits which are informed by the Council’s
risk registers
 Take account of service/project risks with
each report providing an assurance opinion
on how risks are being managed
 Ensure effective anti-fraud and corruption
arrangements are in place
 Ensure effective information governance
arrangements are in place to support
compliance with existing and emerging
legislation for data protection
 Ensuring financial management supports
decision making and provides enough
information to support the delivery of the
Council’s objectives

This is evidenced by:
 Regular reporting to Policy
and Performance Scrutiny
 Risk Management Policy &
Strategy
 Administration committee
 Statutory Officers
 Corporate and service risk
registers
 Terms of reference within
Constitution
 Financial Procedure Rules
 Contract Procedure Rules
 Internal Audit Charter
 Regular reporting and
provision of information to
Audit and Resources
Committee including:
1. Chief Internal Auditor’s
annual report
2. Individual audit reports
3. Regular progress reports
on results of internal
audit work
 Anti-fraud and Corruption
policy & Strategy
 Annual Governance
Statement
 Information governance
policies and procedures
 Regular financial and
performance reporting to the
Executive
 Medium Term Financial Plan
 Quarterly strategic
performance and financial

Priorities for 2022/23:
 Create and maintain a data
sharing register
 Review of Information
Governance

101

102





monitoring reports
Monthly budget monitoring
reports
Cyber risk training (Elearning)
IT & Social media Policies
RIPA Policy

Principle G – Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability
Supporting Principles
To achieve this, the Council will:
This is evidenced by:
 Implementing
 Maintain an effective scrutiny function
 Information Governance
good practice in
which encourages constructive challenge
Policies and Procedures
transparency
 Maintain an effective Audit and Resources
 Scrutiny Committee
 Implementing
Committee independent of the Cabinet and
 Regular provision of
good practices in
Scrutiny Committees
information to Audit and
reporting
 Publish all Committee reports on our
Resources Committee
website unless there is a statutory reason
 Assurance and
 Corporate Performance
effective
not to do so
Framework
accountability
 Maintain and regularly communicate
 Annual Governance
whistleblowing policies
Statement
 Ensure performance information is prepared
 Internal Audit Charter
on a consistent and timely basis
 Chief Internal Auditor annual
 Ensure Corporate Governance Group meet
report
regularly and monitor compliance with the
 Individual audit reports
Governance Framework and actions detailed
 Regular progress reports on
within AGS
results of internal audit work
 Maintain an effective Internal Audit function
 Internal audit Quality
which conforms to the Public Sector Internal
Assurance and Improvement
Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA
Programme
Statement on the Role of the Head of
 Monthly financial and
Internal Audit
performance reporting
 Welcome peer reviews and inspection from
 Quarterly Executive Summary
regulatory bodies and implement
Reports
recommendations
 Communications Strategy
 Produce regular financial and budget
 Accessibility statement
monitoring reports for members reporting

Priorities for 2022/23:
 Continue to monitor GDPR with
staff training to reduce data
breaches
 Actions from previous AGS to
be monitored quarterly by
Corporate Governance Group
 Review outcome of External
Assessment of Internal Audit
and develop action plan for
implementation of any agreed
enhancements
 Review of Decision Making
arrangements and clarity over
processes for staff and
Councillors












on performance, value for money and
stewardship of resources
Produce regular budget manager reports to
ensure senior managers own results
The Council makes sure members of the
public have access to information about the
workings of the Council. It makes clear what
information is routinely published through
its Freedom of Information Publication
Scheme and responds promptly to requests
for information.
Maintain compliance with the local
government transparency code and publish
all required information in a timely manner
Publish an Annual Report and Statement of
Accounts giving information on the
authority’s vision, strategy, performance,
future plans and financial statements.
Maintain an internal audit function with a
risk-based audit plan, designed to test
regularly that the Council’s policies and
processes operate in practice and that the
Council complies with legislation and good
practice.
Compliance and transparency with data
protection legislation.









Freedom of Information
requests, Environmental
Information Requests and
Subject Access Requests
Publication Scheme
Transparency Code
Annual Report and Statement
of Accounts
Annual Audit plan
GDPR privacy policies, Record
of Processing Activity (ROPA),
Retention Schedule, data
sharing agreements.

103

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
Tuesday, 19 July 2022
APPROVAL OF COUNCIL'S ‘CORPORATE POLICY AND
PROCEDURES FOR THE USE OF BODY WORN VIDEO DEVICES’
Report of the Head of Legal Services

Recommendation(s)
It is recommended that
(1)

Audit and Resources Committee considers the ‘Corporate Policy and
Procedures for the use of Body Worn Video Devices’, which sets out the
statutory framework and procedures which permit the Council’s lawful use of
this overt surveillance technique to assist staff in carrying out their duties.

(2)

Audit and Resources Committee recommends the ‘Corporate Policy and
Procedures for the use of Body Worn Video Devices’ for Cabinet approval.

Summary
The Corporate Policy and Procedure for the use of Body Worn Video Devices (BWV
Policy) (Annex 1) facilitates the Council’s use of BWV in carrying out its duties. The policy
sets out the statutory framework and procedures that permit the Council’s lawful use of this
overt surveillance technique, whilst ensuring the Council complies with all relevant
legislation and does not infringe a person’s rights under Article 8 of the Human Rights Act
1998 (HRA), except as may be permitted by Article 8(2). Consequently, a public authority
(Eastleigh Borough Council) can act in a way that is compatible with the European
Convention on Human Rights 1950 (EHCR) and Human Rights Act 1998, whilst also
ensuring the personal and/or sensitive data obtained from the BWV devices are processed
in accordance with the UK Data Protection statutory framework.
Statutory Powers
The primary statutory framework including Orders and guidance is as follows:








Human Rights Act 1998
European Convention on Human Rights 1950
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Part 2
UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR)
Data Protection Act 2018
The Surveillance Camera Code of Practice 2013 (amended November 2021)

105



The Information Commissioner’s Guidance on Video Surveillance 24/2/2022

Digital Imaging & Multimedia Procedure V3 16/11/2021

Strategic Implications
1.

The use of BWV will help Council staff carry out a number of duties that
contribute to the Council meeting its Corporate Plan objectives.

2.

These duties, whilst not exhaustive, include:






Parking enforcement (Tackling Congestion);
Fly-Tipping investigation (Minimising Waste ; An Excellent Environment
for All);
Animal Welfare;
Unauthorised encampments (An Excellent Environment for All);
Planning enforcement (Prosperous Place ; An Excellent Environment
for All).

Introduction
3.

This Corporate BWV Policy provides the statutory framework and the
Council’s guidance for the use of overt surveillance camera systems, namely
Body Worn Video (BWV) devices, whilst ensuring the public authority does not
infringe a person’s Article 8 rights under the Human Rights Act 1998.

4.

The use of BWV by Eastleigh Borough Council authorised staff is intended to
assist in the following:









5.

Prevention and/or detection of crime and/or disorder;
Criminal and/or civil proceedings arising out of the incident/event;
De-escalation of a conflict/incident/event;
The protection of staff who are acting in the course of their council duties;
Dispute resolution, for example, complaints against staff;
Supporting the emergency services whilst undertaking their duties;
Counter-Terrorism (Prevent Duty);
Staff development training as to best practices;
There are a wide variety of benefits to using BWV technology that are more
particularly described in paragraph 7 of the policy attached at annex 1. For
information, the list of annexes is included at the end of this report.

Financial Implications
6.

106

Body Worn Video is already used by the Council’s Parking Operations team.
The Council currently owns 12 BWV cameras and the necessary software to
facilitate its use in compliance with the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice.
Eastleigh Borough Council

An additional six cameras and an associated docking station have been
purchased using grant funding secured via Defra’s Waste and Resources
Action Programme (WRAP), at a cost of £3,600. There will be periodic capital
equipment replacement costs that will be shared proportionately by the service
areas using the BWV equipment to carry out their duties.

Risk Assessment
7.

The adoption of this Policy and Procedure enables the Council to realise the
benefits of BWV when carrying out its duties, whilst ensuring that its staff and
the rights of the public are protected by complying with the relevant legislation.

8.

Correct adoption of the policy and its procedures will ensure any risks
associated with the use of this overt surveillance system are suitably
mitigated, as it will be operated in full compliance with the relevant guidance
and legislation.

9.

To ensure the health and safety of Council staff, each department has specific
Risk Assessments and Safe Systems of Work for the duties they undertake
within their roles. These are approved by the Corporate Health and Safety
Officer, reviewed at least annually and updated as required, in accordance
with the Council’s overarching Health & Safety Policy.

Equality and Diversity Implications
10.

The Equality Act is relevant to the decision and an Equality Impact
Assessment (EqIA) has been carried out and attached to the report (See
Annex 6). In summary the EqIA identifies that:
-The primary consideration of the EqIA in the context of BWV use, is the
protection of a person’s Article 8 rights under the Human Rights Act 1998 –
their right to respect for their private and family life, their home and their
correspondence.

11.

The BWV Policy and Procedure follows the Surveillance Camera Code of
Practice and sets out the Council procedures for use of BWV to protect
people’s right to privacy, and also ensure that the personal and/or sensitive
data obtained from the BWV devices is processed in accordance with the UK
Data Protection statutory framework.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
12.

The proposals have limited climate change and environmental implications,
although the use of BWV will help the Council effectively and efficiently carry
out some of its statutory powers related to protecting the environment, such as
investigation and enforcement against fly-tipping offences and planning
enforcement matters.

Eastleigh Borough Council

107

Conclusion
13.

The use of BWV has a number of wide-ranging benefits for staff in carrying out
their duties. The approval of the ‘Corporate Policy and Procedure for the use
of Body Worn Video’ will enable the Council’s lawful use of this overt
surveillance technique in accordance the current legislation, whilst protecting
the public’s right to privacy.

HARRY LEE
CORPORATE PROJECT MANAGER
Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Annexes Attached:

24 June 2022
Harry Lee
07468708000
harry.lee@eastleigh.gov.uk
6

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
Annexes included in this report;
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

108

Annex 1_Corporate Policy and Procedures for use of Body Warn Videos
Annex 2_BWV Policy Appendices 1-7
Annex 3_BWV Policy Appendix 5 – BWV Third Party Data Sharing Register
Annex 4_BWV Policy Appendix 6 – BWV SAR Checklist
Annex 5_BWV Policy Appendix 7 – BWV Training Register
Annex 6_Equality Impact Assessment

Eastleigh Borough Council

EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL
CORPORATE POLICY AND PROCEDURES
BODY WORN VIDEOS

Version 1 – June 2022

1

109

INDEX
SECTION

CONTENTS

PAGES

INTRODUCTION & KEY MESSAGES
COUNCIL POLICY STATEMENT
BODY WORN VIDEO KEY BENEFITS & INTENDED USES
BENEFITS OF USING BODY WORN VIDEOS
INTENDED USES OF BODY WORN VIDEOS

BODY WORN VIDEO STATUTORY FRAMEWORK
SURVEILLANCE CAMERA CODE OF PRACTICE
DEFINITION OF SURVEILLANCE
TYPES OF SURVEILLANCE
OVERT SURVEILLANCE
COVERT SURVEILLANCE
SURVEILLANCE CAMERA SYSTEMS
SYSTEM OPERATOR
SYSTEM USER
BODY WORN VIDEO
AUTHORISED OFFICERS
PUBLIC PLACE
RELEVANT AUTHORITY
FIRST MANDATORY TEST - IN PURSUIT OF A LEGITIMATE AIM
SECONED MANDATORY TEST – NECESSITY
THIRD MANDATORY TEST – PROPORTIONATE
SURVEILLANCE CAMERA CODES OF PRACTICE

12 GUIDING PRINCIPLES
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

SPECIFIED PURPOSE
EFFECT ON INDIVIDUALS & PRIVACY
TRANSPARENCY
CLEAR RESPONSIBILITY & ACCOUNTABILITY
RULES, POLICIES & PROCEDURES
STORAGE
RESTRICTED ACCESS
STANDARDS
SECURITY MEASURES
REVIEW & AUDIT
SUPPORT
ACCURACY
STATUTORY FRAMEWORK FOR PROCESSING PERSONAL DATA BY
VIDEO SURVEILLANCE SYSTEMS
CONTROLLER
LAWFUL BASIS
SPECIAL CATEGORY & CRIMINAL CONVICTION DATA
NECESSARY
PROPORTIONATE
PERSONAL DATA
SPECIAL (SENSITIVE) DATA
BIOMETRIC DATA
ACCOUNTABILITY
2

110

SECTION

CONTENTS
DATA PROTECTION BY DESIGN & DEFAULT
PROCESSING RECORDS
DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT
PROCESSING PERSONAL DATA
FAIR PROCESSING OF DATA
RETENTION
RETENTION PERIOD
RETENTION CHECKS
STORAGE OF DATA
RESTRICTED ACCESS & DATA ENCRYPTION
DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES FOR HANDLING DIGITAL IMAGES &
EVIDENCE
SECURITY MEASURES
DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES FOR HANDLING DIGITAL IMAGES &
EVIDENCE
PERIODIC REVIEW OF SYSTEM
DELETION/DISPOSAL
PRIVACY INFORMATION

TECHNICAL GUIDANCE FOR BODY WORN VIDEO DEVICES
STORAGE OF EQUIPMENT
DURABILITY
INTEGRITY
DATA TRANSFER TO BACK OFFICE SYSTEM
VIDEO DATA
STILL IMAGES
REUSABLE MEMORY
NETWORK

BODY WORN VIDEO PROCESS
UNIFORM
START OF SHIFT PROCEDURE
MAINTENANCE OF EQUIPMENT
DECISION TO RECORD AN INCIDENT
GENERAL PATROLLING
AUDIO RECORDING
WHEN TO START RECORDING
VERBAL ANNOUNCEMENT PRIOR TO RECORDING
RECORDING OF AN INCIDENT
BUFFER RECORDING
SELECTIVE CAPTURE
BOOKMARKING
VERBAL ANNOUNCEMENT PRIOR TO ENDING RECORDING
BWV IN PRIVATE DWELLINGS
WITNESS FIRST ACCOUNTS
SCENE REVIEW & PREMISES SEARCHING
LIMITATIONS ON USE

3

111

SECTION

CONTENTS

PAGES

END OF SHIFT

SAFEGUARDS FOR BODY WORN VIDEO DATA
DATA RECORDED BY BWV DEVICES
CONSEQUENCES OF LOST BWV DATA
USE OF MATERIAL AS EVIDENCE
MASTER COPY
WORKING COPY
AUDIT TRAILS
PLAYBACK
CONTINUITY
PREPARATION OF A PROSECUTION FILE
EVIDENTIAL STATEMENTS
TECHNICAL FAILURE
EXHIBITS
TRANSCRIPTS
REDACTIONS
COPIES
DATA SHARING REGISTER
DATA SHARING WITH THE MEDIA
PROVIDING COPIES/DISTRIBUTING BWV DATA
SERVICE OF BWV PRODUCT
SUBJECT ACCESS REQUEST
THE RIGHT OF ERASURE
THE RIGHT OF RESTRICTION OF PROCESSING
SAR GUIDANCE CHECKLISTS
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS
EXEMPTIONS TO FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS
UNLAWFUL DISCLOSURE TO THIRD PARTIES

DISCLOSURE DUTIES & OBLIGATIONS
ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS
HEALTH & SAFETY
PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

OVERSIGHT
APPROVAL OF POLICY
ANNUAL REVIEW OF POLICY
INTERNAL MONITORING
COMPLAINTS
TRAINING
THE INFORMATION COMMISSIONER
THE BIOMETRICS & SURVEILLANCE COMMISSIONER

MISCELLANEOUS
POLICY REVISION HISTORY

4

112

APPENDICES
SECTION
1
2
3
4
5
6
7

APPENDIX

PAGES

LEGAL SERVICES MANAGER
BWV AUTHORISED OFFICERS
DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT TEMPLATE FOR
SURVEILLANCE CAMERAS
BWV OFFICERS
BWV THIRD PARTY DATA SHARING REGISTER
BWV SAR GUIDANCE CHECKLISTS
TRAINING REGISTER

5

113

INTRODUCTION & KEY MESSAGES
1. This policy sets out the statutory framework and procedures which permit the Council’s lawful
use of the overt surveillance technique known as Body Worn Videos (BWV).
2. The Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA) gave effect in UK law to the rights of individuals enshrined
in the European Convention on Human Rights 1950 (ECHR). Some rights are absolute whilst
others are qualified, thus is it permissible for the state to interfere with those rights,
provided certain conditions are satisfied. One of those rights is a person’s right to respect
for their private and family life, home, and correspondence.1 When public authorities seek
to obtain private information about a person by means of overt surveillance, Article 8 is the
most likely to be engaged, which may also give rise to issues under Article 6 (right to a fair
trial).
3. This Corporate BWV Policy provides the statutory framework and the Council’s guidance as to
the use of overt surveillance camera systems, namely Body Worn Video devices, whilst
ensuring the public authority does not infringe a person’s Article 8 rights, except as may be
permitted by Article 8(2). Consequently, a public authority can act in a way that is
compatible with the ECHR and HRA.2
4. This Policy has been approved by the Cabinet3 and in addition, the Audit & Resources
Committee has an oversight role and carries out high level annual reviews of this Policy and
processes.
5. Any member of staff who is unsure regarding any aspect of this Policy and/or the statutory
framework, must contact the Council’s Legal Services Manager4 at the earliest opportunity.
Compliance with this Policy and Process is mandatory for all relevant Council services and
officers. This Policy is placed on the Council’s Staff Hub.5

COUNCIL POLICY STATEMENT
6. Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC) takes its statutory responsibilities seriously and will always
act in accordance with the statutory framework including relevant Orders, the Surveillance
Camera Code of Practice, the Information Commissioner’s Guidance on Video Surveillance6
and Digital Imaging & Multimedia Procedure V37 Accordingly, the Legal Services Manager is
duly authorised by the Council to monitor, review, and amend this Policy as and when
required. For administration and operational effectiveness, BWV Authorising Officers8 are
authorised to add or substitute a BWV Officer 9 when required.
1

ECHR Article 8
Human Rights Acy 1998, Section 6
3
Insert date approved by the Cabinet
4
Appendix 1
5
Insert link to Staff Hub BWV page
6
Information Commissioner’s Guidance on Video Surveillance 24/2/2022
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/key-dp-themes/guidance-on-video-surveillance/
2

7

Published 16 November 2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/digital-investigations-digital-imaging-and-multimediaprocedure/digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure-v30
8
9

Appendix 2
Appendix 4

6

114

BODY WORN VIDEOS KEY BENEFITS & INTENDED USES
BENEFITS OF USING BODY WORN VIDEOS
7. BWV technology has a number of benefits and complies with specific objectives, including but
not limited to:












Significantly enhances the quality of evidence provided by law enforcement officers;
Provides an independent, reliable, real time evidential capture of an event/incident as
precisely as possible limited only by the field of view and audio range of the device;
Promotes positive behaviour and interaction between the wearer and member(s) of the
public;
Assists in the drive to reduce crime and the fear of crime and increases the proportion of
offences brought to justice
Provides a greater impact than street CCTV as they can be deployed at any position within
an incident; those present quickly learn the recordings include sound and BWVs are more
obvious than other CCTV systems;
Assists in the investigation of a complaint and/or alleged offence(s) arising out of an
event/incident, thus reducing investigation time for unwarranted complaints;
Assists the court to see and hear the incident through the eyes and ears of the officer at the
scene, thereby gaining a real understanding of the actions of the accused;
Time efficient saving by producing an exhibit of the recording, saving officer recording the
incident as a statement or in their pocket notebook;
Individuals prosecuted are more likely to plead guilty at any early stage when served clear
recorded evidence of their actions, saving time and costs;
Assists in officer development as there is an ability to review their performance in detail
after an incident.

INTENDED USES OF BODY WORN VIDEOS
8. The use of BWV by Eastleigh Borough Council authorised officers is intended to assist in:









Prevention and/or detection of crime and/or disorder;
Criminal and/or civil proceedings arising out of the incident/event;
De-escalation of a conflict/incident/event;
Protection of staff who are acting in the course of their Council duties;
Dispute resolution e.g., complaints against staff;
Supporting the emergency services whilst undertaking their duties;
Counter-Terrorism (Prevent Duty);
Staff development training as to best practices;

BODY WORN VIDEO STATUTORY FRAMEWORK
9. The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 governs the regulation of surveillance, specifically the
Regulation of CCTV and other surveillance camera technology10 and is supported by the
mandatory requirement of a Surveillance Camera Code of Practice.11
10
11

Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Chapter 1, Sections 29-31
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Section 29

7

115

SURVEILLANCE CAMERA CODE OF PRACTICE
10. Relevant authorities (including local authorities12) have a mandatory duty with regard to the
Surveillance Camera Code of Practice (the Code), thus they must take the Codes into account
when exercising any functions which consider the future deployment or continued
deployment of overt surveillance. If a relevant authority decides to depart from the Code,
they will have to have clear reasons for doing so.13 The overarching purpose of the Code is
to enable operators of surveillance camera systems to make legitimate use of available
technology in a way that the public would right expect and to a standard that maintains
public trust and confidence.
DEFINITION OF SURVEILLANCE
11. Surveillance for the purposes of RIPA 2000 includes 14:
(a) monitoring, observing, or listening to persons, their movements, their conversations or their
other activities or communications;
(b) recording anything monitored, observed, or listened to in the course of surveillance;
(c) surveillance by or with the assistance of a surveillance device.
12. Surveillance may be conducted with or without the assistance of a surveillance device,
includes the recording of any information obtained and can be undertaken whilst on foot,
mobile or static. Surveillance also includes references to the interception of a
communication in the course of its transmission by means of a postal service of
telecommunication system, if and only if 15:
(a) the communication is one sent by or intended for a person who has consented to the
interception of communications sent by or to them; and
(b) there is no interception warrant authorising the interception.
TYPES OF SURVEILLANCE
13. There are two types of surveillance, namely overt and covert.
OVERT SURVEILLANCE
14. Most surveillance carried out by the Council will be overt, thus it will fall outside the remit of
RIPA. An example of overt surveillance is the Council’s overt CCTV16 and Body Worn Video
devices.
COVERT SURVEILLANCE

12

Protection of Freedoms Act 2021 Section 35(5)(a)
R (on the application of London Oratory School Governors) v Schools Adjudicator [2015] & R (Munjaz v
Mersey Care NHS Trust [2006]
14
RIPA Section 48(2)(a)-(c)
15
RIPA Section 48(4)
16
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2585/cctv-code-of-practice-2016.pdf
13

8

116

15. Surveillance is covert if and only if, it is carried out in a manner that is calculated to ensure
that persons who are subject to the surveillance are unaware that it is or may be taking
place.17
SURVEILLANCE CAMERA SYSTEMS
16. Methods of “recording” surveillance were expanded in Part 2 of the Protection of Freedoms
Act 2012, which dealt with the regulation of CCTV and other surveillance camera technology
and introduced the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice.18 Surveillance Camera Systems
include19:
(a) Closed circuit television (CCTV) or automated number plate recognition systems (ANPR);
(b) Any other systems for recording or viewing visual images for surveillance purposes;
(c) Any systems for storing, receiving, transmitting, processing, or checking the images or
information obtained in (a) or (b);
(d) Any other systems associated with, or otherwise connected with (a), (b) or (c)
17. Body Worn Videos are captured within (b), as confirmed by the College of Policing Body
Worn Guidance 2014 and AB v Hampshire Constabulary IPT/17/191/CH [2019]20.
Surveillance systems can be used to monitor and record the activities of individuals, often in
high definition and with ease. These systems therefore capture information about
identifiable individuals and how they behave which is likely to be personal data under data
protection law. Accordingly, the Information Commissioner’s Video Surveillance Guidance
has been factored into this policy, as BWV is a scenario where personal data will be
processed by a video surveillance system in the public sector.
SYSTEM OPERATOR
18. A person or persons that take a decision to deploy a surveillance camera system, and/or are
responsible for defining its purpose, and/or are responsible for the control of the use or
processing of images or other information obtained by virtue of such system.
SYSTEM USER
19. A person or persons who may be employed or contracted by the system operator who have
access to live or recorded images or other information obtained by virtue of such system.
BODY WORN VIDEO
20. A body worn video (BWV) device is an overt portal system that provides an audio, video or
photographic record of activities undertaken and/or witnessed by the wearer. This type of
surveillance therefore has the potential to be more intrusive than conventional CCTV
systems. Scenarios could include face to face on doorsteps and inside buildings such as
homes and shops which increases the risk of privacy intrusion to individuals.
AUTHORISED OFFICERS

17

RIPA Section 26(9)(a)
First published June 2013, amended November 2021
19
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Section 29(6)
20
https://www.ipt-uk.com/docs/IPT%20Judgment%20-%20AB%20v%20Hants%20Constabulary.pdf
18

9

117

21. The Council has authorised the use of BWV by specific teams and their named BWV
Officers21, who are required to undergo training, before and in order to be authorised. The
Council has also authorised specific officers to be given access to the BWV material, known
as BWV Authorised Officers.22
PUBLIC PLACE
22. A public place is any highway and any place to which at the material time, the public or any
section of the public has access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express
or implied permission.23 Please note, recordings of persons in public places are only public
for those present so therefore still have the potential to be private. Recorded conversations
between members of the public should always be considered private and consideration of a
person’s reasonable expectation of privacy is also relevant.
RELEVANT AUTHORITY
23. A relevant authority must have regard to the Surveillance Camera Code when exercising any
functions to which the code relates.24 For the purposes of fulfilling this statutory obligation,
a relevant authority includes a local authority within the meaning of the Local Government
Act 1972.25
FIRST MANDATORY TEST – IN PURSUIT OF A LEGITIMATE AIM
24. Examples of a legitimate aim and pressing need include:







national security;
public safety;
economic well-being of the country;
prevention or detection of crime and/or disorder;
protection of health or morals;
protection of rights and freedoms of others.

SECOND MANDATORY TEST – NECESSITY
25. Use of the surveillance camera system must be necessary for a pressing need(s). Any
deployment should not continue for longer than necessary.
THIRD MANDATORY TEST – PROPORTIONATE
26. The purpose of the deployment must be proportionate to what is sought to be achieved. For
example, is it proportionate to record both the visual and audio content of an incident? The
technical design solution for such deployment should be proportionate to the stated
purpose rather than driven by the availability of funding or technological innovation. The
decision as to the most appropriate technology should always consider the potential to meet
the stated purposed without unnecessary interference with human rights.
SURVEILLANCE CAMERA CODE OF PRACTICE
21

Appendix 4
Appendix 2
23
Public Order Act 1986 Section 16
24
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Section 33(1)
25
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Section 33(5)
22

10

118

27. The government is fully supportive of the use of overt surveillance camera systems in a
public place whenever the use is in pursuit of a legitimate aim, is necessary to meet a
pressing need, proportionate, effective, and compliant with any relevant legal obligations.
12 GUIDING PRINCIPLES
28. The starting point for a system operator in achieving the most appropriate balance between
public protection and individual human rights, is to adopt a single set of guiding principles
that are applicable to all surveillance camera systems in public places. The Code therefore
sets out 12 guiding principles that should apply to all surveillance camera systems in public
places:
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

SPECIFIED PURPOSE
EFFECT ON INDIVIDUALS & PRIVACY
TRANSPARENCY
CLEAR RESPONSIBILITY & ACCOUNTABILITY
CLEAR RULES, POLICIES & PROCEDURES
STORAGE
RESTRICTED ACCESS
STANDARDS
SECURITY MEASURES
REVIEW & AUDIT
USE IN MOST EFFECTIVE WAY
ACCURACY
29. Further assistance as to the 12 Guiding Principles is as follows:

1

SPECIFIED PURPOSE
30. Use of a surveillance camera system must always be for a specified purpose which is in
pursuit of a legitimate aim and necessary to meet an identified pressing need(s). The
purpose(s) should be capable of translation into clearly articulated objectives against which
the ongoing requirement for operation or use of the system(s) and any image(s) or other
information obtained can be assessed.
31. To determine if objectives are met and identifying the appropriate technical solution, a
system operator should always consider the requirements of the end user of the images,
particularly where the objective can be characterised as the prevention, detection, and
investigation of crime, where the end user is likely to be Legal Services Team and thereafter
the criminal justice system. Once the specified purpose has been met, the BWV must be
switched off.

2

EFFECT ON INDIVIDUALS & PRIVACY
32. The user of a surveillance camera system must take into account its effect on individuals and
their privacy, with regular annual reviews to ensure its use remains justified. BWV is a
surveillance camera system; thus, consideration must first be given as to whether there is a
less intrusive means than deploying the BWV. If not, the system operator must then
consider if it is necessary and proportionate to capture both the visual and audio content of
an incident.
11

119

3

TRANSPARENCY
33. There must be as much transparency in the use of a surveillance camera system as possible,
including a published contact point for access to information and complaints. The Council
has published a web page for the use of surveillance camera systems with specific reference
to BWV and CCTV, which includes the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.26
Transparency also requires informing the subject(s) you are capturing their personal data.

4

CLEAR RESPONSIBILITY & ACCOUNTABILITY
34. There must be clear responsibility and accountability for all surveillance camera system
activities including images and information collected, held, and used.

5

CLEAR RULES, POLICIES & PROCEDURES
35. Clear rules, policies and procedures must be in place before a surveillance camera system is
used and these must be communicated to all who need to comply with them.

6

STORAGE
36. No more images and information should be stored than that which is strictly required for the
stated purpose of a surveillance camera system and such images and information should be
deleted once their purposes have been discharged.

7

RESTRICTED ACCESS
37. Access to retained images and information should be restricted and there must be clearly
defined rules on who can gain access and for what purpose such access is granted; the
disclosure of images and information should only take place when it is necessary for such a
purpose or for law enforcement purposes.

8

STANDARDS
38. Surveillance camera system operators should consider any approved operational, technical
and competency standards relevant to a system and its purpose and work to meet and
maintain those standards.

9

SECURITY MEASURES
39. Surveillance camera system images and information should be subject to appropriate
security measures to safeguard against unauthorised access and use.

10

REVIEW & AUDIT
40. There should be effective review and audit mechanisms to ensure legal requirements,
policies and standards are complied with in practice, and regular reports should be
published.

11
26

USE IN MOST EFFECTIVE WAY

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/our-community/community-safety/cctv

12

120

41. When the use of a surveillance camera system is in pursuit of a legitimate aim, and there is a
pressing need for its use, it should then be used in the most effective way to support public
safety and law enforcement with the aim of processing images and information of evidential
value.
12

ACCURACY
42. Any information used to support a surveillance camera system which compares against a
reference database for matching purposes, should be accurate and kept up to date.

PROCESSING PERSONAL DATA BY VIDEO SURVEILLANCE SYSTEMS
STAUTORY FRAMEWORK
43. Surveillance camera systems capture information about identifiable individuals and how
they behave which is likely to be personal data under data protection law. The recently
published Information Commissioner’s Office Guidance on Video Surveillance27 provides
guidance for public authorities operating video surveillance systems that view or record
individuals, including BWV. Information held by organisations that is classed as personal
data relating to identifiable living individuals is covered by the UK General Data Protection
Regulation (UK GDPR) and Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA). The seven UK GDPR principles
for processing personal data are28:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)
vi)
vii)

Lawfulness, fairness, and transparency;
Purpose limitation;
Data minimisation;
Accuracy;
Storage limitation;
Integrity and confidentiality;
Accountability

CONTROLLER
44. The Controller is responsible for and must be able to demonstrate compliance with the
seven principles set out above. The Council exercises overall control of the personal data of
identifiable individuals being processed, thus it is the “controller,” of its surveillance system.
EBC has therefore previously notified and paid the data protection fee29 to the Information
Commissioner’s Office.
LAWFUL BASIS
45. In order to process personal data obtained from the Council’s surveillance systems at least
one of the six lawful30 bases must apply:

27

ICO Guidance on Video Surveillance 24/2/2022
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/key-dp-themes/guidance-on-video-surveillance/
28

UK GDPR 2016 NO 679, Article 5 – Principles relating to processing of personal data
Data Protection (Charges and Information) Regulations 2018
30
General Data Protection Regulation, Article 6(1)(a)-(f)
29

13

121

a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

Consent;
Contract;
Legal obligation;
Vital interests;
Public task;
Legitimate interests;

46. It is likely the appropriate lawful basis will be legal obligation or reliance on a public task as
BWV will be carried out as part of the Council’s tasks as a public authority in the public
interest.
SPECIAL CATEGORY & CRIMINAL CONVICTION DATA
47. Two further lawful bases for processing data are:



Special Category Data
Criminal Conviction Data

Require identification of Article 9 UK GDPR condition
Requires compliance with Article 10 UK GDPR

NECESSARY
48. Processing must be objectively necessary for the stated purpose. Many of the lawful bases
for processing depend on the processing being necessary but it does not require processing
to be absolutely essential. It must be more than just useful and standard practice.
PROPORTIONATE
49. Is the use of the surveillance system proportionate or is there a less privacy intrusive method
of achieving the need where possible? If not, explain why these alternatives are not suitable
or sustainable.
PERSONAL DATA
50. Personal data means any information relating to an identified or identifiable natural person
(‘data subject’); an identifiable natural person is one who can be identified, directly or
indirectly, in particular by reference to an identifier such as a name, an identification
number, location data, an online identifier or to one or more factors specific to the physical,
physiological, genetic, mental, economic, cultural or social identity of that natural person.31
Any recorded image and speech captured, which is aimed at identifying a particular person
or learning about their activities, is personal data and so is governed by the Data Protection
Act 2018.
SPECIAL (SENSITIVE) DATA
51. The UK GDPR defines special category data as:




31

personal data revealing racial or ethnic origin;
personal data revealing political opinions;
personal data revealing religious or philosophical beliefs;
personal data revealing trade union membership;

General Data Protection Regulation, Article 4(1)

14

122







genetic data;
biometric data (where used for identification purposes);
data concerning health;
data concerning a person’s sex life; and
data concerning a person’s sexual orientation

52. This does not include personal data about criminal allegations, proceedings or
convictions, as separate rules apply.
BIOMETRIC DATA
53. Biometric data means personal data resulting from special technical processing relating to
the physical, physio-logical, or behavioural characteristics of a natural person, which allow or
confirm the unique identification of that natural person, such as facial images or
dactyloscopic (fingerprint) data.32
ACCOUNTABILITY
54. The accountability principle requires the Council to take responsibility of what it does with
personal data, how it complies with the other principles and remains an obligation
throughout the life of the processing. These principles include the requirements to33:




implement technical and organisational measures to ensure and demonstrate
compliance with UK GDPR;
ensure the measures are risk-based and proportionate; and
review and update the measures as necessary

DATA PROTECTION BY DESIGN & DEFAULT
55. This concept requires the Council to consider data protection and privacy issues at the
earliest stages of project planning.
PROCESSING RECORDS
56. The Council is required to maintain a record34 of the processing activities taking place, which
should include the purpose(s) of the lawful use of surveillance, any data sharing agreements,
and the retention periods of any personal data.
DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA)
57. Prior to implementing this Policy, the Council has undertaken a Data Protection Impact
Assessment to fully address its use of BWV which addressed any impact on the rights and
freedoms of individuals whose personal data is captured. Further, the Council will
undertake a Data Protection Impact Assessment for any processing that is likely to result in a
high risk to individuals. That includes:


processing special category data;

32

General Data Protection Regulation, Article 4(14)
General Data Protection Regulation, Article 24(1)
34
General Data Protection Regulation, Article 30(1)
33

15

123




monitoring publicly accessible places on a large scale; or
monitoring individuals in a workplace

58. The above scenarios are unlikely to occur in relation to the use of BWV, save for the first
example. The remaining two scenarios are more applicable to the Council’s use of CCTV.35 If
a DPIA is undertaken, the Council will consider both the likelihood and the severity of any
impact on individuals and the reasonable expectations of the individuals whose personal
data is processed and the potential impact on their rights and freedoms.
59. The considerations and mitigations must be included in the DPIA prior to any deployment of
a surveillance system that is likely to result in high risk to individuals. If high risks cannot be
mitigated, prior consultation with the ICO is required.
60. Guidance as to what the DPIA should contain is found in the ICO’s Video Surveillance
Guidance,36 along with a DIPA template or Surveillance Cameras37 and guidance for
conducting DPIAs.38 Similarly, if the Council determines a DPIA is not required, the reasons
the processing is not of a type likely to result in high risk must be documented.39
PROCESSING PERSONAL DATA
61. The Council must ensure the personal data processed from the BWV is:




adequate - sufficient to properly fulfil the stated purpose;
relevant - has a rational link to the purpose; and
limited to what is necessary - you do not hold more than you need for that purpose

FAIR PROCESSING OF DATA
62. The Data Protection Act 2018 requires that the data subject must be informed of:




the identity of the data controller;
the purpose(s) for which the footage is intended to be processed; and
any further information that is necessary for processing to be fair.

RETENTION
63. Once the recording has been completed, it is potential evidence for use in an investigation/
prosecution and/or complaint. All images from BWV have the potential for use in court
proceedings, whether they provide evidence helpful to the prosecution or defence. The
BWV product must therefore be safeguarded by an audit trail in the same way as other
evidence retained for court, to ensure the defendant has a right to a fair trial.40 Once it
becomes clear the purpose for which the images were taken is no longer valid or no longer

35

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2585/cctv-code-of-practice-2016.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/key-dp-themes/guidance-on-videosurveillance-0-0.pdf
37
Appendix 3
38
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protectionregulation-gdpr-1-1.pdf
39
ICO’s Video Surveillance Guidance – Screening Checklists
40
ECHR Article 6
36

16

124

exists, the possibility the photographs could be of some legitimate use in the future is
generally insufficient to justify continuing retention.
RETENTION PERIOD

64. There is no prescribed minimum or maximum retention period for surveillance systems, or
the personal data processed from the recorded product. Instead, it is the purpose of the
processing that should determine the retention period. In order to provide sufficient time
for checks to be undertaken as to whether the footage is required for an investigation,
prosecution, complaint, or appeal, the shortest time and therefore minimum period the
Council initially requires retention of the footage is 6 months.
RETENTION CHECKS
65. During the 6 month retention period, officers must take all reasonable steps to ensure the
recorded material (images, video and/or audio) is not required as evidence in any
investigation/prosecution/complaint, in order to determine if and how long to retain the
material for. If the retention check confirms the footage is not required as evidence, it must
be deleted once the decision is made. If the footage is required as evidence, it must be
retained beyond the 6 month retention period for a period determined by whether it is an
investigation or prosecution and in accordance with Disclosure obligations.
STORAGE OF DATA
66. Recordings must be securely held in accordance with the Council’ storage procedures, in
order to maintain the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the information to ensure
the Council protects the rights of the individuals recorded by the BWV and can use the
information effectively for its intended purpose. Video recordings must not be tampered
with, lost, or accidentally destroyed. Images should be stored and retained so they are
retrievable and accessible for replay and viewing and kept in an environment that will not be
detrimental to the quality or capacity for future viewing. The information should be stored
in a way that makes it easy to identify, locate and retrieve relating to a specific individual or
event.
RESTRICTED ACCESS & DATA ENCRYPTION
67. Access to the BWV’s recorded product is restricted to the Council’s BWV Officers41 and video
recordings should be protected if the device is lost. Both the Information Commissioner’s
Office (ICO) and Biometrics & Surveillance Camera Commissioner (SCC) recommend
encryption as an effective way to achieve data security.
68. The image file or indeed the whole drive can be encrypted so that the file cannot be opened
except with the correct decryption key. This has particular value if images are to be
transmitted to or from remote sites. Encryption does not change the data contained within
the file. Loss or corruption of the encryption key may make files unrecoverable. Encryption
systems that progressively decrypt on demand, rather than decrypting the whole file prior to
replay may affect image quality on replay systems with low processing power.

41

Appendix 4

17

125

69. Some systems will employ a form of encryption known as Digital Rights Management (DRM)
that prevents access to the file without the correct credentials.
DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES FOR HANDLING DIGITAL IMAGES & EVIDENCE
70. The following data protection principles42 are most relevant when handling digital images
and evidence:





Principle 3 (Relevance) - Data must be adequate, relevant, and not excessive in relation
to the purpose for which it is processed.
Principle 5 (Retention) - Data should only be retained for as long as it is necessary for the
purpose it was originally collected. Policies should be in place setting out standard
periods of retention.
Principle 6 (Security) - Appropriate security measures should be in place to protect
personal data.

71. It should be noted that the requirements of Principle 5 (Retention) must be harmonised with
the retention requirements in the CPIA and Information Management.
72. Images should also be protected from accidental deletion by the careful handling of media.
Media should be stored in clean, dry environments and kept away from strong magnetic
fields, strong light and chemical contamination.
SECURITY MEASURES
73. The Council’s implementation of appropriate technical and organisational security measures
includes:








any ability to make copies of information is restricted to appropriate staff;
ensuring that there are sufficient controls and safeguards in place if the system is
connected to or made are available across a network;
where information is disclosed to a third party, it can be safely delivered to the intended
recipient
control rooms and rooms where information is stored are secure;
training staff in security procedures with sanctions against staff who misuse surveillance
system information
awareness of staff that they could be committing a criminal offence if they misuse
surveillance system information;
being aware of any software updates (particularly security updates) published by the
equipment’s manufacturer that need to be applied to the Council’s system or any other
devices connected to it or both

74. The Council will document procedures and review them annually in conjunction with the
annual review of this Policy.
PERIODIC REVIEW OF SYSTEM
75. The Council will undertake a periodic review every quarter of its BWV system’s effectiveness
to ensure it is still doing what it was intended to do. Further, CDs, DVDs, digital tapes and so
42

Data Protection Act 2018, Part 3, Chapter 2

18

126

on are designed for short-to-medium term storage periods. To ensure the integrity of the
data the files need to be transferred to new media regularly, possibly as often as every 5
years, or transferred to professionally managed data management archive systems. Data on
these systems needs periodic review to ensure that the format is still accessible with
currently available software and codecs
DELETION/DISPOSAL
76. The Council has measures in place to ensure the permanent deletion of information through
secure methods. No image obtained for the purpose of an investigation should be deleted
without authority and completion of audit trails should be undertaken once statutory
retention periods are completed, in accordance with the Council’s Data Retention Policy43.
PRIVACY INFORMATION
77. In addition to requiring clear signage, verbal announcements, or lights/indicators on the
device itself, the ICO requires a readily available Privacy Policy accessible on the Council’s
website. If appropriate, the BWV user should direct the individual to the Council’s Privacy
Notice and Local Area Services Privacy Policy.44

TECHNICAL GUIDANCE FOR BODY WORN VIDEO DEVICES
78. The Council has also considered and incorporated the Home Office Technical Guidance for
Body Worn Video Device 45 along with the recently published ICO Video Surveillance
Guidance which has to an extent superseded the Home Office Technical Guidance. The
Council has also considered and incorporated the Home Office Digital Imaging & Multimedia
Procedure (DIMP) V346 (16 November 2021) into this Policy.
STORAGE OF EQUIPMENT
79. When equipment is not in use, it should be securely stored in a suitable Council location.
Each BWV Officer is assigned a BWV device which is electronically assigned to the BWV
Officer during the “Booking Out,” process. This process includes the option to retain the
booked out user and also automatically creates an electronic contemporaneous issue and
returns log when the device is taken or put back into the docking system.
DURABILITY
80. Devices should be suitably robust and function effectively in their operational environment.
INTEGRITY

43

https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Retention-and-disposal-schedule
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy ; https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy/privacy-notices-for-serviceareas ; https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/3925/cctv-privacy-notice.pdf
45
Published July 2018, Publication No 012/18
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746287/t
echnical-guidance-body-worn-video-01218p.pdf
46
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/digital-investigations-digital-imaging-and-multimediaprocedure/digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure-v30
44

19

127

81. The user should be confident the device has correctly produced the recording. Further, one
of the fundamental requirements of digital imaging is the need to safeguard the integrity of
images; part of this process involves an audit trail being started at the earliest stage. This
may be as a written audit trail, and/or incorporate an auto-generated electronic audit trail
mapping the movement and changes of files on computers. When relating to third party
images, the audit trail should begin at, and detail, the point of transfer.
82. The audit trail may be written and/or incorporate an auto-generated electronic audit trail
mapping the movement and changes of files on computers. The audit trial should include
the following information (with date and time of action) when available and if appropriate:



























details of the case;
classification of the image(s) (and any special handling instructions, if relevant) and the
name of the person who classified the image;
if the image is third-party generated, information about point of transfer including
whether the image is the Master, a Working Copy or an exhibit derived from a Working
Copy;
information about capture equipment and/or hardware and software used, including
details of the maintenance log relating to capture equipment and calibration of hardware
and software;
Licence Identity of the capture operative including third parties and image retrieval
officers, where applicable;
Where third party data is requested:
 letter to third party
 explanatory note
 third party response letter
details of exhibits and disclosure officer(s);
description of the images captured, including sequencing;
details of retrieval or seizure process and point of transfer, if applicable;
creation and defining of the Master Copy and associated metadata;
storage of the Master Copy;
any access to the Master Copy;
viewing of the Master and Working Copies, including a record of any associated viewing
logs;
details and reasons for any selective capture;
any editing applications which may alter the image;
any details of processing applications allowing replication by a comparatively trained
individual;
electronic history log of processing applications;
any copying required to ensure preservation and longevity of the data;
revelation to the CPS of the Master and Working Copies;
any copying carried out as part of a migration strategy to ensure the replay longevity of
the image;
disposal details and retention time periods;
hash value or equivalent at point of receipt;
reason for collection or receipt of the imagery

DATA TRANSFER TO BACK OFFICE SYSTEM
83. Video recordings should be transferred off the device as soon as is possible.
20

128

84. The Council’s BWV system provides the option to allocate Personal Issue during the Booking
Out process (see para. 79) and all BWV Officers are required to use the Personal Issue
option. The BWV footage is downloaded onto a secure system when placed back into the
docking station. The system identifies during the data transfer uploading process the status
of the upload via its progress bar and visual images. Once complete the device indicates
“Upload Complete,” following which the footage will automatically be deleted from the
device.
VIDEO DATA
85. To facilitate the use of the recordings for investigations and appeals and so on, the video
data should be part of a package, containing the following information:





clear identification of the image sequence or sequences
an easily-read text file stating any requirements for special hardware or software for
replay
all associated metadata (time and date should be bound to the relevant images)
licence-free software enabling the sequences to be viewed correctly

86. Other items that could be included:
 text data about the originating camera or system
 audit trails
 authentication or verification software
 short test sequence to confirm that the recorded image sequences are being replayed
correctly
 Contact details for the Council’s Data Protection Officer in case of media being lost /
found
87. The Council’s BWV system deals with these requirements by providing the following
electronic audit trails:
FEATURE
Audit Log
Booking Log
Reports

Camera Booking
Log
User’s Activity
User’s Uploading
Statistics

SUMMARY
Filter option by date range, user or action
Who booked out, location, personal issue or not
Model, date added to DEMS 360, date decommissioned if
Applicable, last recording date, last booking date, current booking
date, booker user and allocated location if applicable
Activity for every camera, booking state, user, location and full
booking history
Number of uploaded files, deleted files, burned files, exported files
and snapshots created
Count of following files:
non-evidential, evidential, deleted, total,
Total duration and total size

STILL IMAGES
88. In general, still images are stored in widely supported formats and there is no need for
viewing software to be stored with the images, but where proprietary formats are used then
21

129

the viewing software should be included on the media in line with the information given
above for sequences.
REUSABLE MEMORY
89. The Council’s BWV system process to transfer data from the device to the system is set out
above (see paragraph 83-84). Once images are transferred the reusable medium is
automatically reformatted/sanitized to remove all of the previous image files in preparation
for reuse.
NETWORK
90. The Council’s BWV system network is Reveal DEMS 360.

BODY WORN VIDEO PROCESSES
91. BWV cameras might be small, but they are not to be worn or used in a covert/hidden
manner.
PRE-LAUNCH ADVERTISING
92. The Council will commence a pre-launch advertising campaign by publishing details on EBC’s
website47. This will inform the residents and businesses within the Borough that the Council
intends to launch use of BWV devices by authorised officers.
UNIFORM & POSITIONING OF BWV
93. The Council’s use of BWV will be reiterated by officers wearing a symbol/sign on their
uniform. Further, the BWV device will be in a prominent position (normally on their chest)
and the officer will ensure that its forward-facing display is visible to persons being
recorded.
START OF SHIFT PROCEDURE
94. All BWV Users will be issued with their own device at the commencement of their shift and
the device’s electronic Booking Out process will be completed to identify the user.
MAINTENANCE OF EQUIPMENT
95. The user must ensure the equipment is in working order before commencing duty and any
malfunction of equipment must be reported.48 These checks should ensure:




47
48

the unit is correctly assembled;
recording picture is the right way up;
sound recording level is appropriate to use and the system date and time stamp is accurate.
operator adjustable settings are made appropriately;
the system time and date settings are correct;

Insert link to Website page
To be reported to Parking Operations Team Leader) or Local Response Officer Team Leader

22

130




if the equipment is battery operated the internal battery is fully charged;
a scheme of checks is carried out before deployment particularly for equipment that is used
less frequently

96. It is essential that time and date settings are correct. Any inconsistencies should be
documented, and the equipment monitored to ensure that further drift of these settings
does not occur.
DECISION TO RECORD AN INCIDENT
97. Recordings must be incident specific and should only be made in situations where the BWV
user would previously have made a written record of the encounter for example in their
pocket notebook and/or within a statement. BWV users must not record beyond what is
necessary for their deployed specified purpose in order to ensure the recording is not
excessive.
GENERAL PATROLLING
98. Recordings should not be made of general patrolling duties or entire patrols unless it is part
of a specific operation/incident.
AUDIO RECORDING
99. When deciding whether to record the audio content, consideration must be given to the
Code’s Guiding Principle 2 (Effect on Individual & Privacy) and whether it is proportionate.
BWV users should not normally use surveillance systems (BWV) to directly record
conversations between members of the public as this is highly intrusive and will require
greater justification. The ICO guidance states the BWV user should switch off by default any
capability to record audio, to be activated for example by a trigger switch.
100. Audio recordings should only be used when the BWV user has:




Identified a particular need or issue and can evidence that this need must be addressed
by audio recording;
Considered other less privacy intrusive methods of achieving this need;
Reviewed the other less privacy intrusive methods and concluded these will not
appropriately address the identified issue and the only way to do so is through the use
of audio recording.

101. The BWV user should then take additional steps to make it clear to individuals that audio
recording is taking place in addition to any visual recording.
WHEN TO START RECORDING
102. Recordings should commence at the start of any deployment to an incident and should
continue uninterrupted until the incident is concluded, either because of resumption of
normal patrolling or because recording has commenced through another video system (e.g.,
town centre CCTV).
VERBAL ANNOUNCEMENT PRIOR TO RECORDING

23

131

103. Prior to switching on the BWV, the user must wherever possible/practicable verbally
announce to the data subject(s) of an encounter of:






the date, time, and location;
video and audio recording is taking/is going to take place using BWV;
purpose(s) for which the footage is intended to be processed/nature of the incident to
which the user is deployed;
confirmation to those present that the incident is now being recorded using both video
and audio;
Any further information that is necessary for processing to be fair.

104. If this is not practicable due to an on-going incident, then the announcement should be
made as soon as possible afterwards. Similarly, if the recording has started prior to the
user’s arrival at the scene of the incident, they should as soon as practicable announce to
those present that recording is taking place and that their actions and sounds are being
recorded. Announcements should be made using straightforward language such as:




I am audio and video recording you;
I am audio and video recording this incident;
Everything you say and do is being recorded.

BUFFER RECORDING
105. Some BWV devices offer the ability to continuously buffer recording so if the device is
turned on, it may also have recorded the previous few seconds. The BWV user must ensure
any buffered recording is not excessive and the user only records the amount of footage
intended to be captured.
SELECTIVE CAPTURE
106. When recording an incident, it is likely that BWV users will encounter victims, suspects and
witnesses as well as recording the visual evidence of the scene. Selective capture is a means
by which users may separate encounters with each of these types of persons or occurrence
in order to allow for easier retrieval and disclosure at a later time. For example, a Council
officer may record an encounter with a witness that includes their name and address, then
this section should not be shown to the suspect and/or their legal representative.
BOOKMARKING
107. Bookmarking may not always be practicable and so should only be attempted if the
situation is calm and the BWV user is easily able to undertake this technique. Prior to any
temporary suspension for the purpose of bookmarking, the user should make a verbal
announcement for the purpose of the recording to clearly state the reason for briefly
suspending recording. Following the pause, the BWV user should also announce they have
recommenced recording. The bookmarking process will be demonstrated on the final whole
recording of the incident by a missing section for a few seconds. In creating the master disk
exhibit for court, the user must include all bookmarked sections for the incident as one
complete master recording of the incident.
VERBAL ANNOUCMENT PRIOR TO ENDING OF RECORDING

24

132

108. The user should continue to record for a short period after the incident to clearly
demonstrate to any subsequent viewer that the incident has concluded. Prior to concluding
the recording, the BWV user should make a verbal announcement to indicate the reason for
ending the recording, which should include:



Date, time, and location; and
Reason for concluding the recording.

BWV IN PRIVATE DWELLINGS
109. If a BWV user is called to attend a private dwelling, the need to record the incident will
have to be far greater in order for the use of the BWV to be both justified and proportionate
and the reasoning will have to be evidenced. The requirement for the BWV user to,
whenever practicable, make a verbal announcement that recording is taking place is
particularly important when in a private dwelling, such as attending a home address
regarding a complaint of noise nuisance or anti-social behaviour. The rights of individuals to
respect for private and family life49 must be carefully considered when considering whether
to use BWV in a private dwelling, as it is likely to be particularly intrusive, especially during
the times of day when occupants are likely to be in bed.
110. BWV users should therefore exercise their discretion and only record when it is relevant to
the incident and necessary for gathering evidence, where other reasonable means of doing
so are not available and the recording is relevant to the incident.
111. Officers may find that one party objects to the recording taking place, for example where it
is a noise nuisance complaint from a tenant in a shared let property. In such circumstances,
officers should continue to record while explaining the reasons for recording continuously,
such as:










an incident has occurred requiring Council officers to attend;
there is a requirement to secure best evidence of any offences that have occurred
whether this is in writing or on video, the video evidence will be more accurate and
higher quality and therefore it is in the interests of all parties to record it, such as the
level of noise created by a shared occupancy tenant playing excessively loud music over
a prolonged period, in order to prove the noise is a statutory nuisance;
continuing to record would safeguard both parties, with a true and accurate recording of
any significant statement made by either party and of the scene;
the incident may reoccur in the immediate future;
continuing to record will safeguard the officer against any potential allegations from
either party;
any non-evidential material will be retained for a maximum of 6 months only;
the material is restricted and cannot be disclosed to third parties without the subject’s
express authority, unless prescribed and permitted by law;
recorded material is Council information and can be accessed on request in writing in
according with Freedom of Information Requests, unless and exemption applies and is
also accessible by a subject access request.

112. If at any point it becomes clear the incident would no longer be the subject matter of an
entry in the officer’s pocket notebook, then the officer should cease recording. Footage
49

Article 8 ECHR

25

133

taken in private dwellings should be deleted as soon as is practicable once it has been
checked and confirmed it is not relevant to any criminal investigation/prosecution or
complaint.
WITNESS FIRST ACCOUNTS
113. If the BWV user is approached by victims or witnesses who are giving their first account of
the crime, the BWV user may record the encounter which should be treated as an evidential
recording. The first account is principally about determining any action that is immediately
necessary. Officers should only ask questions as are necessary to:





establish if an offence has been committed;
establish where it occurred and who was responsible;
assess the current risk to the victim(s) and witness(es);
identify and prioritise areas of the investigation

114. Such recordings do not replace the need for formal written statements from victims or
witnesses but are to be used as supporting evidence. If multiple witnesses wish to give their
accounts to a Council officer wearing a BWV, then wherever practicable, witnesses should
be kept physically separate to avoid contaminating descriptions or other evidence.
115. The bookmarking process should be adopted so that individual accounts can be easily
separated. In addition to producing the footage of the first accounts, officers would also be
required to produce a statement of the first account. If the victim does not consent to be
video recorded, the BWV user may consider diverting the camera away from the victim,
disconnecting the camera or obscuring the lenses and recording the encounter only using
the audio facility. The explicit consent of the victim must be obtained prior to beginning
either form of the recording.
SCENE REVIEW AND PREMISES SEARCHING
116. BWV can also be used to record the location of objects and evidence at a crime scene
and/or during the search of premises.
LIMITATIONS ON USE
117. BWV recordings are not appropriate in certain circumstances such as:





Legal privilege – e.g., consultation with suspect and his/her solicitor;
Private dwellings – there must be clear justification for using BWV and the user must
not record beyond what is justifiable, lawful, necessary, and proportionate for the
evidential requirements of the case;
BWV should not be used for formal investigative interviews (PACE interviews) with
certain witnesses, nor may it be used for interviewing suspects;
Users should exercise care in using BWV where it may cause serious offence, for
example during religious worship

END OF SHIFT

26

134

118. BWV users must ensure any BWV footage confirmed during the course of their shift to be
required for evidential purposes, is correctly bookmarked and any Incident Report is
completed.
119. BWV officers are individually responsible for ensuring their allocated BWV device is
correctly connected to the docking station to enable downloading and charging at the
conclusion of their shift.
REFERRAL TO POLICE
120. For incidents where the police were not in attendance, a BWV Authorising Officer50 will
review the footage in consultation with the BWV Officer to decide whether a referral to the
police is appropriate. If a decision is made not to refer the incident to the police, the BWV
footage shall be uploaded in the usual way and retained for 6 months. If a decision is made
to refer the incident to the police it is reported via 101, including the fact there is BWV
footage. If the police pursue an investigation they request the footage via a DP2 Form; the
footage is downloaded from the system onto an encrypted USB, uploaded to the standalone
DEMS PC and sent to the police via DEMS. The fact of the police referral is recorded within
the Council’s Health and Safety Incident Record and therefore it is not necessary to maintain
a separate BWV police referral register.

SAFEGUARDING BODY WORN VIDEO DATA
121. The Council has considered and adopted the principles contained in the Home Office
Safeguarding Body Worn Video Data.51
DATA RECORDED BY BWV DEVICES
122. BWVs record both video and audio content and have wide angle lenses to capture events
across a broad field of view, which is likely to result in capturing information that is either
not crucial to and/or relevant to the investigation, is deemed collateral intrusion and may
additionally be sensitive data. The two categories of information captured by BWV are:
i)
ii)

Primary Information
Secondary Information

Intentionally recorded and relevant;
Unintentionally recorded and not relevant

123. Examples of Primary Information are first accounts from victims, suspects, or witnesses;
identification of a person; direct conversations with members of the public; decisions and
actions of the BWV User; peoples’ physical and mental state/demeanour/
actions; atmosphere during an incident; location of evidence; record of criminal activity.
Examples of Secondary Information which is unlikely to be relevant to an investigation are
private conversations between officers at the scene of an incident or family photos at the
premises of the victim which contains images of the victim’s children. This category of
information may also be sensitive as it relates to Operational Policing; Police and Emergency
Personnel; members of the Public.
50

APPENDIX 2
Published October 2018 – Publication No.011/18
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746254/
safeguarding-body-worn-video-data-01118o.pdf
51

27

135

124. The location of the BWV whilst recording may increase the risk of recording sensitive
information such as a hospital, place of worship, private home. BWV users should therefore
be aware of their device’s potential to capture secondary information, in particular sensitive
information and greater discretion may be required when recording in special locations.
CONSEQUENCES OF LOST BWV DATA
125. It is vital all BWV data is securely retained in order to avoid it being lost and/or accessed by
unauthorised personnel. Any data breach must be reported to the Data Protection Officer,
who will determine if the incident needs reporting to the ICO. Measures which can assist in
safeguarding data are:






Physical security of BWV devices;
Protecting Data on BWV devices;
Transferring data to back office system;
Tagging and organising data;
Asset management of BWV devices

USE OF MATERIAL AS EVIDENCE
126. When producing any form of digital evidence, it is essential Home Office Digital Imaging &
Multimedia Procedure (DIMP) V352 (16 November 2021) is followed.
MASTER COPY
127. The Core principle of the Digital Imaging & Multimedia Procedure (DIMP) V3 is the creation
of an identifiable, isolated, and suitably stored Master reference copy at the earliest
opportunity, known as the Master Copy, which must be stored securely, pending its
production (if required) at court in evidence as an exhibit. The exact method of storage is to
an extent unimportant, provided it can be shown the Master is unchanged from the moment
of its definition in order to confirm the authenticity of the evidence relied upon in
proceedings. The Council’s Master Copy is currently, and will remain, stored on a separate
secure PC with restricted access and the laptop is located in a locked room with restricted
access.
128. The Master Copy may be stored as a physical item or purely in digital form. The DIMP
guidance acknowledges the benefits of storing both the Master and Working Copy on a
secure server instead of a physical WORM (Write Once Read Many) media such as CDs and
DVDs. The Council’s secure server environment is the Reveal DEMS (Digital Evidence
Management System). The Master Copy should not be used, except to produce additional
Working Copies when no other Working Copies are available to copy, or by order of the
court to establish authenticity.
129. The Master must be:

52

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/digital-investigations-digital-imaging-and-multimediaprocedure/digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure-v30

28

136







Labelled or named (with due care to the longevity and readability of label and of
medium);
Preserved in a form and manner with software if required, so that the images may
be viewed in the future;
Stored in a manner that prevents alteration or accidental erasure; this can be by
either physical or electronic means;
Kept in accordance with the exhibit protocol;53
Not used, except to make further copies, in whole or in part, together with an
appropriate adult trail, or by order of the court to verify authenticity. If viewed
directly, suitable write-protection must be in place.

130. The Master should be designated at the point at which the data is under Council control
and has been stored according to the conditions described above. There may be
intermediate steps between the initial capture and the designation of the Master Copy,
involving for example transmission or the use of a transfer medium. There must be an
accompanying audit trail showing its provenance. All use and movement of the Master must
be logged in the audit trail.
WORKING COPY
131. Officers must create a working copy from the original media for use during the
investigation process, for service in evidence and disclosure. The Working Copy is usually
produced simultaneously or immediately after the Master is defined and is the version to be
used for investigation and to assist in the preparation of the prosecution file, if the matter
progresses to commencing criminal proceedings. Significant use, enhancement and
distribution of Working Copies should be logged to support the presentation of evidence. If
the quality of the original recording (video or audio) requires enhancement, this work should
be undertaken using the working copy. At the conclusion of the processing, a copy must be
sealed as a master version of the incident post-enhancement. Statements dealing with the
technical enhancement process and continuity trail will be required.
132. Working Copies produced for the investigation, technical investigation, briefings,
circulation, and preparation of prosecution evidence and defence can be in any of the forms
described:
 digital file;
 hard copy stills from still or video cameras;
 edited video;
 enhanced still or video;
 converted to non-proprietary format
AUDIT TRAILS
133. All audit trails should be disposed of when image files and any analogue copies are
disposed of.
PLAYBACK
134. Playback will only be permitted and facilitated if formally requested in writing or verbally
requested. A playback record is automatically electronically recorded by the Reveal PC
53

See Criminal Procedure & Investigations Act 1996 Code of Practice; Retention, Storage and Destruction

29

137

software, hence a separate Playback Request Log is not required. If a request is made by a
Police Officer attending the incident or by another police officer subsequently involved in
the investigation, a playback request log can be generated and produced from the system.
CONTINUITY
135. In order to prove the authenticity and continuity of recordings, officers should produce
evidential continuity statements to confirm that any securely stored sealed master copy has
not been tampered with. The following content should be included in the statement:







Equipment serial number/identifying mark;
Day, date, and time the user took possession of the equipment (time A);
Day, date, time, and location the user commenced recording (time B);
Day, date, time, and location the user concluded recording (time C);
Day, date, time, and location that the master copy was created and retained in a
secure storage (time D);
If any other person had access to or used the equipment between times A, B or C
and time D (if so, a statement will be required from that person).

PREPARATION OF A PROSECUTION FILE
136. Officers responsible for file preparation for Legal Services should:


ensure that the Master is kept in suitable and secure conditions by the Council and
copies made available to the prosecution or defence, upon request;



be cognisant of any redaction requirements where personal data is not to be shared with
defence or third parties;



liaise with the relevant Legal Specialist at an early meeting to discuss the processes and
capture systems used, where relevant;



provide Legal Services with full information accompanying any evidential digital images,
this might include audit trails, maintenance logs, viewing logs and disclosure schedules;



list and describe any unused and/or un-viewed material clearly;



ensure that viewing logs used for moving images highlight relevant sequences;



provide Legal Services with accurate information about the preferred format for
revelation in order to reduce the loss of image quality;



consider the format in which the image is provided to Legal Services in order to facilitate
viewing and replay;



liaise with the Legal Specialist to ensure that viewing and replay is possible prior to trial.
It should be noted that it is often not practical to play the native format at court

EVIDENTIAL STATEMENTS
137. Any recording of an incident is likely to provide better evidence than an officer’s
recollection and subsequent pocket notebook note and statement. If the recording covers
the whole incident, it is not essential for the officer to produce a statement detailing the
entire incident as this is avoidable duplication. If two officers are present at the same
incident, whilst the other officer deals with the incident, the resultant recording can be
utilised as evidence for both officers as long as it shows the entire incident. The recording
officer should also make notes of the incident to cover any additional points that may be
30

138

outside the view of the camera as well as all evidential information required in the event of a
technical failure.
138. The statement must include details of the evidential audit trail for the production of the
master disk, and in order to assist both the prosecution and defence, it is advisable that the
statement producing the exhibit contains a summary paragraph outlining the evidential
aspects of the incident and the recording.
139. It is recommended the officer records each incident in its entirety from the time of
deployment to conclusion. If there is any break in the recording, details, and the reason for
this must be included in the officer’s statement.
140. BWV users should note that although a recording shows significant detail, some evidential
information may take place out of view or hearing of the camera or microphone. It is vital
all such additional information is recorded in statements so that the full detail of the
evidence is captured. It may therefore assist to provide a running commentary in the video
of evidence that you are aware of, but which is not captured, to assist subsequent viewers.
TECHNICAL FAILURE
141. In the event of technical failure of BWV equipment, it is vital the officer is still able to
provide the best possible evidence through a traditional witness statement. It is therefore
crucial the BWV user remains attentive throughout in order to ensure they can subsequently
recall all evidential aspects of the incident within a witness statement. If the equipment has
captured part of the incident, it should be produced in evidence and the remainder of the
incident be recorded within a witness statement.
EXHIBITS
142. All images should be presented so that evidential content is not compromised. Where
possible, images should be presented in their native or original format. If there is pertinent
material that can only be seen when the image is viewed in proprietary form then provision
should be made for appropriate playback equipment to be provided in court, if these
arrangements are not already in place. It should be understood that images may look
different depending on the transmission and display equipment used. In particular, images
viewed on different screens or by different media players may appear different from one
another. An accurate replay facility should be provided wherever possible.
TRANSCRIPTS
143. The BWV footage is produced as an exhibit by the BWV user, hence a transcript will rarely
be required, so for example if translation is required or the sound is of poor quality.
REDACTIONS
144. Redactions include editing/censoring/obstructing those parts of a recording that contain
collateral intrusion of non-suspects/third parties; sensitive information; expose police tactics
or compromise operational strategies. Redactions can be both audio and/or visual. This
may therefore require removing sections of a recording; concealing or masking visible
objects such as pixilating photos, blurring, masking or using a solid fill to completely obscure
parts of the footage; removing metadata and muting parts of the audio content.
31

139

COPIES
145. Copies of footage should be obtained when required, in a timely manner in a suitable
format, without losing image quality or time and date information.
THIRD PARTY DATA SHARING REGISTER
146. Any third party request for data must be in writing via a DP2 Form, or if due to the urgency
of the situation it may be made verbally. There is restricted access to the BWV system,
therefore the process of accessing, viewing, capturing and electronically sending the
requested BWV footage to any third party, cannot be dealt with by the Data Protection
Team. To ensure records are maintained, all Third Party Data Sharing requests must be
recorded firstly in the BWV Team Centrally Retrievable Electronic Third Party Data Sharing
Register54 and secondly, a copy of the DP2 must be provided to the Data Protection Team via
email55, on receipt and prior to it being processed and/or responded to.
DATA SHARING WITH OTHER AGENCIES
147. The Data Protection Act 201856 allows the sharing of material with a statutory partner
agency where it is necessary to prevent or detect crime or apprehend or prosecution
offenders. The Data Sharing Code of Practice57 was implemented by the Data Protection Act
201858 (DPA) and came into force on 5 October 2021. Once any required redactions have
taken place, the product of any BWV must not be shared unless it is accordance with a Data
Sharing Agreement. Once information is disclosed to a third party, they become the
controller for the copy they hold.
148. When providing data to the police, the system should allow the police to:





take receipt of evidential recordings in order to safeguard them;
replay the recordings in order to view and copy them;
make authentic (not materially different) copies in formats suitable for use
by investigators, Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) and the courts;
access viewing facilities if the original recording has to be viewed

149. The Council’s method for lawfully providing BWV data to third parties is by either
completing the DP2 Request form and providing a physical copy of the data onto an
encrypted USB or electronically via a DEMs upload to the police. It is intended that in due
course this process will be modified to permit the data to be transferred electronically,
enabling a direct link to an external upload to the police.
DATA SHARING WITH THE MEDIA
150. Sharing of BWV images to the media usually occurs in the course of a police investigation in
order to assist in tracing wanted suspects or locating people who have escaped from
54

Appendix 5
Data Protection Team email – dp@eastleigh.gov.uk
56
Data Protection Act 2018, Schedule 11, paragraph 2
57
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/ico-codes-of-practice/data-sharing-acode-of-practice-1-0.pdf
58
Data Protection Act 2018 Section 125
55

32

140

custody. Circumstances where the Council may wish to release BWV images is for a postconviction press release. There are specific restrictions to the principle of open justice.

151. Firstly, there is an automatic restriction on reporting information that identified or is likely
to identify any person under the age of 18 who is concerned in youth court proceedings as a
victim, witness, or defendant.59 Secondly, there is a discretionary power to restrict reporting
the identity of victims, witnesses, and defendants under the age of 18 who appear in
Magistrates’ Court or the Crown Court.60
152. The Council has considered and adopted the Protocol for working together: Chief Police
Officers, Chief Crown Prosecutors, and the Media61 to identify and determine Media Access
to Prosecution Materials. Prosecution material which has been relied upon (served) by the
prosecution in court and which can normally be released to the media includes:
 Maps/photographs (including custody photos of defendants)/diagrams and other
documents produced in court;
 Videos showing scenes of crime as recorded by police after the event;
 Videos of property seized (e.g., weapons, clothing as shown to jury in court, drug hauls
or stolen goods);
 Sections of transcripts of interviews/statements as read out (and therefore reportable,
subject to any orders) in court;
 Videos or photographs showing reconstructions of the crime;
 CCTV footage of the defendant, subject to any copyright issues.
153. Prosecution material which may be released after consideration by the Crown Prosecution
Service in consultation with the police and relevant victims, witnesses and family members
includes:




CCTV footage or photographs showing the defendant and victim, or the victim alone,
that has been viewed by jury and public in court, subject to any copyright issues;
Video and audio tapes of police interviews with defendants, victims, and witnesses;
Victim and witness statements.

154. Where a guilty plea is accepted and the case does not proceed to trial, then all the
foregoing principles apply. But to ensure that only material informing the decision of the
court is published, material released to the media must reflect the prosecution case and
must have been read out, or shown in open court, or placed before the sentencing judge.
PROVIDING COPIES/DISTRUBUTING BWV DATA
155. It will be necessary at times to provide copies of BWV recordings within the Council such as
to Legal Services or externally to third parties, including service of evidence to the defence
and court. A suitable summary of the evidence will suffice as initial details of the prosecution
case and it should only be necessary to provide copies to the defence in the case of an actual
or anticipated not guilty plea. It is important to recognise the master copy of the recorded
content is likely to including secondary and/or sensitive information which will require
59

Children & Young Persons Act 1933, Section 49
Youth Justice & Criminal Evidence Act 1999 Section 45
61
Protocol for working together: Chief Police Officers, Chief Crown Prosecutors, and the Media 2005
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/publicity-and-criminal-justice-system
60

33

141

redaction, such as the address of a witness. The redacted version will become the working
copy which is the version to be distributed/served.
SERVICE OF BWV PRODUCT
156. Consideration must also be given as to the appropriate form of service of the working copy
to safeguard the personal and/or sensitive data contained within it, such as via secure email
(cjsm) and/or requiring the recipient to sign an undertaking, if for example the content is
graphic. Regardless of the method, personal and/or sensitive data must be protected whilst
in transit.
SUBJECT ACCESS REQUEST
157. A Subject Access Request (SAR) is a request by or on behalf of an individual (the Data
Subject) either orally or in writing, for either confirmation as to whether the organisation is
using or storing their personal information and/or for example, to request a copy of the
BWV they are aware filmed the Data Subject.62 Please note, the BWV may form part of the
evidence or unused material in a live investigation/criminal proceedings. Further, the BWV
may include third party and/or sensitive data which may require redactions before and in
order to facilitate the SAR. In circumstances where it is known there is a live
investigation/complaint/criminal proceeding, the council officer with conduct of the SAR
must refer the request to the Data Protection Officer,63 to ensure the request does not
bypass the evidential or disclosure process and/or prejudice the proceedings. The Council
maintains a register of all SAR including those made verbally. This aspect of the Policy
should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Subject Access Request Policy64 and in
accordance with the BWV Third Party Data Sharing set out above, specifying who and how
any BWV is to be accessed and provided.
THE RIGHT OF ERASURE
158. Individuals have the right to have their personal data erased,65 which is also known as the
right to be forgotten. This right is not absolute and in the context of surveillance can apply
if:





The information is no longer necessary for the purpose which you originally collected or
processed it for;
You are relying on legitimate interests as your basis for processing, the individual objects
to the processing of their information and there is no overriding legitimate interest to
continue this processing;
You have processed the personal information unlawfully (i.e., in breach of the lawfulness
requirement); or
You have to erase it to comply with a specific legal obligation

159. There are circumstances where the right to erasure cannot be exercised as certain
exemptions apply. In the context of surveillance, this may include but it is not limited to:

62

UK GDPR Article 15(1)
Denise Johnson & Claire Brown
64
https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Data-Subject-Request-policy
65
UK GDPR Article 17(1)
63

34

142





Processing necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in
the exercise of official authority;
Certain research activities; or
Compliance with a specific legal obligation to process surveillance information

THE RIGHT OF RESTRICTION OF PROCESSING
160. Individuals have the right to restrict the processing of their personal data in certain
circumstances,66 so can limit the way in which their data is used, as an alternative to
requesting the erasure of their data. In the context of surveillance footage, this may be
because they have issues with the content of the information the Council holds or how it has
processed their data. In most cases, the Council will not be required to restrict an
individual’s personal data indefinitely but will need to have the restriction in place for a
certain period of time. The ways in which data can be restricted are:




Temporarily moving the data to another processing system;
Making the data unavailable to users; or
Temporarily removing published data from a website

SAR GUIDANCE CHECKLISTS
161. The Home Office Safeguarding Body Worn Video Data (2018) contains the following helpful
checklists for the Data Controller67:









SAR Checklist for Data Controller;
Visual Data Redaction – Disclosure Requirements
Visual Data Redaction Considerations;
Visual Data Redaction Techniques;
Audio Data Disclosure Requirements;
Audio Data Redaction Considerations;
Audio Data Redaction Techniques;
Output Video and Audio Data Considerations

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS
162. The Freedom of Information Act 2000 provides the public a general right of access to all
types of recorded information held by public authorities, which may include the digital and
audio content recorded by BWV devices. Public authorities include local authorities and
recorded information includes printed documents, computer files, letters, emails,
photographs, and sound or video recordings. There are two exemptions to relating to the
information about individuals68:



Is the information personal data of the requester? If so, then that information is exempt
from FOIA and instead the requester should make a Subject Access Request (SAR);
Is the information personal data of other people? If so, then the Council will only
disclose the information if:

66

UK GDPR Article 18(1)
Appendix 6
68
Freedom of Information Act 2000, Section 40
67

35

143

 First condition
principles;
 Second condition
 Third condition

disclosure does not contravene one of the data protection
disclosure does not contravene an objection to processing; and
the information is not exempt from the right of access

163. The Act does not give people access to their own personal data (information about
themselves) such as their health records or credit reference file. If a member of the public
wants to see information that a public authority holds about them, they should make a data
protection subject access request (SAR).
EXEMPTIONS TO FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS
164. Exemptions to the requirements to disclosure information include:





National security69;
Investigations or proceedings70;
Law enforcement71;
Personal information72

UNLAWFUL DISCLOSURE TO THIRD PARTIES
165. It is an offence73 for a person, knowingly or recklessly, –
(a) to obtain or disclose personal data without the consent of the controller
(b) to procure the disclosure of personal data to another person without the consent of the
controller; or
(c) after obtaining personal data, to retain it without the consent of the person who was
the controller or in relation to the personal data when it was obtained.
166. These offences are triable either way and punishable by way of a fine74. The statutory
defences available are contained in Section 170(2) and (3) of the Data Protection Act 2018.

DISCLOSURE DUTIES & OBLIGATIONS
167. In addition to considering document storage, retention and destruction, officers must also
consider their Disclosure Duties & Obligations. The statutory framework for disclosure is
Criminal Procedure & Investigations Act 1996, Criminal Procedure & Investigations Act Code
of Practice75 & Surveillance Camera Code of Practice.76
168. There is a duty to record, retain and review material created and/or obtained during an
investigation, which includes retaining both the used and unused images/audio content of
69

Freedom of Information Act 2000, Section 24
Freedom of Information Act 2000, Section 30
71
Freedom of Information Act 2000, Section 31
72
Freedom of Information Act 2000, Section 40
73
Data Protection Act 2018, Section 170(1)
74
Data Protection Act 2018, Section 196(2)
75
Last revised 2015
76
Surveillance Camera Code of Practice, Revised November 2021
70

36

144

BWV recordings. The Disclosure Officer (DO) is responsible for disclosure within the
investigation. Their disclosure obligations begin at the start of the investigation, and it
remains a continuing duty to conduct a thorough investigation and manage all material
appropriately. There is also a duty to follow all reasonable lines of inquiry whether they
point towards or away from a suspect.
169. Unused material is material that is relevant but does not form part of the prosecution case.
Relevant material is anything that appears to have some bearing on any offence under
investigation, or any person being investigated, or on the surrounding circumstances
unless it is capable of having an impact on the case.
170. The DO has a duty to review unused material and compile Disclosure Schedules containing
Unused Material. There are two types of Schedules of Unused Material. Firstly a Schedule
of Non-Sensitive Unused Material77 which is disclosable to the defence and must be
provided to the defence either as part of Initial Disclosure and thereafter subsequent
schedules or updates provided to the defence. The second is the Schedule of Sensitive
Unused Material,78 which is not disclosable to the defence due to its contents.
171. In compiling the schedules, the DO must assess each item to determine if it meets the
Disclosure Test. The Disclosure Test requires the prosecution to provide the defence copies
or access to any material which might reasonably be considered capable of undermining the
prosecution case and/or assisting the defence, which has not been previously disclosed.
172. Once the relevant Schedules of Unused Material have been provided, the prosecutor has a
duty to review the schedules and relevant documents, in particular the authorisation and
supporting documents. If it is determined the material does not assist the defence or
undermine the prosecution case, there is no requirement to disclose the material to the
defence.
173. If BWV footage meets the disclosure test, consideration must be given as to whether any
redactions are required in relation to, for example, members of the public, other family
members who are not the subjects of criminal proceedings. Please therefore follow the
Redactions guidance above.

ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS
HEALTH & SAFETY
174. To ensure the health and safety of Council staff, each team has specific Risk Assessments
and Safe Systems of Work for the duties they carry out within their roles. These are
approved by the Health & Safety Manager, reviewed at least annually and updated as
required, in accordance with the Council’s overarching Health & Safety Policy.79
PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY
175. The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) requires public bodies to have due regard to the
need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations
77

Form MG6C
Form MG6D
79
https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Health-and-Safety-Policy
78

37

145

between different people when carrying out their activities. The Council undertakes Equality
Impact Assessments (EqIA) as a tool to assess how the Council functions and how its policies
and decisions might impact on certain groups of people with protected characteristics, to
ensure they do not discriminate against or disadvantage people. The EqIA ensures and
demonstrates the Council has due regard to its statutory duties. The Council has undertaken
an EqIA in relation to this Policy.

OVERSIGHT
APPROVAL OF POLICY
176. The Council’s Body Worn Video Policy and Processes is submitted to the Audit & Resources
Committee for consideration and then to Cabinet for its approval.
ANNUAL REVIEW OF POLICY
177. This Policy will be reviewed annually by the Legal Services Manager.
INTERNAL MONITORING
178. The BWV Authorising Officers will undertake internal reviews of the procedure, system and
practice to ensure its fit for purpose not less than quarterly and any issues identified will be
notified to all BWV Authorising Officers for their consideration as to what if any remedial
steps are required.
COMPLAINTS
179. The Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure is published on its website.80 In addition, all
reported complaints of the Council’s use of BWV will be reported annually to the Audit and
Resources Committee.
TRAINING
180. BWV Officers will receive training in the relevant technical aspects of the specific
equipment being used. This includes for example, assembly (where necessary), day to day
use, the capabilities of the devices including how to keep devices and data secure, how to
download data to the Council’s system, automatic deletion of the data once downloaded to
the system, to ensure BWV users inform individuals that recording may take place if it is not
obvious to the individuals in the circumstances and to respond to queries and requests from
the general public. Additionally, BWV current and intended officers have received Conflict
Awareness training. The Council maintains a Training Register81.
THE INFORMATION COMMISSIONER
181. The Information Commissioner is the UK’s independent regulator to uphold information
rights in the public interest, promote openness by public bodies and data privacy for
individuals. The Information Commissioner has a broad range of statutory duties, including
80
81

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/customer-care/our-complaints-procedure
Appendix 7

38

146

monitoring and enforcement of the GDPR, promotion of good practice and adherence to the
data protection obligations by those who process personal data. These duties are in
addition to the specified statutory regimes the Information Commissioner is empowered to
take a range of regulatory action for breaches.
THE BIOMETRICS & SURVEILLANCE COMMISSIONER
182. The Biometrics & Surveillance Commissioner82 is the UK’s Independent regulator for
upholding the use of overt surveillance camera systems by relevant authorities, including
local authorities, in England and Wales. The functions of the Biometrics & Surveillance
Commissioner include encouraging compliance with the Code; reviewing the operation of
the Code; and providing advice about the Code (including changes to it or breaches of it) and
publish an annual report.
MISCELLANEOUS
POLICY REVISION HISTORY
REVISION
1
2
3

82

REVISION DATE
June 2022

Fraser Sampson appointed 1 March 2021

39

147

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDICES 1 -7

EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL’S
BODY WORN VIDEO POLICY APPENDICES 1-7
APPENDIX 1: LEGAL SERVICES MANAGER
NAME

POSITION

EMAIL

EXTN

Helen Devereux

Legal Services Manager &
Data Protection Officer
(Solicitor)

Helen.Devereux@eastleigh.gov.uk

8155

APPENDIX 2:

BWV AUTHORISING OFFICERS

NAME

POSITION

EMAIL

EXTN

Helen Devereux

Legal Services Manager &
Data Protection Officer
Executive Head of Governance &
Monitoring Officer
Executive Head of Environment
Executive Head of Customer Care
Executive Head of Neighbourhood
Services
Executive Head of Planning &
Economy

Helen.Devereux@eastleigh.gov.uk

8155

Joanne.Cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk

8015

James.Howe@eastleigh.gov.uk
Louise.O’Driscoll@eastleigh.gov.uk
Paul.Naylor@eastleigh.gov.uk

8322
8248
8370

Andy.Grandfield@eastleigh.gov.uk

8267

Joanne Cassar
James Howe
Louise O’Driscoll
Paul Naylor
Andy Grandfield

APPENDIX 3:

DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT FOR SURVEILLANCE CAMERAS

Please access the following link to obtain the current DPIA template.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-protection-impact-assessments-for-surveillance-cameras

APPENDIX 4:

BWV OFFICERS

NAME

POSITION

EMAIL

EXTN

Paul Nicolls

Parking Operations Team
Leader
Local Response Officer
Local Response Officer
Local Response Officer
Local Response Officer
Local Response Officer
Local Response Officer
Local Response Officer

Paul.Nicholls@eastleigh.gov.uk

8141

Kirsten.Philpot@eastleigh.gov.uk
Ewa.Mears@eastleigh.gov.uk
Jamie.Edwards@eastleigh.gov.uk
Matthew.Parr@eastleigh.gov.uk
Steve.Probert@eastleigh.gov.uk
Tom.Lodwidge@eastleigh.gov.uk
Jack.Taylor@eastleigh.gov.uk

8232
8063
8138
8417
07881757772
8153
8071

Senior Civil Enforcement
Officer
Civil Enforcement Officer

Richard.Nolan@eastleigh.gov.uk

8478

Kirsten Philpot
Ewa Mears
Jamie Edwards
Matthew Parr
Steve Probert
Tom Lodwidge
Jack Taylor
Richard Nolan
Michael Rogers

Michael.Rogers@eastleigh.gov.uk
1

149

APPENDICES 1 -7

NAME

POSITION

EMAIL

Robert DickieMacKenzie
Sara Hicks

Civil Enforcement Officer

Rob.dickiemackenzie@eastleigh.gov.uk
Sara.Hicks@eastleigh.gov.uk

APPENDIX 5:

Civil Enforcement Officer

EXTN

BWV THIRD PARTY DATA SHARING REGISTER

This Appendix is in a separate document with restricted access

APPENDIX 6:

BWV SAR GUIDANCE CHECKLISTS

This Appendix is found in a separate document

APPENDIX 7:

BWV TRAINING REGISTER

This Appendix is in a separate document

2

150

APPENDIX 5 - BWV Third Party Data Sharing Register
DATE OF DP2

DATE OF URGENT ORAL REQUEST

DATE REQUEST SUBMITTED TO EBC

DATE NOTIFIED TO DP TEAM

BWV SPOC

DP SPOC

DEADLINE TO PROCESS REQUEST

EXCEPTIONS APPLY? APPLICABLE EXCEPTION(S)

DATE DP2 RESPONDED TO

151

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 6

SUBJECT ACCESS REQUEST (SAR) GUIDANCE CHECKLIST

CHECKLIST FOR DATA CONTROLLER
Considerations for the Data Controller when processing a Subject Access Request:
CONSIDERATION

REASON

Verify identity of the
Data Subject

Avoid disclosing personal data to
the wrong person

Obtain contact details
of Data Subject

Understand nature of the request
and manage expectations

Locate all BWV data

Data Subject’s personal
information may appear in more
than one BWV recording

Impact on policing

Disclosure of data could prejudice
security

Impact on partner
agencies

Agreement on data disclosure for
partner agency personnel

Impact on third parties

Internal policy for disclosing third
party data either with or without
consent
Increased Likelihood of third
party personal data in some
circumstances

Location where
recording took place

Decreased expectation of privacy
in some circumstances
Potential circulation of
data

Likelihood that redacted video
will be further circulated by the
Data Subject

DETAILS
-

Recent photograph
Clothing description
Voice sample
Purpose of request
Explain disclosure policies
Timescales
Time and date
Location
BWV’s user’s name & ID
Type of event
Prevention & detection of crime
Investigation & prosecution of
crime
Public or National security
Blue light services
Civil enforcement
Health & Community care
Subject’s family members
Subject’s friends & associates
Any personnel in their workplace
Hospitals
Schools
Residential Care
Place of worship
Shopping centres
Transport hubs
The High Street
Mainstream media
Social media platforms
Open source video platforms

153

APPENDIX 6
VISUAL DATA REDACTION CONSIDERATIONS
Visual data that does not need to be disclosed to the Data Subject
TYPE
Data Subject’s indirect identifying features
either adjoining or overlapping third party data
BWV User’s indirect identifying features

Other Blue Light personnel
Other partner agencies personnel
Third party associated with the event
Third party not associated with the event
Third party known to the Data Subject
Location information
Vehicle identification
General information

154

EXAMPLE
-

Person walking behind Data Subject
Child held close to Data Subject
Jewellery
Scars and tattoos
Badge number
Firefighter attending an incident
Medica working in a hospital
Social working attending an incident
Highways officer managing traffic
Witness
Victim
Person walking around the incident
Driver in slowing vehicle
Member of the family
Neighbour
House and street names
Local landmarks
Number plates
Company branding
Contextual data
Time and date in BWV recording

APPENDIX 6
VISUAL DATA REDACTION TECHNIQUES
Technical methods that can be applied to redact video data
TECHNIQUE

ACCEPTABLE APPLICATION

NOTES

Mask Shape

Fixed shapes such as oblongs, circles
and ovals that can be scaled and
rotated
Mask can be larger than feature or
object so it does not require alteration
under small movements
Use of an opaque colour to completely
obscure data
Ensure level is consistent and effective
throughout the clip

Free form shapes or polygons are
complex and time consuming for
little benefit
Balance required to ensure no or
limited redaction of Data Subject

Mask overlap

Mask fill (solid)
Mask fill
(blurring &
pixilation)
Single mask
(general)

Best to cover the entire body rather
than just the head

Single mask
(close to Data
Subject)

Some minimal redaction for the Data
Subject is allowed to avoid disclosure
of other personal data

Most secure and consistent
method to obscure data
Greater caution necessary to
ensure effective redaction though
helps to retain a degree of context
to the event
It may be possible to indirectly
identify third party through unique
clothing, jewellery or tattoos
A common example is people not
involved with the incident walking
behind the Data Subject

155

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 7
APPENDIX 7:

BODY WORN VIDEO TRAINING REGISTER

The following EBC persons have received Training:
NAME

OFFICER/
LEGAL

POSITION

COURSE & PROVIDER

DATE OF
TRAINING

Kirsten Philpot

Officer

Local Response
Officer

14/2/2022

Ewa Mears

Officer

Local Response
Officer

Heather Sellen

Officer

Local Response
Officer

Jamie Edwards

Officer

Local Response
Officer

Matthew Parr

Officer

Local Response
Officer

Michael Rogers

Officer

Richard Nolan

Officer

Robert DickieMacKenzie

Officer

Steve Probert

Officer

Civil
Enforcement
Officer
Senior Civil
Enforcement
Officer
Civil
Enforcement
Officer
Local Response
Office

Tom Lodwidge

Officer

Local Response
Office

Chris Hutchings

Officer

Local Response
Office

CMS Training
Managing Conflict & Personal
Safety CMS Training
Managing Conflict & Personal
Safety
CMS Training
Managing Conflict & Personal
Safety
CMS Training
Managing Conflict & Personal
Safety
CMS Training
Managing Conflict & Personal
Safety
CMS Training
Managing Conflict & Personal
Safety
CMS Training
Managing Conflict & Personal
Safety
CMS Training
Managing Conflict & Personal
Safety
CMS Training
Managing Conflict & Personal
Safety
CMS Training
Managing Conflict & Personal
Safety
CMS Training
Managing Conflict & Personal
Safety
CMS Training
Managing Conflict & Personal
Safety

2022

14/2/2022

14/2/2022

14/2/2022

14/2/2022

14/2/2022

14/2/2022

14/2/2022

14/2/2022

14/2/2022

14/2/2022

157

This page is intentionally left blank

ANNEX 6

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Title of EqIA:

Corporate Policy and Procedure for use of Body Worn Video
Cameras

Brief description of the
Proposal:

The Corporate Policy and Procedure for use of Body Worn
Videos sets out the statutory framework and procedures which
permit the Council’s lawful use of the overt surveillance
technique known as Body Worn Videos (BWV), whilst ensuring
the public authority does not infringe a person’s Article 8 rights.

Summary of Impacts
and Issues:

The primary consideration of this EqIA in the context of BWV
use, is the protection of a person’s article 8 rights – their right to
respect for their private and family life, their home and their
correspondence.
The BWV Policy and Procedure follows the Surveillance Camera
Code of Practice, and sets out the Council procedures for use of
BWV to ensure the protection of peoples right to privacy and the
protection of their personal data in line with the Data Protection
Act 2018.

Potential Positive
Impacts:















Significantly enhances the quality of evidence provided by
law enforcement officers;
Provides an independent, reliable, real time evidential
capture of an event/incident as precisely as possible
limited only by the field of view and audio range of the
device;
Promotes positive behaviour and interaction between the
wearer and member(s) of the public;
Assist in the drive to reduce crime and the fear of crime
and increase the proportion of offences brought to justice
Provide a greater impact than street CCTV as they can
be deployed at any position within an incident; those
present quickly learn the recordings include sound and
BWVs are more obvious than other CCTV systems;
Assists in the investigation of a complaint and/or alleged
offence(s) arising out of an event/incident, thus reducing
investigation time for unwarranted complaints;
Assists the court to see and hear the incident through the
eyes and ears of the officer at the scene, thereby gaining
a real understanding of the actions of the accused;
Time efficient saving by producing an exhibit of the
recording, saving officer recording the incident as a
statement or in their pocket notebook;
Assist in officer development as there is an ability to
review their performance in detail after an incident;

159

ANNEX 6

What engagement or
consultation has been
carried out?

None currently.

Assessment
For all of categories below please consider:
1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination?
2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who share
a protected characteristic and those who do not share it?
3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not share it?

160

ANNEX 6

Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people with protected characteristics.
Impact Assessment

Details of Impact

Possible Solutions/ Mitigating Factors

Age:

Protection of article 8 rights

The BWV Policy and Procedure follows the Surveillance
Camera Code of Practice and sets out the Council
procedures for use of BWV to ensure the protection of
peoples right to privacy and the protection of their
personal data in line with the Data Protection Act 2018.
BWV is only used when necessary, proportionate and in
pursuit of a legitimate aim, such as public safety and the
prevention and detection of crime.
Please see 12 guiding principles in the Policy and
Procedure document as well as the data storage and
processing procedures which ensure the protection of
personal data in line with the Data Protection Act 2018.
The Council has authorised the use of BWV by specific
teams and their named BWV User Authorised Officers,
who are required to undergo training, before and in order
to be authorised.
The Council has also authorised specific officers to be
given access to the BWV material, known as BWV
Access Authorised Officers.

Gender reassignment:

Protection of article 8 rights

As above

Marriage and civil
partnership:

Protection of article 8 rights

As above

161

162

ANNEX 6

Pregnancy and maternity:

Protection of article 8 rights

As above

Race:

Protection of article 8 rights

As above

Religion or belief:

Protection of article 8 rights

As above

Sex:

Protection of article 8 rights

As above

Sexual Orientation:

Protection of article 8 rights

As above

Social deprivation - please
highlight what impact could
there be on people
experiencing social
deprivation:

Protection of article 8 rights

As above

Disability:

BWV procedure ensures individuals are notified
when officers are using BWV which may capture
audio, video or photographic footage of them. It is
therefore important to consider people with
disabilities – particularly those with sensory
impairments – to ensure notification is
communicated in an appropriate format.

The Council’s use of BWV will be reiterated by officers
wearing a symbol/sign on their uniform. Further, the
BWV device will be in a prominent position (normally on
their chest) and its forward facing display will be visible to
persons being recorded. The BWV also has a flashing
red light when recording is taking place.
Prior to switching on the BWV, the user must wherever
possible/practicable verbally announce to the data
subject that video and audio recording is/is going to take
place using BWV (see paragraph 104. and 105. of the
BWV Policy).
By utilising both these methods it ensures that individuals
with hearing or visual impairments are not discriminated
against and are suitably notified when BWV is in use.

ANNEX 6

Other significant Impacts:

None

Action Plan
Activity

Outcome

Lead Officer:

Harry Lee

Manager:

Angela Taylor

Corporate Director:
Date completed:

22/06/2022

Timeframe

Person responsible

163

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
Tuesday, 19 July 2022
HEALTH AND SAFETY REPORT 1 APRIL 2021 - 31 MARCH 2022

Recommendation(s)
It is recommended that the Audit and Resources Committee:
1. Notes of the corporate responsibilities for the management of health and
safety, familiarising themselves with the corporate health and safety
resources and priorities;
2. Supports the ongoing change and continual improvement of the safety
culture of the organisation through the implementation of a Staff Safety
Forum and appropriate safety training;
3. Notes the incident data (appendix 1);
4. Notes the Action Plan (appendix 2) for the next 12 months.

Summary


To update Audit and Resources Committee on the progress of the Corporate Health
and Safety function for the period 1 April 2021 – 31 March 2022.



To advise Audit and Resources Committee of the current position in relation to the
management of health and safety and highlight the key priorities and risks.

Statutory Powers
Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974
The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999
Health and Safety (Consultation with Employees) Regulations 1996

165

Strategic Implications
1.

The focus of this report is to update Audit and Resources Committee in
accordance with the Council’s duty to monitor compliance with the Health and
Safety at Work etc. Act 1974, and the Management of Health and Safety at
Work Regulations 1999, other associated Legislation and Codes of Practice
imposed on all employers in respect of Health and Safety at Work.

Introduction
2.

During this reporting period it has been necessary to keep abreast of
emerging and ongoing change resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic.

3.

The Health and Safety Team have been supporting the various service areas
in relation to the return to business as usual whilst also reviewing and
implementing additional safety documentation.

4.

A review of the current corporate safety resource has been undertaken and
provision within existing budgets made for the creation of a Health and Safety
Co-ordinator role to support the Health and Safety Officer.

Corporate Health and Safety Officer Role
5.

The primary objectives continue to focus on:
o The health and safety management plan and policies, including
through process of audit review of service area operational safety
documentation;
o Reporting lone worker monitoring usage;
o Supporting all areas with regards to events management;
o Incident reporting, monitoring, and management;
o Monitoring safety training with a view to forming a training matrix;
o Collaboration with internal/external partners, network and provide
support and guidance as appropriate.

6.

The day-to-day operational responsibility for safety management remains with
the Executive Team.

Health and Safety Management Information
7.

166

Policies continue to be reviewed in line with the health and safety
management plan. It is acknowledged that there are policies and
documentation which need to be implemented. This work will be addressed
through discussions with each of the Executive Team at regular safety
meetings and safety audits.

Eastleigh Borough Council

8.

Manual systems continue to be used for managing safety across the diverse
range of service areas. This continues to be identified as a significant risk and
consequently corporate management, monitoring, recording, and reporting
across all areas is at risk of errors being made due to its inefficient and labourintensive approach. Further consideration has been given to the development
of systems in Salesforce or through joint working with other local authorities in
terms of sharing use of safety software. The main risk areas are:
o Maintenance of policies, procedures, risk assessments, safe systems
of work, toolbox talks, etc;
o Personal protective equipment (PPE);
o Procurement of workplace equipment and maintenance thereof;
o Training – initial, refresher and role specific training in line with risk
assessment to support experience and ensure competency;
o Incident, accident, and injury reporting including those that fall under
the remit of Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrence
Regulations (RIDDOR) of which we historically have 8 – 9 reports per
annum.

9.

Responsibility for the management of these areas is devolved to managers
and as such there is inconsistency. It is anticipated that with quarterly
meetings with Executive Heads, additional training and the implementation of
a health and safety Forum the documentation will be enhanced in quality and
appropriate control measures put in place.

10.

Equipment procurement and routine maintenance regimes are lacking in
some areas together with staff skills and training unmatched to risk
assessments. Once again training will support improved skills and
consideration to further governance or centralisation of procurement and
maintenance can be consideration at an outcome of Executive area meetings
and safety audits.

11.

Corporate incident management is completed by the Corporate Health and
Safety Officer. Incident reporting has generally improved, however, Reporting
of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013
(RIDDOR) incidents are invariably reported to the Health and Safety
Executive beyond the recognised timeline. Late reporting is often due to
failure to follow through the reason for absence with staff whilst off work by
some managers. This failure is currently being addressed with respective
Executive Heads with the intention of improved reporting going forward.

12.

Organisations have a legal duty to put in place suitable arrangements to
manage health and safety. Incident management is undertaken using
numerous spreadsheets and emails which is time consuming and resource
intensive. Consideration continues to be given to use of suitable safety
software.

Eastleigh Borough Council

167

13.

The current methods for recording are not integrated and with the limited
corporate resource available to oversee safety this results in potential risks
across all identified areas.

14.

There continues to be no central storage of safety documentation (risk
assessment (RA), safe systems of work (SSOW), etc). Each service area
holds and maintains their own documents, these documents are not shared.
The sharing of documentation, knowledge and experience through an
appropriate means would improve the safety culture and reduce the workload
across service areas. A safety Forum is currently being set up to address this
shortfall.

15.

There are inconsistencies with data management and improvements have
been identified with consideration being given to the use of Staff Hub and
Sharepoint as a means of improving the accessibility to safety documentation.

Health and Safety Culture/Training
15. Management of safety and a positive safety culture is key to identifying risks
and reducing incidents. Health and safety training will be enhanced and
embedded within the culture and as such the following training has been
identified to meet the requirements of the Health and Safety at Work, etc Act
1974 and The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999.
This training is to be funded through the corporate training budget and will be
delivered during 2022/23:
o Institute of Occupational Health and Safety (IOSH) Safety for
Executives and Directors – for all Directors, Executive Heads and
LAMs to attend (3 yearly refresher)
o IOSH Managing Safely – for all operational managers (3 yearly
refresher)
o IOSH Working Safely – for all operational team leaders (3 yearly
refresher)
o IOSH Fire Safety for Managers – for all managers who are responsible
for buildings (3 yearly refresher)
o Fire Marshall Training – for all staff responsible and who have direct
involvement for effective evacuation of a building/site (annual refresher
required in line with the Fire Reform Order 2005, Fire Safety Act 2021

Corporate Health and Safety Priorities for next 2 years 2022 2024
16.

The priorities for the next two years are:
(a)

168

Continue to improve a culture of safety awareness and compliance
through leadership;

Eastleigh Borough Council

(b)

Further review safety documentation whilst enhancing knowledge and
training;

(c)

Review and improve planning for events management;

(d)

Continue to review all safety documentation through safety audits;

(e)

Engagement with all service areas to ensure timely incident reporting,
investigation, and monitoring;.

(f)

Resolving the management of data storage.

Covid-19 Pandemic
17.

2020 and 2021 saw significant focus attributed to supporting all service areas
of the Council during the pandemic. Work in this area is now limited to
ensuring the learning is evident through safety documentation whilst also
implementation and continuing to review hybrid working and the relationship
with homeworking, office working in accordance with Display Screen
Equipment Regulations 1992.

Events Policy
18.

The Events Policy was reviewed in 2019, at which time events management,
excluding Safety Advisory Group (SAG) events was transferred from the
Safety and Resilience Manager to Facilities Management.

19.

During 2020/21, several events were held, many of which did not meet our
application timeline criteria and therefore put significant pressure on corporate
health and safety to ensure event management plans were safe to operate.

20.

Due to the impact of resourcing the events process a further review took place
in January 2022, with recommendations made to Corporate Leadership Board
which include a dedicated and increased administrative resource requirement
for the event application process and changes to the web-based application.

21.

The application and approval process needs to be enhanced with daily
monitoring and liaison with various service areas and event organisers.
Additional resource in this area together with Councillors and staff committed
to a robust timeline for event application and approval process will ensure
suitable time is available for the application safety review and approval to be
completed.

22.

It is also recognised that event management has a significant impact on
various service areas in addition to health and safety. Approaches have been
made to other local authorities, and it is apparent that those approached have
set fees to ensure staff time is recoverable for the purpose of reviewing event
management documentation, providing support, guidance, and inspection
where appropriate. Further understanding of the structure of fee setting is
being explored to further consider the implementation of fees.

Eastleigh Borough Council

169

Lone Working Monitoring
23.

The provider of the Lone Working Monitoring application has recently updated
its systems and because of this change, data is not available for the period
prior to March 2022.

24.

There are currently 41 staff and Councillors who are registered users of the
system. Of the 41 users the actual use during March and April 2022 is:
March 2022 – 11 active users (23.83%)
April 2022 – 10 active users (25%)

25.

Regular users of the system are the Local Response and Environment teams.

26.

The monitoring system currently costs £3,500 per annum for 41 users. It is
intended that through the monthly monitoring with service area leads, users
may be identified as no longer requiring formal monitoring and can be
removed from the system for less formal buddy arrangements to be put in
place. The review may also identify new areas where monitoring is currently
not in place but may be necessary.

Statutory Compliance – Operational/Commercial Property
Portfolio
27.

Facilities Management is responsible for 17 operational/commercial properties
and 5 void properties. Across the portfolio statutory compliance by way of
planned preventative maintenance operates within the parameters of the
appropriate legislation or guidance models.

Management of Council Land
28.

Land management is the responsibility of the Neighbourhood Services
Executive Area, who following a further review has advised that the current
land management strategy identifies and mitigates any known risks on council
land. This is an area which can be further developed for reporting purposes
following the implementation of quarterly Executive Head meetings.

Fire Safety Management

170

29.

The Facilities Manager is the responsible officer for fire safety management
across the operational/commercial portfolio. It has been identified that a fire
safety policy is necessary and that fire safety competence across
buildings/sites needs to be improved. It is intended that a fire safety policy will
be draft for consultation during August 2022 with additional fire safety training
scheduled to commence in autumn 2022.

30.

Additional fire safety training is planned for 2022 for those staff who have
responsibilities which fall within site evacuation plans. This formal training is
necessary to achieve compliance with legislation and enhance knowledge and
competence in each location. This training will also improve understanding of
Eastleigh Borough Council

fire safety risks and the management of safe evacuation by ensuring suitable
and sufficient staff are available at all sites at all appropriate times.

Incident Statistics 1 April 2021 – 31 March 2022
31.

During the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022, a total of 181 incidents have
been reported. Incident levels are unchanged when compared to the previous
annual reporting period.

32.

Appendix 1 provides more information, broken down into the areas below:


Total incidents per team for this time
o Broken down by month



Count of incident type by team



Count of injury type by team

33.

The responsibility to investigate and satisfactorily close out incidents rests
with the reporting manager. There continues to be areas where there is a lack
of investigation of incidents, no ‘learning from experience’ and no ‘continual
improvement’. This is currently being addressed through discussions with the
respective Executive Heads and further guidance will be addressed through
additional training at the health and safety Forum.

34.

As mentioned, paragraph 11, the lateness of reporting and the non-closure of
reports impacts the Council’s ability to report in a timely manner to the
regulator, HSE and impacts on the accuracy of data provided to this and other
committees.

36.

The health and safety management plan aspiration to measure incidents, lost
time, and insurance claims, therefore, reporting the true cost in both human,
compliance and financial terms. Collaborative working with other service
areas continues to work towards this.

Financial Implications
37.

The corporate training budget will fund the identified health, safety, and fire
safety training, estimated at a cost of £15,000 and detailed at paragraph 15
during 2022/23.

38.

A safety software system would improve our ability to comprehensively
manage safety across all service areas. The Corporate Health and Safety
Officer will continue to monitor through spreadsheets pending suitable
alternative(s).

Risk Assessment
39.

The risk assessment across the safety function remains a high risk given the
lack of a robust health and safety management plan. Corporate Health and

Eastleigh Borough Council

171

Safety will review safety in each Executive Area commencing with quarterly
meetings and safety audits. Service areas will be given the opportunity to
demonstrate their compliance and governance to safety with any improvement
areas being appropriately identified. Following these reviews, it is expected
that the overall risk rating will reduce to medium risk.

Equality and Diversity Implications
40.

The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because:


It is a report dealing with internal or procedural matters only.

Therefore, it is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not
need to be addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not
been carried out.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
41.

There are no direct climate change or environmental impacts arising from this
report, however, whilst working with service areas reviewing methods and
products attention will be given to the environmental implications and whether
suitable alternatives can be adopted.

Conclusion
42.

A culture of ‘safety first’ is the approach which such a diverse organisation as
a Council must have in place. Adherence to a robust safety management plan
‘Plan, Do, Check Act’ Health and Safety Executive guidance (HSG65) at
strategic and devolved levels throughout the Council will ensure that a ‘safety
first’ culture is embraced. Appendix 2 Action Plan sets out the plan for the next
12 months and remains in alignment with the Corporate Health and Safety
priorities for the next 2 years, paragraph 16.
MICHELLE MILLER
FACILITIES MANAGER

Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

05 June 2022
Michelle Miller
michelle.miller@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendix 1 – Incident Data 1 April 2021 – 31 March 2022
Appendix 2 – Action Plan

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

172

Eastleigh Borough Council

Appendix 1

AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
19 JULY 2022
HEALTH AND SAFETY REPORT 1 APRIL 2021 – 31 MARCH 2022

INCIDENT STATS
Total number of incidents per unit (by month)
Count of Incident Date

Column
Labels

Row Labels
The Point and Berry Theatres
Asset Management
Construction and Maintenance
Country Parks
Countryside
Economy
Facilities
Housing & Development
Local Response
Parking Operations
Projects
Streetscene
Technical Services
The Point and Berry Theatres
Transport and Engineering
Waste & Recycling
Wessex House
Grand Total

Count of Incident Type by Team
Count of

Column Labels

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

2

2
1

1
2
1

1
1

1
1

1
1

1
1

1

1

1

1
4

1
1

1

1

4

5

1

1

1

2

3

4

1

4
1

4

2

2

3

3
1
1

7

6

5

5

10

1
2

4
1
9

8

7

8

14

14

18

10
1
22

9

12

10

21

13

1
1
1
3

1
5

12

9

19

20

1

Grand
Total
2
2
6
11
2
2
2
1
2
24
1
34
2
1
1
86
2
181

173

174

Appendix 1

Incident Type

Row Labels

Contact
with
moving
machin
ery or
materia
l

The Point and
Berry Theatres
Asset
Management
Construction
and
Maintenance
Country Parks

Expos
ed to
fire

Exposed
to or in
contact
with
harmful
substan
ce

Fall
From
Height

H&S
Breach
/Unsafe
act or
behavio
ur

Handlin
g,
Lifting,
Carrying

Hazard/
Undesir
able
Circums
tance

Illness/
Medical
Condition

Injured by
an animal

Other

Physical
Assault/
AntiSocial/
Threats
/
Damage

1
1

Slip,
Trip, Fall
- on
same
level

Struck
By
Movin
g,
Flying,
Falling
Object

Vehicle
/
Traffic

Grand
Total

2

1

1

2

2

2

2

1

1

2

1

1
1

Facilities
Housing &
Development
Local
Response
Parking
Operations
Projects

1

2

1

6

1

Economy

1
1

4

3

3

1

2

2

17

2

1

11

1

1

3
1

1

11
2
2
2
1

1

1

1

1

24

1

1

Trappe
d By
Somet
hing
Collaps
ing Or
Overtu
rning

2

1
1

2

Threats/
Physical
assault/A
nti-social
behaviou
r

1

Countryside

Streetscene
Technical
Services
The Point and
Berry Theatres
Transport and
Engineering

Struck
Someth
ing
Fixed
Or
Station
ary

5

1
34
2
1
1

Appendix 1
Waste &
Recycling
Wessex House
Grand Total

3

1

1

2

5

21

1

25

8

19

4

6

37

28

13

1
6

2

1

13

7

20

17

2

8

86

2

8

2
181

1
3

3

1

Count of Outcome/Injury type per team
Count of Outcome/Injury Type

Column Labels
Damage

Row Labels
The Point and Berry Theatres
Asset Management
Construction and Maintenance
Country Parks
Countryside
Economy
Facilities
Housing & Development
Local Response
Parking Operations
Projects
Streetscene
Technical Services
The Point and Berry Theatres
Transport and Engineering
Waste & Recycling
Wessex House
Grand Total

Fracture/Broken
Bone

Laceration/Open
Wound

No injury

2
1
1
5

Other

1
3
3

Strain
/Sprain

1
1

1
1

4

4

12

3

1
2
13

1

8

6

1

Superficial
(Contusion,
graze,
scratch)

1
3
1
1
1

2
1
5
1

1
37
1
64

1

1
2

1

1

7

6

10
1
43

20

15

29

31

Grand Total
2
2
6
11
2
2
2
1
2
24
1
34
2
1
1
86
2
181

175

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2

ACTION PLAN 2022/2023

Priorities
Implement quarterly
meetings with
Executive Areas

Commencement Timeline
Quarterly – first week
of each quarter,
commencing Sept/Oct
2022

Outcome Timeline (if
not ongoing)

Lead Officers
Meetings scheduled
by Corporate H&S.
Executive Heads
responsible for
provision of required
data
Reviews scheduled by
Corporate H&S.
Executive Heads
responsible for
provision of required
data

Commence Executive
Area safety reviews –
documentation, PPE,
equipment,
maintenance,
procurement, land
management, etc
Implement safety
audits
Implement Safety
Forum
Incident stats –
compilation

October 2022

Lone working usage
data

Monthly

Events Management
Review
Corporate Training
Matrix
Implement IOSH and
Fire Safety Training
Safety Policy Review –
Aggressive Persons
Safety Policy Review –
Hand Arm Vibration
(HAVS)
Safety Policy Review –
Health Surveillance
Consider Data
Retention Options
Consider Safety
Software Solutions

July 2022

October 2022

Continue 6-weekly
meetings
July 2022

March 2023

Corporate H&S to
provide to Executive
Areas
Corporate H&S to
provide to Executive
Areas
Executive Head
Assets, Corporate H&S
HR and L&D

March 2023

L&D, Corporate H&S

August 2022

Corporate H&S

November 2022

November 2022 –
draft
January 2023 - draft

January 2023

March 2023 - draft

HR, Corporate H&S

August 2022

Review with CLB
December 2022
Review with CLB
December 2022

IT, CLB, Corporate
H&S
IT, CLB, Corporate
H&S

December 2022

Corporate H&S

Bi-monthly – first
meeting October 2022
Monthly

Corporate H&S

September 2022

HR, Corporate H&S

177

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
Tuesday, 19 July 2022
PROPERTY PORTFOLIO REVENUE UPDATE
Report of the Lead Asset Manager

Recommendation
It is recommended that the Committee:
1) consider this report detailing performance relating to the Council’s Property (nonhousing) Portfolio;

Summary
This biannual report provides an update on the Council’s Property Portfolio including a
summary of the current position of payment plans relating to Covid-19 rent arrears. It
provides an update on the commercial property market and details economic and other
issues affecting the portfolio. The report outlines steps being taken to manage and mitigate
risks to ensure long-term sustainability of the portfolio.
Statutory Powers
Local Government Act 1972

Strategic Implications
1.

Income generated by the Council’s Property Portfolio helps to support delivery
of strategic objectives set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2015-2025 and
wider corporate objectives, including social and physical regeneration,
economic development and safeguarding strategic influence and future
development opportunities. This report provides an update on the current
status of the property portfolio particularly with regards to rental income and
actions being taken to protect income and to ensure a fit for purpose property
portfolio in the longer-term.

Introduction
2.

This report provides an update on the Council’s commercial property portfolio
including the position with rent arrears resulting from Covid 19, specific issues
affecting the portfolio and the outlook for the commercial property market in

179

general. The previous update was provided to Audit and Resources
Committee on 11 January 2022.
Current Market Conditions and Risks by Sector
3.

Appendix A provides a breakdown of the Council’s Property Portfolio by
Sector. The Council has a large and varied property portfolio achieving over
£16 million in gross annual rental income (including non-Corporation Estate
Properties used for service provision).

4.

The property market appeared to be on its way to recovery from the
pandemic, however there is now evidence of a slowing economy with the
sharp rise in inflation and Russia’s war in Ukraine. The commentary below
provides an update on the UK property market in general and advises how
this is reflected in the Council’s property portfolio.
Retail Sector

5.

The initial stages of the pandemic brought about major divisions in the
subsectors of the retail sector with food stores increasing in value and high
street retail seeing a significant decrease. The last year has established a
rebalancing of some of the subsectors with retail values and investment
values in the larger more modern shopping centres and cathedral towns
significantly increasing.

6.

However, there continues to be a lack of occupier demand from national
operators for the older shopping centres in smaller town centres such as the
Swan Centre in Eastleigh. This is not helped by the high rates liabilities
usually found in such centres and where new leases are being agreed these
are often upon very favourable terms to the tenant which is driving down
values further.

7.

An increasing number of former retail developments are now being
redeveloped for alternative uses such as student housing and private rented
accommodation.

8.

Demand for retail warehousing remains at a good level with a number of
larger retailers such as Home Bargains, Aldi and Iceland actively expanding
and seeking units in areas where they have no current presence. This is
helping to keep rental values steady and has led to an increase in investor
demand for such units driving down yields. The Council’s retail warehouse
units all remain fully occupied. In the main, the retail investments within the
Council’s property portfolio are not high risk and fall into the subsectors which
are performing well.
Office Sector

9.

180

The situation has not changed substantially from our previous report. The
market is generally recovering and 2021 saw a larger take up of
accommodation than 2019, although demand is still very focused on quality.

Eastleigh Borough Council

10.

Firms are generally seeking to reduce their overall space and the greatest
demand is in the sub 5,000 square feet market. Demand is stronger for high
quality city centre offices with good transport links and green credentials being
highly sought after. With the high costs of development, little new space is
coming to the market and supply of good quality older buildings is low with
much of the older stock being converted to residential use and even
redeveloped for industrial use in some cases. However, whilst rents for prime
properties are increasing, investment values are generally reducing, most
likely due to the ongoing uncertainty as to future demand. Average yields
have seen an upward movement of around 1.25% to 8.5% over the last
couple of years. There is an opportunity to sustainably refurbish well-located
offices and tempt occupiers to exchange quantity for quality. Prime rents for
the best quality space are proving resilient and increasing in many areas,
providing a strong case for refurbishing existing assets to counter
obsolescence. There are several office buildings within the Council’s portfolio,
most notably those detailed later in this report, for which active management
strategies are being put into place to ensure the properties meet the evolving
requirements to maximise income and return.
Industrial Sector

11.

The industrial sector, where there is a lack of supply and strong demand,
remains the best performing sector of the property market, fuelled by the
continuing growth in the online retail market. There is a particular lack of
supply in smaller units of under 5000sq ft where building costs are higher. It is
predicted that rental growth will continue to be strong over the medium term.
Lease terms are generally rising and there is increased demand for units
offering ancillary office space. It is expected that prime yields will remain static
for the near future at the current 3.25/3.5% level, although there maybe slight
increases as investors bear in mind the wider inflationary impacts on
occupiers. This is exacerbated by the expected transfer of the business rates
burden from retail to industrial property in the next revaluation in April 2023.

12.

Industrial land values have grown strongly over the last few years from an
average of around £600,000 an acre to £2 million plus per acre in some
Hampshire cities, with sites in Eastleigh achieving in excess of £1.3 million per
acre. The majority of the Council’s industrial portfolio consists of smaller units
within secondary estates where demand remains high. The Council have one
significant high value industrial unit which is discussed further below.
Leisure Sector

13.

The leisure and hospitality market is still in a period of uncertainty with notable
variations in subsectors. Some establishments experienced good results in
summer 2021 due to limited foreign travel but this is still highly dependent on
quality and location.

14.

Investment yields over the second half of 2021 to the present date are
regarded to have remained relatively steady, although prime London hotels
have seen an increase in values after a drop during the start of the pandemic.

Eastleigh Borough Council

181

15.

The national situation is reflected within leisure properties owned by the
Council.
Update on the Impact of Covid-19 on the Property Portfolio and Revenue
Impacts

16.

As previously reported, twelve major tenants experienced difficulties with
payment of rent due to the lockdown periods during the pandemic. Payment
plans were agreed with each of these tenants covering total arrears of
£5,156,594.

17.

Of these twelve payment plans, eight tenants have now paid their Covid debt
in full. All four of the remaining debtors are making regular payments towards
their debt and are on target to clear their debt within the agreed timescales.
The total arrears have now reduced to £3,702,311. The last report noted that
one debtor was behind with their instalments, however they have now paid
their debt in full.

18.

Appendix B shows the current summary of the twelve payment plans (as of 18
May 2022) relating to the pandemic. £1,454,283 arrears have been cleared to
date with a further £729,332 expected be cleared by the end of the current
financial year.
Overall Rent Collection Position

182

19.

Of the total sum of £16,507,041 (rent and service charge) invoiced to tenants
in the 12 months between 1 April 2021 and 30 March 2022, £15,582,305 had
been collected as of 19 May 2022 equating to 94.4%

20.

This compares to 72% having been collected as of 31 March 2021 for the 13
months to 31 March 2021.

21.

However, in respect of 2021/22, when the sums subject to Covid payment
plans are ignored, the collection rate rises to 98.9% with the majority of the
shortfall being due to quarterly invoices issued in March 2022 with payments
made monthly in arrears.

22.

This is similar to pre-pandemic levels and given that a large proportion of the
outstanding debt is covered by payment plans, there is no undue concern
regarding collection levels or rent arrears.

23.

As previously advised, the deferred payment of debts does not impact the
revenue budget and the debt due remains accurately recorded in the relevant
financial year. The delayed cash impact of the rental deferrals has no material
impact on the revenue budget or cash flow.

24.

Whilst the above provides confidence that the total shortfall in income due to
the pandemic will be recovered under the payment plans, provision has been
made within reserves as discussed in paragraph 29 to cover any shortfall and
Asset Managers continue to closely monitor the financial standing of all
tenants to ensure potential shortfalls in income can be pro-actively managed.

Eastleigh Borough Council

Property Specific Risks
25.

One of the Council’s major industrial tenants has recently gone into
administration. The business and assets of the tenant have been sold to
another company who propose to continue the business operations of the
previous tenant. The new tenant currently occupies the premises and
discussions are underway concerning their longer-term occupation.

26.

Asset Managers continue to review the property strategy for void buildings to
ensure that any works to be undertaken will optimise the buildings in line with
market requirements. This may include conversion for residential use. The
marketing and/or refurbishment of such buildings remains a major focus for
Asset Managers in addition to minimising outgoings whilst the buildings
remain vacant.

27.

With regards to other major events affecting the property portfolio, there are a
couple of significant office buildings within the portfolio incorporating break
clauses that may be implemented by our tenants within the next 6 months and
Asset Managers have adopted a proactive approach to look at ways to avoid
such breaks and minimise potential liabilities.

28.

It should be noted that specialist advice is sought from external consultants in
respect of major transactions where this is considered necessary.
Earmarked Reserves

29.

The total property reserves currently stand at £8M, which includes reserves
for specific property maintenance and voids. This is considered to be an
adequate additional allowance in the current economic climate, particularly
whilst the majority of rents are being paid, albeit that some have payment
arrangements in place.
Risk Assessment

30.

There continues to be an element of ongoing risk and uncertainty relating to
the economic situation which could have a significant impact on current and
future rental receipts from the Council’s property portfolio. This report reflects
the current situation. As far as possible, steps have been taken by staff to
identify and mitigate risks to ensure there are sufficient property reserves to
protect against lost income and to future proof the portfolio to ensure it meets
the changing needs of future occupiers.

31.

The pandemic has brought substantial pressures on asset management
staffing resources and, in order to manage and mitigate the impact to the
Council’s Property Portfolio, this work continues to be prioritised. This has
been a challenging period due to staff vacancies and absences, during which
the team have shown their ongoing commitment by stepping up to in order to

Eastleigh Borough Council

183

cover gaps. It is important to keep resource within the service under
continuous review to ensure there is sufficient capacity to proactively manage
the Council’s property assets, together with providing specialist strategic
property support and advice to other service areas and corporate projects, in
order to meet wider corporate priorities.

Equality and Diversity Implications
32.

The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity,
or fostering good relations between different people. An Equality Impact
Assessment has not been carried out.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
33.

Where possible in any property negotiations, Asset Managers seek to ensure
appropriate terms and conditions are incorporated to help meet the Council’s
target of becoming a carbon neutral Council by 2025. In addition, a balanced
and sustainable Revenue Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP)
enables delivery of the Council’s strategic objectives which include supporting
the Climate Change Programme.

Conclusion
34.

Given the particularly challenging commercial environment over the last few
years and reduced capacity due to vacancies and absences within the team,
Asset Managers have worked well to maintain the income stream from our
investment properties. Whilst there is evidence of a steady recovery within the
real estate markets, with growing investor demand and improving occupier
trends, specialist staff continue to keep a careful watch over the status of our
tenants, including a close analysis of the altered covenant strength as a result
of the pandemic, in order that reductions in income can be anticipated and
managed as far as possible.

35.

Provision for the anticipated reduction in income has been made to protect the
Council’s financial position.

36.

Asset Managers continue to review market changes and to engage with
tenants and potential occupiers to ascertain the extent of business change
and future property requirements to ensure that the Council have a fit for
purpose property portfolio to support the delivery of Council services.
JACQUI BAXTER MRICS
LEAD ASSET MANAGER

Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

184

28.06.2022
Sharon Bishop
023 8068 8249
sharon.bishop@eastleigh.gov.uk

Eastleigh Borough Council

Appendix A: Portfolio Breakdown
Appendix B: Payment Plan Summary
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
Background Papers: None.

Eastleigh Borough Council

185

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A
PORTFOLIO BREAKDOWN BY SECTOR FOR 2021/22

Sector

Number of
Corporation Estate
Income Producing
Properties (NonStrategic)

Total Value*

%
based
on
Value

Total
Contracted
Annual Rent

% based
upon Rent
(contracted)
9%
16%

Retail

31

£19,718,300

8%

Retail Warehouse

11

£34,066,000

14%

£1,380,407
£2,547,000

Offices

19

£69,237,800

29%

£5,097,742

32%

Industrial - Prime

1

£17,338,200

7%

7%

Industrial – Secondary

57

£5,002,000

2%

£1,100,762
£674,351

Leisure (including
Ageas Complex,
Tennis Centre, leisure
centres, hotels)

5

£68,494,502

29%

£3,919553

24%

Car Dealership

1

£10,190,000

4%

£630,000

4%

30+

£13,664,900

6%

£671,618

4%

£41,000

<1%

£16,062,433

100%

Other commercial
interests/rent
producing properties
eg telecoms, parking
sites and noncorporation estate
properties
Minor interests

100+

Total

£237,711,702

100%

4%

* Figures taken from 2021 Asset Valuations
Percentage of Property Holding By Rental Value

% based upon Rent (contracted)
120%
100%
80%
60%
40%
20%
0%

187

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX B
ARREARS/PAYMENT PLAN SUMMARY
Tenant Total
Arrears

Payment
Total Arrears Payable in Year
Plan Agreed
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
(outstanding) (outstanding)

2024/25

2025/26

2026/272030/31

1&2
3
4

£3,334,659 Completed
£58,333
Completed
£45,893

0
0
0

5
6
7
8
9
10

£70,000
£45,342
£240,000
£42,603
£225,981
£1,008,142

Completed
Completed
Completed
Completed
Completed
Completed

0
0
0
0
0
0

11

£50,403

Completed

0

0

12

£35,238

Completed

0

0

Total

£5,156,594

(as at 18 May 2022)

0

£306,419

Total
Outstanding

£333,466 £333,466 £333,466 £1,834,063 £3,140,880
0
0

£1854

£4,500

£420,059

£126,018

£729,332

£4,500

£4,500

0
0
0
£15,354
0
£546,077

£463,984 £337,966 £337,966 £1,834,063 £3,702,311

189

This page is intentionally left blank

AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE ACTION LIST

MEETING
DATE

10/03/2020
6.

ITEM TITLE

Internal Audit
Charter 2020/21

RECOMMENDATION/ACTION

Review the possibility of obtaining an
external assessment of compliance with the
Standards through a reciprocal arrangement
with another Local Authority.

CONTACT
OFFICER/
COMMITTEE

Jo Cassar

TARGET
DATE/
COMPLETED

UPDATES

A reciprocal arrangement
with another Local
Authority is currently not
possible due to resource
capacity. The Chief
Internal Auditor (Acting)
has obtained a
reasonable quote from a
specialist company to
carry out this assessment
which has come in at
£2450.00 (There is no
VAT). External
Assessment is booked
with this company for the
week commencing 14th
March.

7.

191

Agenda Item 13

8.

This page is intentionally left blank

EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL
FORWARD PLAN: June 2022 - March 2023
This Forward Plan sets out matters which may be considered by Cabinet in the four month period. It includes items on which a “key
decision” is likely to be taken.
A KEY DECISION IS - An executive decision (whether or not taken by the Cabinet) which is likely to:
(1)

result in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which amount to either £50,000 or 20% (whichever is the
larger) of the gross expenditure budget for the service or general function to which the decision relates; or

(2)

be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards within the
Borough of Eastleigh.

The Plan also includes matters for likely decision relating to the Council’s policy or budget framework.
KEY

ITEM

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

It is recommended that
Cabinet approve the use of
the DEFRA Air Quality Grant
fund of £132,932. This grant
funded project will help
deliver the AQAPs aspiration
to reduce the exposure of
people in the Borough to
poor air quality.

Neil Scott, Senior
Pollution Control
Officer /

7 July 2022
Yes

DEFRA 2021-22 Air Quality
Grant Scheme Award

Agenda Item 14

193

194

KEY

ITEM

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

Yes

Phosphate Mitigation Strategy

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

This report will ask Cabinet
to approve a mitigation
strategy for the
environmental impacts of
phosphates within the
Borough. It will also look at
a feasibility study for the
creation of wetland.

James Howe,
Executive Head
of Environment /

Yes

Walking and Cycling Strategy
2022-2030

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

The Walking and Cycling
Strategy sets out the
Councils vision for walking
and cycling, the trends in
travel behaviour and
objectives aimed at providing
and improving the walking
and cycling network in future.
The outcome of the public
consultation and the finalised
Walking and Cycling
Strategy will be presented to
Cabinet for adoption.

Cali Sparks,
Sustainable
Transport Senior
Specialist /

Yes

Response to Hampshire County
Council consultation on
Passenger Transport and
Concessionary Travel

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

This item will propose a
response from Eastleigh
Borough Council to
Hampshire County Council’s
consultation on changes to
passenger transport services
ending on 24 July.

Diccon Bright,
Strategic
Planning
Manager /

2

KEY

ITEM

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

Yes

Members Allowances - Actual
Amounts Paid 2021/22

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

Cabinet will be asked to
consider and approve the
report which details the
actual amounts paid in
Members Allowances for the
2021/22 municipal year.

Laura Johnston /

Yes

Corporate Performance and
Financial Monitoring

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

To consider the quarterly
report outlining the Council’s
performance against
outcomes in the Corporate
Plan.

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

Yes

Corporate Complaints Policy

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

Asking that Cabinet approve
the revised and updated
Corporate Complaints and
Compliments Policy and
Approves the Unreasonably
Persistent Complainants and
Unreasonable Customer
Behaviour Policy.

Louise O'Driscoll,
Executive Head
of Customer
Care /

195

3

196

KEY

Yes

ITEM

Post Office Redevelopment

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

The Post Office project was
Dominic Mackrill /
advertised for tender in April
21 (OJEU). Following the
successful planning
application for the scheme,
and Cabinet approval
January 2021. The returned
tenders were over budget, as
such, it was approved to
enter into a pre-construction
service agreement (PCSA)
to fully design and open
book procure the project with
the lowest most
advantageous tenderer. The
PCSA period is now coming
to an end and
recommendations will be laid
out in the Cabinet report.
This project will result in the
following:
Demolition of existing
buildings;
Construction of two new
buildings containing ground
floor lettable spaces and
residential units above
(10no. in the front building
and 18no. in the rear
building); and
Public Realm space between
the new buildings.
Cabinet approval is required
to approve the additional
proposed budget following
this detailed PCSA period.

4

KEY

ITEM

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

Yes

Community Investment
Programme Scheme(s)
Approval

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

To consider and approve the
Community Infrastructure
Projects (CIP).

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

Yes

Property Transactions

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

To consider and approve
property transactions.

Jacqui Baxter,
Lead Asset
Manager /
Councillor Keith
House

The approval of a new Body
Warn Video Policy to
facilitate its use by Local
Area Services in carrying out
their duties. The policy will
have been approved by
Audit and Resources prior to
submission to Cabinet.

Harry Lee,
Corporate Project
Manager /

15 September 2022
Yes

Approval of new Body Worn
Video Policy

Cabinet

15 Sep 2022

Yes

Vehicle and Plant Replacement
Programme 2022/23

Cabinet

15 Sep 2022

Cabinet will be asked to
consider and approve a
report that sets out the
vehicle and plant needs for
the Council for 2022/23.

Mandy
Nellthorpe,
Business Partner
/

Yes

Property Transactions

Cabinet

15 Sep 2022

To consider and approve
property transactions.

Jacqui Baxter,
Lead Asset
Manager /

Audit &
Resources
Committee

197

5

198

KEY

Yes

ITEM

Community Investment
Programme Scheme(s)
Approval

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

Cabinet

15 Sep 2022

To consider and approve
projects within the
Community Investment
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

20 October 2022
Yes

Property Transactions

Cabinet

20 Oct 2022

To consider and approve
property transactions.

Jacqui Baxter,
Lead Asset
Manager /

Yes

Community Investment
Programme Scheme(s)
Approval

Cabinet

20 Oct 2022

To consider and approve
projects within the
Community Investment
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

8 December 2022
Yes

Property Transactions

Cabinet

8 Dec 2022

To consider and approve
property transactions.

Jacqui Baxter,
Lead Asset
Manager /

Yes

Community Investment
Programme Scheme(s)
Approval

Cabinet

8 Dec 2022

To consider and approve
projects within the
Community Investment
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

19 January 2023

6

KEY

ITEM

Yes

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

Vehicle and Plant Replacement
Programme for the next 5 years

Cabinet

19 Jan 2023

Cabinet will be asked to
consider and approve a
report that sets out the
vehicle and plant needs for
the Council for the next 5
years.

Sarah King,
Corporate
Director /

Yes

Property Transactions

Cabinet

19 Jan 2023

To consider and approve
property transactions.

Jacqui Baxter,
Lead Asset
Manager /

Yes

Community Investment
Programme Scheme(s)
Approval

Cabinet

19 Jan 2023

To consider and approve
projects within the
Community Investment
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

23 March 2023
Yes

Property Transactions

Cabinet

23 Mar 2023

To consider and approve
property transactions.

Jacqui Baxter,
Lead Asset
Manager /

Yes

Community Investment
Programme Scheme(s)
Approval

Cabinet

23 Mar 2023

To consider and approve
projects within the
Community Investment
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

199

FOOTNOTES:
Public Participation will apply to enable representations to be made at the time the decision is to be taken.
Written reports for public items will be available as part of the agenda papers and are usually available one week prior to
the meeting.
7

200

KEY

ITEM

Contact Officer:
Publication Date:

Laura Johnston –Democratic Services Manager
11 July 2022

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

8

Agenda Item 15
AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
WORK PROGRAMME
AS AT JUNE 2022
Date of
Meeting

Item for Consideration

Annual,
Staff/Member
Quarterly or Attendance
Standing
item

Audit Planning Report (EY)
Counter Fraud Report
Body Worn Video Policy

All Mtgs

To Be Tabled

19 July 2022

Property Portfolio Revenue Update

6 September
2022

1 November
2022

S King
L Smy
Harry Lee
J Baxter

Internal Audit Annual Report &
Quarterly Monitoring Statement
(Qtr 4)
Health and Safety
Appointments to
SRMG/PEG/Housing Group
Updates from SRMG/PEG/Housing
Group
Action Plan

Quarterly

L Smy

Annual
Annual

Heather Smith
Members

All Mtgs

Members

Forward Plan
A&R Work Programme

All Mtgs
All Mtgs

Internal Audit Quarterly Monitoring
Statement (Qtr 1)
External Audit Progress
Annual Statement Accounts
2020/21
Forward Ways of Working Update

Quarterly

J Cassar

All Mtgs
Annual

S King
A Smith

Annual Governance Report
Verbal Updates from
SRMG/PEG/Housing Group
Forward Plan
A&R Work Programme

Annual
All Mtgs

J Birt/ Shirley
Robbins/ Sukhi
Aujla
Jo Cassar
Members

Update on Financial Accounts
Audit
Bad Debt Report?
Corporate Risk Annual Report

All Mtgs

All Mtgs
All Mtgs

EY
Tom Andrews
J Cassar

201

17 January
2023

Corporate Fees and Charges
Internal Audit Quarterly Monitoring
Statement (QTR 2)
Verbal Updates from SRMG
Action Plan

Annual
Quarterly

Diccon Bright
L Smy

All Mtgs
All Mtgs

Members

Forward Plan
A&R Work Programme

All Mtgs
All Mtgs

Statement of Accounts

Annual

Andy Smith

Verbal Updates from
SRMG/PEG/Housing Group
Action Plan

All Mtgs

Tom Andrews/
Mark
Members

Forward Plan
A&R Work Programme

All Mtgs
All Mtgs

Bad Debt Report?

21 February
2023

All Mtgs

Repairs and Renewals Report

Nigel Stephens

Internal Audit Quarterly Monitoring
Statement (Qtr 3)
Asset Management Strategy
Property Portfolio Update
Verbal Updates from PEG
Action Plan

Quarterly

L Smy

Annual
Annual
All Mtgs
All Mtgs

J Baxter
J Baxter
Members

Forward Plan
A&R Work Programme

All Mtgs
All Mtgs

Internal Audit Charter 2022/23
Internal Audit Strategic Plan
2022/23
Verbal Updates from SRMG
Staffing Report

Annual
Annual

Lisa Smy
Lisa Smy

All Mtgs
Annual

Members
Shirley Robbins
Sukhi Aujla

7 March 2023

202

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 17

Document is Restricted

203

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

211

This page is intentionally left blank

